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Growing to New Heights

We are the Bank that collaborates with our community and our customers to unite
resources and realize potential. We respect the power of community, business, and
new ideas. We are born from the West, where possibilities and opportunity are

endless and there is room for independence and innovation. Our energy and our

passion keep us connected to our business and to yours. We are the decision makers.

We make things happen.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

{Dollars in thousands} As ofand for the Year Ended December 31,
Income Statement Data 2007 2006
Net interest income before provision for credit losses $ 68,842 $ 35,517
Provision for credit losses (2,451) (2.341)
Net interest income afcer provision for credit losses $ 66,391 $ 53,176
Balance Sheet Data

Total assets $ 2,096,110 3 2,156,548
Deposits $ 1,385,481 $ 1,345,681
Total shareholders’ equity $ 113,421 b3 107,753

ABOUT THE COVER: Hayden Peak bas an elevation of 12,987 and is located 8 miles northwest of Telturide, Colorado in
the Mount Sneffels Wilderness area.




COLORADO
COMPETITIVE LANDSCAPE & ECONOMIC OUTLOOK

UNI'I‘ED WEesTERN Bancorp, INC, is fortunate to
call Denver, Colorado home. Qur state continues
to experience positive job growth, with over 45,000 new
jobs added to our economic base in 2007. The outlook
is equally robust for 2008, with new jobs betng created
throughout the state in specialty industry sectors such as
energy, acrospace, bioscience, engineering, and transpor-
tation. Job growth and general population trends are the
hallmarks of any state economy’s potential for long-term
stability, and Colorado is projected to be in the top ten
stares for overall economic growth for the foreseeable
furure. This growth is fueling our business plan, and we
are capitalizing on the economic vibrancy of the higher
growth geographies within Colorade where our banks

are located.

Addirtionally, Colorado represents a unique banking land-

scape that is contributing to our overall success. The state was

the last in the US to allow branch banking,

-

consolidarion in the 1990s by the largest, T

which resulted in a ridal wave of bank

super-regtonal financial service companies.
The end result of this consolidation was |

polarization of the banking industry.

—_—

Supet-regional banking companies concrol over 60%
of the deposit market share along Colorado’s Front
Range, and small, undercapitalized, product and
service constrained community banks in fragmented
geographies share ownership of the remainder. This
consolidation is having another effect on banking in
Colorado — it has created a base of disenfranchised
bankers locking for a new opportunity. United
Western Bank is that opportunity. By aligning our
bankers' interest in the Company’s performance
using targeted stock ownership guidelines, by cre-
ating our culture from the ground up with these
same bankers’ input, and by using the substantial

size of our Company as a competitive marketing

advantage, we are attracting the state’s best bankers. Our senior

bankers' average banking experience is over 20 years in the

markets they serve. Following these bankers is a loyal and credic-

worthy customer base. Our bank is filling

B, Collins (g a void between the small community bank
Loweland .
(g Lot | and large super-regional bank, and cus-
r“ Longmont '

Boulder' | tomers are voting their confidence in our
S I organization by giving us their business, We
Cherry Creek ]

"ot I intend to make this trend continue.

Cherry Creek

Denver Tech Center

Ft. Collins

Longmont
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Guy A. Gibson
Founder and Chairman of the Board of Direceors
of United Westerss Bancorp, Iuc. (lefi)

Scot T. Werzel
President and Chief Executive Officer of United Westorn Bancorp, Inc., und
Chairman of the Board of Directovs, President and Chief Ixecutive Officer
of United Western Bank (right)

To Our Valued Shareholders

To the United Western Family — our shareholders, employees, and
friends in the communities we serve:

In 2007 our Company delivered, yet again, exceptional perfor-
mance by most measures. Our growth and balance sheet transition
met or exceeded our business plan expecrations in a banking envi-
ronment and economic cycle that, beginning in the third quarter,
was certainly less than favorable. A review of the benchmarks rhac
help us gauge progress in transitioning our Company to a great com-
munity banking business follows, but as we reflect on the possibilities
driving our continued success, one fact is pecfectly clear: bankers and
customers are choosing United Western over competitors for a reason.
That reason is our unwavering commitment to building a business
around a culture of ownership, accountability, execution, and delivery
of service unlike any other banking company in Colorado. It is a
culture where the entrepreneurial spirit shines and is fostered chrough
alllevels of our business, where new ideas are welcomed, employee and
customer opinions matter, where “siles” or isclated business segments
divided by walls don't exist, and where “ream play” is the rule.

Many banking companies compare themselves to us. If you peel
back the layers of corporate higrarchy and hyperbole though, you will

likely discover that few actually are. Many would certainly like to be

as we are now — a well-capitalized, vibrant, youthful and energetic, yet
pragmatic, growing banking business located in one of the best state
economies in the US. We are a company well positioned for long-term
success, diligent in our execution of the business plan but cognizant of
what makes us who we are. We believe few banking companies will
achieve what we've already created — a cultural and operational engine
that can drive a vastly larger, broader, and mere capable bl_.lsiness in the
veats to come. Qur position is one to be envied. You will see that on the
pages that follow, in the form of testimonials from our valued customers
who have willingly agreed w be profiled in our annual report so you can
see first hand thar United Western is becoming Colorado’s favored bank
of choice. We intend ro capitalize on our continuing successes and use
them ro fuel 2cceleration toward our ultimate goal of being Colorado's

best community banking franchise.

SHAREHOLDER VALUE

In 2 normal banking environment, it would be unheard of for us to say
that we were pleased with a growth in share price of approximarely 05%
year-over-year, from 2006 o 2007. When considering the actual perfor-
mance of the stock prices of our peer banks against whom we benchmark

performarce, our slight price appeeciation was notably betrer. Qur peer

Cost of Living: Besz City to Live In:
Coust of living in Colorado is ut 102% Fort Collins voted best city to live in by
of the average. Moncy magazine in 2006,
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Based in Brosmfield, Coloraelo, Mowntain Aviation is one of the premier aircraft

charter companiesin the United States, providing premier charter and owner
operated aireraft services for more than thirteen years. United Western Bank belped
Mountain Aviation finance its original hangar in 1999, and it is currently providing
expansion financing for a new hangar at the Rocky Mountain Regional Airpors.
Pictured with Scort Umbangh, Senior Vice President and head of our SBA Division
(secand from right}, are Julian Tonsmeire, Charter Operations Manager; Shannen
Rixford, Flight Coordinator; Gary Emmerson, Chief Pilat; Nicole Mason, Finance
Manager; Rich Bjelkevig, Executive Vice President & Divecror of Operations; and
Malachi O'Neill, Flight Coordinator.

banks lost an average of 40% of cheir stock price {and, accordingly, their
market capitalizations) over the same period. While the S&P 500 gained
3.5%, prominent bank srock indexes KBW Bank (down 24.6%) and SNL
Bank & Thrift (down 26.6%) tell the overriding story for our industry as
a whole for 2007. The outperformance of our stock price relative to our
peers and industry is actribucable to our business plan focus. A “plain
vanilla” approach to our business, our attention to asset quality, and the
unique riming of our evolution {we started our new community banking
business just two years ago} have all contribured to the steength of our
balance sheet. Cur revenues, driven by core loan and deposit growth and
expanding net interest margin, have also benchted the Company. We have
not suffered the general issues affecting the banking markets — subprime
lending problems, declining consumer eredit, or securicies portfolios
backed by troubled investments. Management made informed decisions

attheonset of our tenure to avoid these alernative growth and investmene

Sunny:

On average Colorado bas 300 days of
sunshine per year.

strategies. When coupled with our decision two years ago to exit the
wholesale mortgage origination and trading business, it is obvious thar

our planning is paying off. The general stability of our stock price in

United Western Bank provided construction financing to Don & Frankie Russell 1o

build rheir dream home on Missouri Heights near Carbondale, Colorado. Pictured
at the home are the owners, with Ryan Beckman, United Wessern Bank'’s Basals
Regional President (far right).

2007 was likely our reward for these decisions and the overall financial

petformance of the organization.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

United Western Bancerp

The Company delivered earnings of $10.1 million in 2007 - all of which
were core earnings. This number was after a discretionary decision by
management to redeem $20 million of unneeded, high-cost trust pre-
ferred securities, incurring a pre-tax charge of $1.4 million. Earnings pet
diluted shase from continuing operations were $1.40, versus $1.27 per

diluted share in 2006, a 1096 increase. If the discretionary trust preferred
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Douglas Auto Sales, Inc., owned by Bruce and Helen Douglas, specializes in classic,
antique, unique and muscle cars, bringing a collection of auromobiles for any budge:
and every tasce. They also formed Specialey Auto Auctions, Inc. in 1987 with the goal
of giving their customers the best serviee possible and to create a fur and exciting
envirenment in which to trade cars, United Western Bank provides working capital
limes of eredit to belp the Douglases grow their business. Tim Ostic, Fort Collins
Regional President (right), is pictured with Bruce and Helen Douglas, and one of
Douglas Auto Sales’ classic cass, a 1946 Chryster Town and Country convertible.

call expense was added back to earnings, it would have contributed
approximately $.09 cents per share, net of interest expense savings,
to 2007 earnings from continuing operations, boosting earnings per
diluted share to $1.49, or a 17% increase over the prior year.

Pechaps most importantly, we lowered the overall cost of our
funding sources in 2007 to 3.06% from 3.26% in 2006, and grew
ner interest margin by a wruly remarkable 72 basis points to 3.46%,
or a 26% increase year-over-year. While consistent with our business
planning, this margin growth was counter to most of the banking
industry.

Return onaverage equity (ROAE) was 8.92% and 8.91% for 2007
and 2006. Return on average assets (ROAA) improved from .46% to
.48%, and book value per share improved from $14.85 to $15.61 from
2006 to 2007. These improvements reflect continued progress toward
our goals of top quartile peer performance in key measurement areas.

There is stifl much work to be done. As we transition the Company’s

| 2007 ANNUAL REPORT

balance sheet over time ro community banking, these rarios should
improve in proportion to the decline of our legacy wholesale business.
We continue to focus on making decisions that can accelerate our per-

formance toward the top quartile of our peers.

Founded in 1985, Corporate Stock Transfer (CST) serves domestic and international

public companies, providing complete stock transfer services, as well as paying agent

and escraw agens services, with unparalleled customer service. United Western Bank
provides CST with deposit and treasury management services. Pictured is Carylyn
Bell, President of CST, with Cherry Creek Regional President John Fiedler. Ms. Bell
is also a member of the Advisory Board for our Cherry Creek branch.

United Western Bank
Growth in earnings per share from continuing operations was, again, a
function of executing our community banking business plan at United
Western Bank, Communicy bank loans grew $305 million for the year, a
76% increase over the prior year, and rotal depesits gew to $1.4 billion, a
3% growth rate from 2006. Cemmunicy bank deposits grew $41 million,
accounting for the majority of overall deposit growth.

Asser qualicy, che hallmark of any quality community banking

franchise, was negatively impacted by our legacy wholesale porcfolios.

Best Place to Do Business:

Ranked Stly nationally by Forbes
Magazine in 2006, ranking Ist in
growth prospects and 2nd in labor.

p—y




Durrepid Mining LLC bas become the largest producer of posash (potassium chloride)

in the United States. It also produces three vafuable byproducts: Solar Salt, Magne-
sium Chloride brine and Sulfate of Potash Magnesia. Pictured (from leff to right] are
Robert P. Jornayvaz, 11}, Chief Executive Officer; and Hugh E. Harvey, Jr., Execu-
tive Vice President of Teehnology, of intrepid Potasty; with Sreven Emmons, Senior
Vite President; and David Livingston, Denver Regional President. United Western
Bank has belped fiund Intrepid Mining's growsh.

Total non-performing loans increased from $8.4 million to $10.5 million,
of which $2.3 millien was due to wholesale loans. Community bank
non-performing loans declined to $1.7 million from $2.0 million and
represent 24 basis points of the community bank loan portfolio at year
end, which was also counter to the general trends of the banking in-
dusiry. Qur asset quality was mainly due to our efforts to manage credit
issues associated with the bank’s legacy loan portfolio. We are pleased
10 report that, after ewo years of doing business generating community
banking loans with borrowers we know, in markets we understand, asset
quality in the newly originated banking business was exceptional.
Non-interest expense grew 74% in 2007, Increases in salary
and benefits expense associated with our investment in the core com-
munity banking business accounted for 96% of this overall increase.
We are focused on managing che Company's expense burden relative
to our organic community banking growth scrategy, and generally we
will only make whar we believe to be investments in human capital
that have paybacks of less than one year and meet our targeted return

on cquity goals of 20% or more.

Sterling Trust
Our trust administration business grew cocal acconnts by over 8,000 for
2007, or 16%, to 58,622. Toral assers under custody grew from $3.82
billion to $4.51 billion, or 18%, and client deposits swept inte United
Western Bank reached $405 million. Toral revenues at Seerling grew from
$6.8 million in 2006 to $8.4 million in 2007, an increase of 23%, We are
very pleased with Sterling’s performance, and we continue to look for ways
to additionally leverage this business into our corr community banking

plan. The ouclook for trust administration, which makes up the bulk of

our business {administration of self-directed 1R As}, is that the industry
is maturing and consolidating, It will be impartant for us to seek out new
product and service lines that can contribute overall growth 1o our trust

administration business going forward.

BuiLping CORE VALUE -
UNITED WESTERN BANK IS QUuRr FUTURE

Qur long-term success depends on the growth of our core community
banking franchise. We achieved many milestones aimed a: fulfilling this
goal, including: |
+ Opening two new full-service banking offices in Loveland (late

2007) and Fr. Collins (early 2008), bringing the total number of

regional banking centers to five, with rwo more in progress for

2008 {Denver Tech Center and Longmont).
¢ Opening a loan production office serving Aspen and the sur-

rounding Roaring Fork Valley, managed by two banking industry

vererans, Cari Kuhlman and Ryan Beckman.,
o Establishing 2 ceniral construcdion lending division providing

oversight of our real estate lending business, and independent

growth in this division led by talenced Colorado banking executive

Jeff Thompson.

Energy Cost: Science and Technology:
Colorado’s average price for Colorado ranks 3rd in the nation
electricity is 16% lower than the én science and technology assets.
national average.

I N N
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+ Hiring new chief operating officer Tom Kientz for United Western
Bank, who brings 25 years of banking experience to our Company,
and who has additional oversight of expanding our retail banking
presence.

« Expandingour core SBA lending business by hiring top local talemt
and opening loan production offices in new markers including
Texas, New York, New Jersey, North Carolina, California, Oregon,

Arizona and Pennsylvania.

P 4 %

United Western Bank provided construction financing o Aspen Ease, LLC to build

this high-end home in Aspen, Colorade, Pictured at the bome is Cari Kublman,
United Western Bank's Aspen Regional President.

» Establishing a new energy banking division focused on this
growing industry segment under the management of John Falbo,
a 25-year industry expett.

o Investing in creasury management products and services designed
1o provide automation, expense savings, and efficiencics for our
customers (including remote captuze, lockbox, and sweep account

capabilities}.

Population:

Population is expected 1o bis
Smillion in Colorado by 2009.

| 2007 ANNUAL REPORT

Jones Heariz Lime Co., Inc. offers a full line of stucco, stone, plasier and other bigh-
end specialty finishes, and is Colorado’s exclusive distributor of Dryvit Systems, Inc.
produces, Pictured is Cordon McClurg, President of Jones Heartz Lime, with Denver
Tech Center Regional President Van Horsley (vight). United Western Bank has
helped Jones Hearez Lime by providing term real estate financing, working capital
lines of credir as well as equipment financing.

» Addinganew core processerand convertingour operational systems
and backroom to a Metavante® platform to potentially provide sig-
nificant scalability and product access for our Company.

» Expanding risk administration under the leadership of senior
credit executive Gary Petak to provide continued discipline and

oversight of cthe Company’s loan growth.

We are pleased with the progress we are making toward the conversion of
our business to community banking. Our investments above are already

providing a valuable retusn for our Company.

ONE BANKER, ONE CUSTOMER AT A TIME

Our banking philosophy is simple - hire a grear banking ream, build
our business around them, wed them as owners to our Company te align
their interests, and simply guide their progress with oversight toward our
central goal of building Celorado’s best community bank. The eversight
we reference is found in our core mission statement, which provides the

guiding values that make our Company unique:

Centralized:

Colorado is only 300 miles from the
nation’s geagraphic center. It has been a
major transportation bul from the early
days of the railroad industry.

S




We are the Bank that collaborates with our community and
our custorers to unite resources and realize potential. We
respect the power of community, business, and new ideas. We
are born from the West, where possibilities and opportunities
are endless and there is room for independence and inno-
vation. Qur energy and our passion keep us connected to our
business and to yours. We are the decision makers. We make
things bappen.

Our business is predicated on knowing the people we do business

with, tatloring our products and service solutions o their needs, and

executing our delivery faster than our comperition. Little things make
the difference here — returning phone calls the same day; delivering
answers ahead of schedule; providing customers with alrernatives versus
roadblocks; sending handwritten cthank-you letters to thank customers
for their business; going the extra distance when we have an opportunity
ro help our employees be successful ac their jobs and in the communities
where they live and serve. There is proof that our culture is strong, and
that our business plan is working. Don't accept this as words from us;
ask our customers who agreed to be included in this year's annual report.

"These business owners — in many cases the top perferming businesses

in their industry niches who could bank anywhere — chose United

Western Bank for a reason: we deliver. We're proud to share with you

a sampling of the great customers we've added to our Company, and

we're sure you will agree that we are on the right track toward achieving

our goals.

CAPITAL STRATEGY

In keeping with our belief thar our stock is undervalued, the board of
direcrors authorized the repurchase of up 1o 439,118 shares of our
common steck in 2007. We repurchased a total of 60,200 shares

throughour the year.

Highly Educated:

Ranked 2nd nationally in percent of
aduis population with a bachelor’s
degree ar higher.

Recently created throngh a merger among Interstate Restovation, Catastrophe

Services International and Colorade Fire and Flood, Interstate Restevation isa
national, full-service recovery and construction company specializing in assisting
awners, insurers and adjusters of commercial properties recover from five, flood
and natural disasters, United Western Bank has provided Intersiate Restoration with
a strasegic financial parsner, which bas the vision and principles necessary in today’s
markes place. Pictured are Chuck Borden, President, Colorado Operations; Chris Sinelair,
Chief Operation Officer; Stacy Mazur, President and Chief Executive Officer; with
Jeff . Thampsan, Executive Vice Presidens, Construction and Lending Management
{second from righs).

‘The Company's balance sheer declined by $60.4 million for
the year, which is consistent with our plan as we transition to a core
communiry bank business. Normal runoff of our legacy wholesale
loan portfolio (residential mortgages) together with repayments
from our securities portfolio offset the growth of our community
bank portfolio. This is consistent with our original chinking which
contemplates further deleveraging of our balance sheet (by selling
wholesale loans) at a pace exceeding the normal runoff of wholesale
residential loans in 2007. Given the volaility in the capital markets,
we were unable to utilize this strategy and accordingly needed
to preserve capital to fund our growth. At Unired Western Bank
our core capital was 7.25%, risk-based capital was 13.11%, and
the Company’s overall leverage ratio was 5.41% at year end. We
envision improvement in these ratios in 2008, and we may look to
accelerate our balance sheet conversion strategy further by delever-

aging if marker conditions improve throughour the year.

UNITED WESTERN BANCOREP |
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United Western Bank provided acquisition and development funding to Mesa Flames
Bevelopment Co., developer of The Shock Hill Lodge & Spa, which will be two wholly
owned, luxury condominium lodges on the mounsain at the Breckenridge Ski Resors.
Pictured ar she site is Margie Joseph, United Western Bank's Bowlder Regional
President.

We are pleased thar the board of directors recently approved
the fifth consecutive quarterly dividend of $.06 per share for
our sharcholders, Tt is the intention of the board of direcrors o

continue paying a dividend for the foreseeable future.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

At the time of this writing, we are pleased to report that two new dircctors
have been nominated by your board to serve United Western Bancorp, Inc.
in the years to come. Bernard “Bruno” Darré, an independent director cur-
rently serving on the board of United Western Bank, has been nominated
to serve asan independent ditector of United Wescern Bancorp. Bruno, a
partner in Denver-based Bow River Capiral Partners, brings an extensive
network of focal market contacts, as well as global capital strategy, to our
Company. We are pleased with his historic service at United Western

Bank, and look forward to his contriburions ar United Western Bancorp.

2008 Convention:

Additionally, our Chief Operating Officer, Michael J. McCloskey, has
been nominaced to serve as a member of management on the board of
United Western Bancorp, Inc. Michael’s exceptional histaric oversight
of our non-bank businesses, coupled with his significanc contributions
to our efforts in growing United Western Bank, make him a valuable

addition to the board.

IN CLOSING

We are proud of the Company we are building. You can cerrainly be
pleased with our performance, when compared to our peers, in 2007.
There are no magic tricks or secrets associated with our success. Using
one building block at a rime, we are methodically laying the foundation
to creare an owstanding banking organization. We recognize the value
of our people and the culture they have established, and we will work
diligently to protect, foster and perpetuate the environmenr that is
driving our progress throughout 2008 and beyond. We thank you for

your invesument in our Company.

Sincerely,

Sg— :

Guy A. Gibson Scot T. Werz
Chairman of the Board President and
Chief Executive Officer

The 2008 Democratic National Convention will deliver a

| 2007 ANNUAL REPORT

sizeable impact on the City of Denver and the seven counties
that encompass the greater metro area.
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Item 1. Business

The disclosures set forth in this item are qualified by Item 1A. “Risk Factors” and Item 7. “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis — Forward Looking Statements” of this report and other cautionary statements set forth
elsewhere in this report.

United Western Bancorp, Inc.

General. United Western Bancorp, Inc., headquartered in Denver, Colorado, is a unitary thrift holding
company. The words “United Western Bancorp,” “us,” “we,” or the “Company” refer to United Western Bancorp, Inc.
and its whelly owned subsidiaries, unless we indicate otherwise. Through our principal subsidiary, United Western
Bank, we are focused on expanding our community-based banking network across Colorado’s Front Range market and
selected mountain communities by strategically positioning banking offices in those locations. The Colorado Front
Range area spans the Eastern slope of Colorado’s Rocky Mountains — from Pueblo to Fort Collins, and includes the
metropolitan Denver marketplace. We have also expanded into Aspen, Colorado, serving Aspen and the Roaring Fork
Valley. As of December 31, 2007, we had four full service banking locations in the metropolitan Denver marketplace
{downtown Denver, Cherry Creek, Boulder and Loveland). In February 2008 we opened a fifth full service banking
location office in Fort Collins, where we previously operated a community bank loan production office. We are
continuing plans to open a bank branch in each of the Denver Tech Center and Longmont markets in mid-2008 and late
in 2008, respectively. We plan to grow the United Western Bank network to an estimated ten to twelve community bank
locations over the next three to five years. In addition to the community-based banking operations of United Western
Bank, we also offer deposit services to institutional customers as well as custodial and administration services through
Sterling Trust Company.

United Western Bancorp, Inc. was incorporated in Colorado in June 1993, Until September 9, 2006, we were
known as “Matrix Bancorp, Inc.” The trading symbol for our common stock on the NASDAQ Global Market is
“UWBK.”

Community Bank Business Strategy

We have completed our second year of transition to a community banking enterprise. Until December 9, 2003,
the Company operated as a specialized wholesale bank with a clear de-emphasis on community banking operations.
Since that time, we have implemented our new business strategy, including the development of a branch network within
the Colorado Front Range and selected mountain community markets and are building a balance sheet of community
bank loan and deposit products,

Our management team is currently directing the conversion of the legacy wholesale banking operations to a
traditional community bank. In that process, we are capitalizing on portions of our existing infrastructure including our
institutional deposit base and runoff from existing wholesale assets to fund our expansion into community banking. Our
objective is to increase sharcholder and franchise value by: (i) expanding our community banking and lending activities
through the recruitment of experienced community bankers who are knowledgeable about and well-known in the
Colorado Front Range and mountain community markets, (ii) the development of a branch network within such markets,
and (iii) the building of a balance sheet consisting of originated loan and deposit products.

Over the next several years, through the efforts of the Board of Directors, management and our employees, we
expect United Western Bank to become a leading mid-market community bank. We are developing a service-focused,
business oriented community bank that serves the community in which our management team and employees work and
live. Qur focus, which historically was transactional and institutional, has changed and now emphasizes local banking
relationships.

For the past two years we have focused on building a brand name for United Western Bank while we converted
its legacy wholesale banking operations to a community bank business. We have done so while maintaining strong asset
quality through stringent underwriting standards, limiting interest rate risk through the origination of shorter-term and
adjustable rate assets, and exploring other means to enhance our shareholders’ value. Management continues to evaluate
our business operations and performance and may consider the sale or other disposition of other non-core business lines,
operations or assets if we believe that it would enhance shareholder value.




The Subsidiaries

Our core business operations are conducted through operating subsidiaries as described below,

United Western Bank. United Western Bank (“United Western Bank” or the “Bank™) is a federal savings bank
that originates commercial real estate, commercial, residential and commercial construction and development,
multifamily, single tenant and consumer loans. Within certain of these loan types, the Bank also originates Small
Business Administration loans under section 7(a) of the Small Business Act (“7(a) loans™) and section 504 of the Small
Business Investment Act (“504 loans™) and loans through the utilization of New Markets Tax Credits. United Western
Bank also offers personal and business depository banking, as well as trust and treasury services.

At December 31, 2007, the Bank had total assets of $2.08 billion, deposits including custodial escrow balances
of $1.43 billion, community bank loans of $706 million, and capital of $148 million. The Bank’s deposit base consists
of the interest-bearing NOW and money market accounts administered by Sterling Trust Company, the deposits
resulting from transactions in which the Bank acts as the clearing bank for clients of a former joint venture partner,
Matrix Settiement and Clearance Services, LLC now known as Matrix Financial Services Solutions, Inc., and
noninterest-bearing custodial escrow deposits related to the residential mortgage loan portfolio serviced by Matrix
Financial Services Corporation. These deposits, as well as other institutional deposits, comprise $1.29 biilion of the
total deposits at the Bank.

Sterling Trust Company. Sterling Trust Company (“Sterling™) headquartered in Waco, Texas, is a Texas non-
bank trust company specializing in the administration of self-directed individual retirement accounts, qualified business
retirement plans and custodial and directed trust accounts. As of December 31, 2007, Sterling administered
approximately 58,600 accounts, with assets under administration of approximately $4.5 billion. As of December 31,
2007, approximately $405 million of the $4.5 billion represented deposits held at United Western Bank.

Matrix Financial Services Corporation. Matrix Financial Services Corporation (“Matrix Financial Services”),
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Bank, services, through a third party subservicer, acquired mortgage servicing rights
on a nationwide basis through purchases in the secondary market and retention of originated mortgage servicing rights.
As of December 31, 2007, Matrix Financial Services was responsible for servicing approximately 19,000 borrower
accounts representing $1.06 billion in principal balances. As a servicer of mortgage loans, Matrix Financial Services
generally is required to establish custodial escrow accounts for the deposit of borrowers’ payments. These custodial
accounts are maintained at the Bank. At December 31, 2007, the custodial escrow accounts related to our servicing
portfolio maintained at the Bank were $18.3 million. There are no plans to expand the operations of Matrix Financial
Services.

First Matrix Investment Services Corp. First Matrix Investment Services Corp., (“First Matrix”), a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, is registered with the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA™), as a fully
disclosed broker-dealer, with its hcadquarters in Denver, Colorado. Previously, First Matrix brokered the sale of fixed
income securities to institutional clients and focused on the acquisition, brokering, securitization and sale of SBA loans
and loan pools and interest only strips associated with the SBA loans and toan pools. SBA loans were acquired by
United Western Bank through the brokerage activities of First Matrix. Prospectively, First Matrix will provide services
that complement our overall community banking business plan,

UWBK Fund Management, Inc. UWBK Fund Management, Inc. (“Fund Management”) was created in June
2007 and is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. Fund Management is the manager of and an investor in
UWBK Colorado Fund, LLC. UWBK Colorado Fund, LLC (“Fund™), also created in June 2007, was established to
invest in mezzanine debt and equity equivalents of various companies in which United Western Bank is the senior credit
provider. At December 31, 2007, the Company has contributed $2 million to Fund Management, of which Fund
Management has invested $1.1 million into the Fund.

Other Subsidiaries. The Company has formed certain single purpose subsidiaries that have issued trust
preferred securities, which are discussed in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements. The Company also has
subsidiaries that are involved in the New Markets Tax Credits program as discussed below in “Community Bank
Lending — New Markets Tax Credits Lending.” The Company also has various other subsidiaries that are not significant
to the consclidated entity at this time.

Please see Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements for further financial information about our operating
segments.




Lending Activities

General. United Western Bank’s lending activities are principally comprised of originated community bank
loans and purchased wholesale loans. Community bank loans consist of commercial real estate, residential and
commercial construction and development, commercial and industrial {“C&I”) and consumer. Commercial real estate
loans are also originated by the Bank’s SBA division, which originates conventional 504 loans and 7(a) loans. In
addition, the Bank has two operating subsidiaries, Community Development Funding I, LLC and Charter Facilities
Funding 1V, LLC, which have originated loans under the New Markets Tax Credits program discussed below in
“Community Bank Lending — Net Markets Tax Credits Lending.” Purchased wholesale loans consist principally of
single-family residential loans, which the Company has not purchased since September 2005, and purchased guaranteed
portions of SBA 7(a) loans.

The majority of the loans and loan balances the Bank originates are variable rate and generally fluctuate with
the prime rate as published in the Wall Street Journal or with LIBOR. The Bank does make some fixed rate loans. The
pricing of the Bank’s loan products is impacted by the competitive environment in which the Bank operates.

The Bank manages the risks of its community bank lending in a number of ways. First, loan approvals are
stepped by size to committees and ultimately to the board of directors of the Bank. Business development and
underwriting are separate business functions; and loan policies set exposure and concentration limits by borrower, loan
type, and geographic area. Loan policies give specific direction on loan types. See additional discussion of risk
management related to lending activities at Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations- Loan Portfolio,” “Asset Quality” and “Allowance for Credit Losses” in this report.

Community Bank Lending

Commercial Real Estate Lending. United Western Bank originates commercial real estate loans that are
generally secured by one or more of the following kinds of properties: multifamily residential property, owner and non-
owner occupied commercial and industrial property, and single tenant property. These loans also include SBA 504
loans and 7(a) loans. The loans are generally made at variable rates that change daily or quarterly based on changes in
the prime rate or LIBOR, although some are made at fixed rates. Terms of up to 25 years are offered primarily on SBA
loans, but most loans are structured with a balloon payment at the end of approximately five years or amortize over a
period of up to 10 years. In deciding whether to make a commercial real estate loan, the Bank considers, among other
things, the experience and qualifications of the borrower as well as the value and anticipated cash flow of the underlying
property. Among the additional factors considered are net operating income of the property before debt service and
depreciation, the debt service coverage ratio (the ratio of the property’s free cash flow to debt service requirements), the
ratio of the loan amount to the appraised value and cost, and the recourse to the overall creditworthiness of the
prospective borrower and guarantor. The Bank's commercial real estate loans typically range in size from $100,000 to
$15 million. The Bank’s legal lending limit is approximately $24 million.

Commercial real estate lending typically involves higher principal amounts than the other types of loans we
make. Moreover, the repayment of the loans generally is dependent, in large part, on the successful operations of the
property collateralizing the loan or the business conducted on the property collateralizing the loan, As a result, these
loans may be more susceptible and adversely affected by conditions in the real estate markets or in the economy in
general. For example, if the cash flow from a borrower’s project is reduced due to leases not being obtained or renewed,
the borrower’s ability to repay the loan may be impaired. In addition, because many commercial real estate loans have
balloon payments due at maturity instead of being fully amortized over the term of a loan a borrower’s ability to repay
may depend on being able either to refinance the loan or sell the underlying property.

Residential and Commercial Construction and Development Lending. United Western Bank provides
construction and development loans for the development of land and vertical construction, of one-to-four family,
multifamily and condominium residences. Loans are also provided for the development of land and vertical construction
for retail, office, and other commercial purposes. Land development loans share many of the same risks as discussed
above with commercial real estate loans. Construction lending involves additionai risks because funds are advanced on
and the loan is sccured by the project, which is of uncertain value prior 1o its completion. Because of the uncertainties
inherent in estimating construction costs, the market value of the completed project and the effects of governmental
regulation of real property, it can be difficult to evaluate accurately the total funds required to complete a project and the
related loan-to-value and loan-to-cost ratios. As$ a result, construction loans often involve the disbursement of
substantial funds with repayment dependent, in large part, on the success of the completion of the ultimate project and
the ability of the borrower to sell or lease the property or refinance the indebtedness, rather than the ability of the




borrower or guarantor to repay principal and interest. If the appraisal of the value of the completed project proves to be
overstated, the Bank may have inadequate security for the repayment of the loan upon completion of construction of the
project and may incur a loss. Accordingly, the Bank generally requires a personal guaranty on tesidential and
commercial construction and development lending.

Commercial and Industrial Lending. United Western Bank makes commercial and industrial loans to small
and middle market businesses. C&1 borrowers tend to be privately owned and are generally service providers, long-term
health care operators, distributors, and manufacturers. The loan products offered are primarily working capital and term
loans and lines of credit that help customers finance accounts receivable, inventory and equipment. These loans are
typically guaranteed by the owners of the business. The collateral securing commercial loans may depreciate over time,
may be difficult to appraise and may fluctuate in value based on the success of the business. In addition, in the case of
loans secured by accounts receivable, the availability of funds for the repayment of these loans may be substantially
dependent upon the ability of the borrower to collect the amounts due from its customers. Accordingly, the Bank makes
commercial loans primarily based on the identified cash flow and capital adequacy of the borrower and secondarily on
the underlying collateral provided by the borrower. Commercial loans are made at variable rates that fluctuate with the
prime rate. Prospectively, the Bank anticipates making C&I loans to small to mid sized energy companies, including
coal, oil, gas, and “green” oriented businesses like solar and wind power.

Small Business Administration Lending. The Bank’s SBA division is a participant in the national preferred
lenders program (“PLP”) of the United States Small Business Administration. Prior to May 2006, the Bank was a PLP
participant across six designated districts including Colorado, Idaho, Arizona, Texas, Oregon and Washington. With
national PLP status, the Bank is able to participate in the PLP nationally, which encompasses 68 districts spanning 50
states. The Bank originates SBA 504 loans and 7(a) loans. Under the SBA 504 program, the Bank provides, in
conjunction with a Certified Development Company (“CDC”), a conventional loan collateralized by a first lien on
commercial real estate or equipment. The SBA 504 program provides for an SBA guarantce of debentures issued for up
to a maximum of 40% of the eligible project costs, which is subordinated to the primary morigage originated by the
Bank. Under the SBA's 7(a) Program, loans in excess of $150,000 and up to $2,000,000 are guaranteed 75% by the
SBA. Generally, this guarantee may become invalid only if the loan does not meet the SBA underwriting,
documentation, and servicing guidelines. Loans under $150,000 are guaranteed 85% by the SBA, SBA 7(a) loans,
collateralized by real estate, have terms of up to 25 years, while loans collateralized by equipment and working capital
have terms of up to 10 years and 7 years, respectively. A minimum down payment of 10% is required on most 7(a)
loans, but a Jarger down payment may be required when the real estate collateral consists of a special purpose or single
use property, such as a motel or service station.

New Markets Tax Credits Lending. New Markets Tax Credits (“NMTC"”) are awarded under a program
administered by the Community Development Financial Institutions Fund, a division of the United States Department of
Treasury. The NMTC Program permits taxpayers/investors to claim a credit against federal income taxes for each
qualified equity investment (QEI) made to a designated community development entity. The investor receives a 39% tax
credit over a seven year period, in the amount of 5% in years one through three, and 6% in years four through seven. In
2004, the Bank acquired $4.914 million tax credits through a $12.6 million qualifying equity investment it made to its
99.99% owned subsidiary, Community Development Funding I, LLC (“CDF I""). CDF I used the investment proceeds
to originate loans eligible under the NMTC program through the Bank. On December 30, 2005, the Bank invested $11.0
million in Charter Facilities Funding 1V, LLC, another 99.99% owned subsidiary of the Bank (“CFF 1V”) and received
tax credits of $4.29 miltion. CFF 1V used the investment proceeds to originate loans eligible under the NMTC program
through the Bank On December 26, 2006, the Bank made an additional investment of $10 million to CFF IV, making
the Bank eligible for an additional $3.9 million of tax credits. The additional investment proceeds are being used by CFF
IV to make eligible NMTC loans through the Bank. At December 31, 2007, the Bank has $27.9 million of NMTC loans
outstanding and is required to make additional NMTC loans of $379,000 prior to August 2008 to avoid tax credit
recapturc. NMTC loans are generally commercial real estate loans in designated community development areas (low-
income areas) made in accordance with the Bank’s and community development entitics’ lending policies and in
accordance with the rules of the New Markets Tax Credits program. Generally these loans are fixed rate and there is a
concession in the rate as compared to the remainder of the Bank’s community bank loan portfolio. The loans also have
longer terms, often 25 to 27 years, with an initial seven years of interest only payments followed by amortization to
maturity. These loans are included with commercial real estate loans in our tables and financial statements and the
underlying collateral is commercial property.

Consumer Lending. The Bank’s consumer lending portfolio is primarily focused on home equity lines of
credit and to a limited extent, home equity term loans, credit card, auto, and unsecured consumer loans. Home equity
lines of credit may be extended up to 90% of the appraised value of the property, less existing liens, generally at variable
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interest rates based on prime, the Federal Reserve Board Target Rate for overnight borrowings, or LIBOR. The Bank
uses the same underwriting standards for home equity lines of credit as it uses for residential real estate loans.
Consumer loans typically have shorter terms and lower balances with higher yields as compared to residential real estate
loans, but generally carry higher risks of default. Consumer loan collections are dependent on the borrower’s continuing
financial stability, and thus, are more likely to be affected by adverse personal circumstances. Furthermore, the
application of various federal and state laws, including bankruptcy and insolvency laws, may limit the amount that can
be recovered on these loans.

Wholesale Lending

Single-family Residence Lending. United Western Bank owns approximately $443 million of single-family
residential whole loans, While the overwhelming majority of these loans were purchased by the Bank in the secondary
market; a small portion were originated by Matrix Financial Services prior to February 2003; and approximately five
percent of these loans represent loans purchased from Matrix Financial Services servicing portfolio.

Prior to our change in business strategy, the Bank regularly reviewed residential loan portfolios for prospective
acquisition; however, the Bank has not purchased any such loan portfolios since September 2005. These portfolios were
typically first lien priority loans secured primarily by 1-to-4 single-family residential properties. Most were adjustable
rate loans. The Bank would purchase packages of residential loans from various sellers who had either originated the
loans or acquired the loans from others in bulk purchases. The Bank would consider several factors prior to a purchase,
including the product type, the current loan balance, the current interest rate environment, the seasoning of the mortgage
loans, payment histories, geographic location of the underlying collateral, price, yield, the current liquidity of the Bank
and the product mix in its existing residential loan portfolio. In addition, the various sellers were evaluated for their
ability to perform under the representations and warranties that would be provided to the Bank at the time of purchase,

The Bank performed due diligence on each residential loan portfolio that it desired to purchase. These
underwriting procedures consisted of analyzing all or, in some instances, a representative sample of the loans in the
portfolio and were typically performed by Bank employees, but occasionally were outsourced to third party contractors.
The underwriter took into account many factors and statistics in analyzing the loans in the subject portfolio, including:
the general economic conditions in the geographic area or areas in which the underlying residential properties were
located; the FICO score of the borrower, the loan-to-value ratios and quality of the valuations on the underlying ioan
collateral; the payment histories of the borrowers, as well as their income and debt to income levels. In addition, the
underwriter attempted to verify that each sample loan conformed to the standards for loan documentation set by the
secondary market for investment grade mortgages. In cases where a significant portion of the sample loans contained
nonconforming documentation, the Bank assessed the additional risk involved in purchasing those loans. This process
helped the Bank determine whether the mortgage loan portfolio met its investment criteria and, if it did, the range of
pricing that was appropriate,

Purchased SBA Guaranteed Loans. United Western Bank owns approximately $116 million of guaranteed
portions of SBA 7(a) loans that it acquired in the secondary market. These loans are adjustable rate and generally reset
quarterly with changes in the prime rate. The Bank purchased these guaranteed portions of SBA loans from various
sellers, typically the originator of the loan who retained the unguaranteed portion and continues to service the loan.

Historically the Bank pooled these loans as permitted by the SBA into SBA pooled securities through the use of
a fiscal and transfer agent approved by the SBA. The certificates were then sold directly to institutional investors,
achieving legal isolation and thus sale treatment. The process of securitizing SBA loans into pools of SBA certificates is
prescribed by the SBA and must be followed to maintain the SBA guarantee.

Other Activities Related to Lending

Sales of Loans. In the normal course of business, United Western Bank sells certain of the SBA loans it
originates in the secondary market. The Bank has sold residential loans outright and has sold securities backed by
residential loans after securitization with a governmental sponsored agency. In prior years the Bank also sold
multifamily loans. During 2007, the Bank sold $23 million of residential loans most of which had been purchased in the
secondary market in earlier years. The Bank also sold approximately $32.3 million of originated SBA loans. The Bank
may sell SBA loans from time to time to manage industry exposures, interest rate risk and for current income. The sale
of loans may generate a gain or loss for the Bank. Gains or losses result primarily from two factors. First, the Bank may
make a loan to a borrower at an interest rate that is higher or lower than the prevailing or the expected rate in the market
resulting in a price difference when the loan is sold in the secondary market. These price differences occur primarily as
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a result of competitive pricing conditions in the market place. Second, gains or losses may result from changes in
interest rates that consequently change the market value of loans originated for sale.

Deposits

Deposits. United Western Bank offers a variety of deposit accounts with a range of interest rates and terms.
United Western Bank’s core deposits consist of retail and institutional checking accounts, NOW accounts, money
market accounts, retail savings accounts and certificates of deposit. These deposits, along with shori-term and long-term
borrowings, and to a lesser extent brokered deposits are used to support our asset base. Retail deposits are obtained
predominantly from the geographic trade areas surrounding our banking office locations. Institutional deposits are
obtained nationally. Institutional deposits comprise over 90% of total deposits at December 31, 2007 and 2006.
Prospectively, management anticipates that attraction of retail deposits will reduce the reliance on institutional deposits.
See additional discussion in Note 8 of the financial statements included in this report, ltem 1A, “Risk Factors,” and
Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis — Liquidity - Bank Liquidity” and {tem 7. “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financtal Condition - Deposits” for further discussion.

Self-Directed Trust and Custody Activities

Self-Directed Trust and Custody Services. The Company’s self-directed trust and custody activities are
provided through Sterling. Trust and custodial activities were also performed at United Western Bank until April 30,
2005, when the trust department of United Western Bank was sold.

Sterling provides administrative services for self-directed individual retirement accounts, quatified business
retirement plans and personal custodial accounts, as well as corporate escrow and paying agent services. In addition,
Sterling offers specialized custody and clearing services to investment professionals. These services are marketed on a
nationwide basis to the financial services industry, specifically broker-dealers, registered representatives, financial
planners and advisors, tax professionals, insurance agents and investment product sponsors. The advantage offered by
Sterling is the ability to hold a wide array of publicly traded investments, as well as nonstandard assets and private
placement offerings.

At December 31, 2007, Sterling had approximately 58,600 accounts with assets under administration of
approximately $4.51 billion. As of December 31, 2007, approximately $405 million of the $4.51 billion represented
deposits held at United Western Bank.

Sterling does not offer financial planning or advisory services, nor does it recommend, sell or solicit any
investments. Sterling acts only as a directed custodian and is not affiliated with any investment. Sterling seeks to
maintain this independence in order to provide its services without any conflicting interests. Sterling does not execute
any investment transaction without the direction of the account holder or the account holder’s authorized representative.

During 2002, United Western Bank expanded the variety and depth of its trust services, primarily by partnering
with our former joint venture partner, Matrix Settlement & Clearance Services, now known as Matrix Financial Services
Solutions, Inc., in providing trust and custodial services to third party administrators, broker-dealers and banks. We sold
our interest in Matrix Financial Services Solutions, Inc., during the fourth quarter of 2004, and sold the Bank’s trust
operations to Matrix Financial Solutions, in 2005 resulting in a gain on sale of $300,000 that was included in other
income for the year ended December 31, 2005. As part of the saie agreement, deposits have been maintained at the
Bank after the sale, and at December 31, 2007, deposits maintained by Matrix Financial Solutions, Inc. at the Bank
totaled approximately $236 million. The agreement to maintain these deposits at the Bank was renewed in 2007 and the
current agreement expires in July 2010.

Brokerage Services

First Matrix Investment Services Corp. First Matrix is registered with FINRA as a fully disclosed broker-
dealer, headquartered in Denver, Colorado. First Matrix previously provided brokerage services through SBA pooling
and structured finance transactions. First Matrix, as agent for United Western Bank, purchased the guaranteed portion
of SBA 7(a) loans from bank and non-bank lenders around the country. These loans were assembled and later pooled
into SBA securities that were sold into the secondary market to institutional and sophisticated investors. In addition,
First Matrix brokered the sale of fixed income securities to institutional clients. Prospectively, First Matrix will provide
services that complement our overall community banking business plan.
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Mortgage Servicing Activities

Residential Mortgage Loan Servicing. Historically, we conducted our residential mortgage loan servicing
activities through Matrix Financial Services, including the residential mortgage loan servicing that Matrix Financial
Services provided as subservicer for United Western Bank’s servicing portfolio. In November 2004, Matrix Financial
Services transferred all of its servicing function to a third party subservicer. The servicing transfer was done in an effort
to lower the overall cost of servicing by eliminating many of the fixed costs of servicing the loans in-house. Matrix
Financial Services now pays the subservicer a fixed fee per loan that varies based on whether the loan is a fixed rate or
adjustable rate, or if the loan is delinquent. As part of the agreement, the custodial deposits are maintained at United
Western Bank. We have retained a small staff at Matrix Financial Services primarily to monitor the servicing activities
of the subservicer. At December 31, 2007, including loans owned by Matrix Financial Services and United Western
Bank, Matrix Financial Services serviced approximately $1.07 billion of mortgage loans through the subservicer.

Servicing mortgage loans involves a contractual right to receive a fee for collecting, processing and
administering loan payments. This processing involves collecting monthly mortgage payments on behalf of investors,
reporting information to those investors on a monthly basis and maintaining custedial escrow accounts for the payment
of principal and interest to investors and property taxes and insurance premiums on behalf of borrowers. These
payments are held in custodial escrow accounts at United Western Bank.

As compensation for its mortgage servicing activities, Matrix Financial Services receives servicing fees, plus
any late charges collected from delinquent borrowers and other fees incidental to the services provided. In the event of
default by the borrower, Matrix Financia! Services receives no servicing fees until the default is cured. At December 31,
2007, Matrix Financial Services annual weighted-average servicing fee was .415% of the unpaid principal balance
outstanding on each mortgage.

Servicing is provided on mortgage loans on a recourse or nonrecourse basis. Matrix Financial Services policy
is to accept only a limited number of servicing assets on a recourse basis. As of December 31, 2007, on the basis of
outstanding principal balances, approximately 0.75% of its owned mortgage servicing contracts involved recourse
servicing with credit risk exposure in the event of underlying mortgagor default to the Company. Additionally, many of
its nonrecourse mortgage servicing contracts owned require Matrix Financial Services to advance all or part of the
scheduled payments to the owner of the mortgage loan in the event of a default by the borrower. Many owners of
mortgage loans also require the servicer to advance insurance premiums and tax payments on schedule even though
sufficient escrow funds may not be available. Therefore, Matrix Financial Services must bear the funding costs
associated with making such advances. If the delinquent loan does not become current, these advances are typically
recovered at the time of the foreclosure sale. Foreclosure expenses, which may include legal fees or property
maintenance expenses, are generally not fully reimbursable by Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac or Ginnie Mae, for which
agencies Matrix Financial Services provides significant amounts of mortgage loan servicing. As of December 31, 2007,
Matrix Financial Services had advanced approximately $8.4 million in funds on behalf of third party investors. Matrix
Financial Services may incur normal curtailments of certain advances on loans serviced for Ginnie Mae and Fannie Mae.
Generally advances on behalf of private investors are fully collectible. For the VA loans sold and serviced for Ginnie
Mae, which are sold on a nonrecourse basis, the VA loan guarantees may not cover the entire principal balance and, in
that case, Matrix Financial Services is responsible for the losses that exceed the VA’'s guarantee. Estimated losses
related to foreclosure and other servicer advances are estimated and reserved for, and are included in the conselidated
financial statements as a reduction of the amount of other receivables.

Competition

United Western Bank faces substantial competition from a variety of competitors in all phases of its operations,
including loan and deposit account originations. There is significant competition among commercial banks in the
Bank’s market area. As a result of the deregulation of the financial services industry (see “Regulation and Supervision -
Gramm-Leach-Bliley” below), the Bank also competes with other providers of financial services, such as credit unions,
consumer finance companies, securities firms, insurance companies, insurance agencics, commercial finance and leasing
companies, full service brokerage firms and discount brokerage firms. Some of the Bank’s competitors have greater
resources and, as such, may have higher lending limits and may offer other services that are not provided by the Bank.
The Bank generally competes on the basis of customer service and responsiveness to customer needs, available loan and
deposit products, the rates of interest charged on loans, and the rates of interest paid for funds. The Bank does not
compete by lessening its credit quality standards.




Sterling Trust Company faces considerable competition in all of the services and products that it offers, mainly
from other self-directed trust companies, broker-dealers and third party administrators. Sterling also faces competition
from other trust companies and trust divisions of financial institutions. Sterling’s niche has been, and will continue to
be, providing high quality customer service and servicing nonstandard retirement products. In an effort to increase
market share, Sterling endeavors to provide superior service, offer technologically advanced solutions, expand its
marketing efforts, provide competitive pricing and continue to diversify its product mix. If Sterling is unable to attract
and retain customers in its trust operations, our business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely
affected.

First Matrix faces competition for the purchase and sale of guaranteed portions of SBA loans from other
broker-dealers and financial institutions. First Matrix also faces competition from other broker-dealers in its fixed
income securities business. Many of First Matrix’s competitors offer products and services that are not provided by
First Matrix. First Matrix generally competes on price for the purchase of SBA loans and sale of SBA loans and pooled
securities and on price and service with respect to fixed income securities.

Employees

At December 31, 2007, the Company had 328 employees. We believe that relations with our employees are
good. The Company is not party to any collective bargaining agreement. With the continued implementation of the
community banking strategy, we anticipate increasing the number of employees at United Western Bank.

Regulation and Supervision

Set forth below is a brief description of various laws, regulatory authorities and associated regulations affecting
our operations. The description of laws and regulations contained in this document does nat purport to be complete and
is qualified in its entirety by reference to applicable laws and regulations.

Federal Securities Laws. As a publicly held company, various aspects of our public disclosure, corporate
governance principles and intenal control environment are subject to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and related regulations and rules of the SEC and the Nasdaq Stock Market. Any change in
applicable laws, regulations or regulatory policies may have a material effect on our business, operations and prospects.

Office of Thrift Supervision. We are a unitary savings and loan holding company within the meaning of the
Home Owners’ Loan Act, as amended. As such, we are subject to Office of Thrift Supervision (*OTS") regulation,
examination, supervision and reporting requirements. In addition, the OTS has enforcement authority over us and our
savings bank and non-savings bank subsidiaries. Among other things, this authority permits the OTS to restrict or
prohibit activities that are determined to be a serious risk to the financial safety, soundness or stability of our subsidiary
savings institution, United Western Bank. In addition, United Western Bank must notify the OTS at least 30 days before
declaring any capital distribution to us.

As a unitary savings and loan holding company that has been in existence prior to May 4, 1999, we generally
are not restricted under existing laws as to the types of business activities in which we may engage, provided that the
Bank continues to be a “qualified thrift lender” under the Home Owners’ Loan Act. To maintain its status as a qualified
thrift lender, the Bank must maintain a minimum percentage of its assets in qualified thrift investments unless the OTS
grants an exception to this requirement. In general, qualified thrift investments include certain types of residential
mortgage loans, mortgage backed securities and certain loans to small businesses. If we acquire control of another
savings association as a separate subsidiary, we would become a multiple, rather than a unitary, savings and loan
holding company. Multiple savings and loan holding companies may only engage in those activitics permissible for a
financial holding company under the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956, as amended. Generally, financial holding
companies may only engage in activitics such as banking, insurance and securities activities, as well as merchant
banking activities under certain circumstances. In addition, if the Bank fails to maintain its status as a qualified thrift
lender, within one year of its failure, we would be required to convert the Bank to a commercial bank and to register as a
bank holding company under the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956, as amended.

Change in Bank Control Act. The Change in Bank Control Act, as amended, provides that no person, acting
directly or indirectly or through or in concert with one or more other persons, may acquire control of a savings
association unless the OTS has been given 60 days prior written notice. The Home Owners' Loan Act provides that no
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company may acquire control of a savings association without the prior approval of the OTS. Any company that
acquires such control becomes a savings and loan holding company subject to registration, examination and regulation
by the OTS. Pursuant to federal regulations, control of a savings association (which includes its holding company) is
conclusively deemed to have been acquired by, among other things, the acquisition of more than 25% of any class of
voting stock of the association or the ability to control the election of a majority of the directors of the association.
Moteover, control is presumed to have been acquired, subject 1o rebuttal, upon the acquisition of more than 10% of any
class of voting stock, but less than 25% of any class of stock of a savings association, where certain enumerated control
factors are also present in the acquisition. The QTS may prohibit an acquisition of control if it would result in a
monopoly or substantially lessen competition, the financial condition of the acquiring person might jeopardize the
financial stability of the association, or the competence, experience or integrity of the acquiring person indicates that it
would not be in the interest of the depositors or the public to permit the acquisition of control by such person.

Gramm-Leach-Bliley. The Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act of 1999, as amended, {also known as the Financial
Services Modernization Act) eliminated many federal and state law barriers to affiliations among banks, securities firms,
insurance companies and other financial service providers. The law revised and expanded the Bank Holding Company
Act to permit a bank holding company to engage in a full range of financial activities by electing to be treated by the
Federal Reserve Board as a “Financial Holding Company.” “Financial activities” is broadly defined to include not only
banking, insurance and securities activities, but also merchant banking and additional activities that the Federal Reserve
Board, in consultation with the Secretary of the Treasury, determined to be financial in nature, incidental to such
financial activities, or complementary activities that do not pose a substantial risk to the safety and soundness of
depository institutions or the financial system generally.

Gramm-Leach-Bliley prohibits upitary savings and loan holding companies formed after May 4, 1999 from
engaging in non-financial activities. We are a grandfathered unitary savings and loan holding company. Gramm-Leach-
Bliley has not had a material adverse effect on our operations. However, because banking law permits banks, securities
firms and insurance companies to affiliate with one another there is a continuing trend in the financial services industry
toward consolidation. As a result Gramm-Leach-Bliley could lead to an increasing amount of competition from larger
institutions and other types of companies offering financial products, many of which may have substantially more
financial resources.

Anti-Money Laundering and USA Patriot Act. A major focus of governmental policy on financial institutions
in recent years has been aimed at combating money laundering and terrorist financing. The USA PATRIOT Act of 2001
{the “Patriot Act”) substantially broadened the scope of United States anti-money laundering laws and regulations by
imposing significant new compliance and due diligence obligations, creating new crimes and penalties and expanding
the extra-territorial jurisdiction of the United States. The United States Treasury Department has issued and, in some
cases, proposed a number of regulations that apply various requirements of the Patriot Act to financial institutions such
as United Western Bancorp and its subsidiaries. These regulations impose obligations on financial institutions to
maintain appropriate policies, procedures and controls to detect, prevent and report money laundering and terrorist
financing and to verify the identity of their customers. Certain of those regulations impose specific due diligence
requirements on financial institutions that maintain correspondent or private banking relationships with non-
U.S. financial institutions or persons. Failure of a financial institution to maintain and implement adequate programs to
combat money laundering and terrorist financing, or to comply with all of the relevant laws or regulations, could have
serious adverse consequences for the institution.

Office of Foreign Assets Control Regulation. The United States has imposed economic sanctions that affect
transactions with designated foreign countries, nationals and others. These are sometimes referred to as the “OFAC”
rules based on their administration by the U.S. Treasury Department Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”). The
OFAC-administered sanctions take many different forms. Generally, however, they contain one or more of the
following elements: (i) restrictions on trade with or investment in a sanctioned country, including prohibitions against
direct or indirect imports from and exports to a sanctioned country and prohibitions on “U.S. persons” engaging in
financial transactions relating to making investments in, or providing investment-related advice or assistance to, a
sanctioned country; and (ii) a blocking of assets in which the government or specially designated nationals of the
sanctioned country have an interest, by prohibiting transfers of property subject to U.S. jurisdiction (including property
in the possession or control of U.S. persons). Blocked assets (e.g., property and bank deposits) cannot be paid out,
withdrawn, set off or transferred in any manner without a license from OFAC. Failure to comply with these sanctions
could have serious legal and reputational consequences.




O

Federal Savings Bank Operations. United Western Bank is subject to extensive regulation, examination and
supervision by the OTS, as its primary federal regulator, and potentially by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
(“FDIC™), which insures its deposits up to applicable limits. Such regulation and supervision:

o establishes a comprehensive framework of activities in which United Westem Bank can engage;

¢ limits the types and amounts of investments permissibte for United Western Bank;

¢  limits the ability of United Western Bank to extend credit to any given borrower;

e significantly limits the transactions in which United Western Bank may engage with its affiliates;

e requires United Western Bank to meet a qualified thrift lender test that requires United Western Bank to invest
in qualified thrift investments, which include primarily residential mortgage loans and related investments;

* places limitations on capital distributions by savings associations, such as United Western Bank, including cash
dividends;

e imposes assessments to the OTS to fund their operations;

¢ establishes a continuing and affirmative obligation, consistent with United Western Bank’s safe and sound
operation, to help meet the credit needs of its community, including low and moderate income neighborhoods;

e requires United Western Bank to maintain certain noninterest-bearing reserves against its transaction accounts;

e establishes various capital categories resulting in various levels of regulatory scrutiny applied to the institutions
in a particular category; and

¢ establishes standards for safety and soundness.

The Bank must submit annual financial reports audited by independent auditors to federal regulators. The
auditors must receive examination reports, supervisory agreements and reports of enforcement actions. In addition, an
attestation by the auditor regarding the statements of management relating to the internal controls must be submitted to
the OTS. The Bank’s audit committee must include members with experience in banking or financial management, must
have access to outside counsel and must not include representatives of large customers.  Any change in these
regulations, whether by the OTS, the FDIC or Congress, could have a material impact on United Western Bank and its
operations.

United Western Bank’s Capital Ratios. Federal law requires, among other things, that federal bank regulatory
authorities take “prompt corrective action™ with respect to savings institutions that do not meet minimum capital
requirements. For these purposes, the law establishes five categories: well capitalized, adequately capitalized,
undercapitalized, significantly undercapitalized and critically undercapitalized. The OTS has adopted regulations to
implement the prompt corrective action legislation. An institution is deemed to be:

s “well capitalized” if it has a total risk-based capital ratio of 10% or greater and a leverage ratio of 5% or
greater;

o “adequately capitalized” if it has a total risk-based capital ratio of 8% or greater, a Tier | risk-based capital ratio
of 4% or greater and generally a leverage ratio of 4% or greater;

¢ “undercapitalized” if it has a total risk-based capital ratio of less than 8%, a Tier | risk-based capital ratio of less
than 4%, or generally a leverage ratio of less than 4%;

s “significantly undercapitalized” if it has a total risk-based capital ratio of less than 6%, a Tier [ risk-based
capital ratio of less than 3%, or a leverage ratio of less than 3%; and

e  “critically undercapitalized™ if it has a ratio of tangible equity (as defined in the regulations) to total assets that
is equal to or less than 2%.

As of December 31, 2007, United Western Bank was a “well capitalized” institution.

The following table indicates United Western Bank’s regulatory capital ratios:

As of December 31, 2007
Core Risk-Based
Capital Capital
(Dollars in thousands)
Shareholder’s equity/GAAP capital $ 148,293 § 148,293
Disallowed assets (96) {96)
Unrealized loss on available for sale securities 2,668 2,668

Additional capital items:




As of December 31, 2007

Core Risk-Based
Capital Capital
{Dollars in thousands)

General valuation allowances - 9,389

Low-level recourse and residual interests - 367
Regulatory capital as reported to the OTS 150,865 159,887
Minimum capital requirement as reported to the OTS 83,278 97,574
Regulatory capital—excess 3 67,587 3 62,313
Capital ratios 725 % 13.11 %
Well capitalized requirement 500 % 10.00 %

Transactions with Affiliates. Sections 23A and 23B of the Federal Reserve Act and its implementing
regulations govern transactions between depository institutions and their affiliates. These provisions are made applicable
to savings associations, such as United Western Bank, by the Home Owners’ Loan Act. Section 23A limits the extent to
which the savings association or its subsidiaries may engage in certain transactions with its affiliates. These transactions
include, among other things, the making of loans or other extensions of credit to an affiliate and the purchase of assets
from an affiliate. Generally, these transactions between the savings association and any one affiliate cannot exceed 10%
of the savings association’s capital stock and surplus, and these transactions between the savings institution and all of its
affiliates cannot, in the aggregate, exceed 20% of the savings institution’s capital stock and surplus. Section 23A also
establishes specific collateral requirements for loans or extensions of credit to an affiliate, and for guarantees or
acceptances on letters of credit issued on behalf of an affiliate. Applicable regulations prohibit a savings association
from lending to any affiliate engaged in activities not permissible for a bank holding company or for the purpose of
acquiring the securities of most affiliates. Section 23B requires that transactions covered by Section 23A and a broad
list of other specified transactions be on terms and under circumstances substantially the same, or no less favorable to
the savings association or its subsidiary, as similar transactions with non-affiliates. In addition to the restrictions on
transactions with affiliates that Sections 23A and 23B of the Federal Reserve Act impose on depository institutions, the
regulations of the OTS also generally prohibit a savings association from purchasing or investing in securities issued by
an affiliate. Whenever United Western Bank engages in transactions with its affiliates, the transactions are structured
with the intent of complying with these regulations.

Insurance of Accounts and Regulation by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. The deposits of the
Bank are insured by the Deposit Insurance Fund, which is administered by the FDIC, and backed by the ful} faith and
credit of the U.S. Government. As insurer, the FDIC is authorized to conduct examinations of, and to require reporting
by, FDIC-insured institutions. It also may prohibit any FDIC-insured institution from engaging in any activity the FDIC
determines by regulation or order to pose a serious threat to the FDIC. The FDIC also has the authority to initiate
enforcement actions against savings associations, after giving the OTS an opportunity to take such action.

The FDIC amended its risk-based assessment system for 2007 to implement authority granted by the Federal
Deposit Insurance Reform Act of 2005 (“Reform Act”). Under the revised system, insured institutions are assigned to
one of four risk categories based on supervisory evaluations, regulatory capital levels and certain other factors. An
institution’s assessment rate depends upon the category to which it is assigned. Risk category I, which contains the least
risky depository institutions, is expected to include more than 90% of ail institutions. Unlike the other categories, Risk
Category I contains further risk differentiation based on the FDIC’s analysis of financial ratios, examination component
ratings and other information. Assessment rates are determined by the FDIC and currently range from five to seven
basis points for the healthiest institutions (Risk Category 1.} Institutions in Risk Categories II, 11l and IV will be assessed
at annual rates of 10, 28 and 43 basis points, respectively. The FDIC may adjust rates uniformly from one quarter to the
next, except that no single adjustment can exceed three basis points. No institution may pay a dividend if it is in default
of the FDIC assessment.

The Reform Act also provided for a one-time credit for eligible institutions based on their assessment base as of
December 31, 1996. Subject to certain limitations with respect to institutions that are exhibiting weaknesses, credits can
be used to offset assessments until exhausted. The Bank’s one-time credit was $177,000, which was recognized in
2007. The Reform Act also provided for the possibility that the FDIC may pay dividends to insured institutions once the
Deposit Insurance Fund reserve ratio equals or exceeds 1.35% of estimated insured deposits. The Bank’s assessment for
the year ended December 31, 2007 was $647,000, net of its one-time credit.
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In addition to the assessment for deposit insurance, institutions are required to make payments on bonds issued
in the late 1980s by the Financing Corporation to recapitalize a predecessor deposit insurance fund. This payment is
established quarterly and during the year ended December 31, 2007 averaged 1.16 basis points of assessable deposits.

The Reform Act provided the FDIC with authority to adjust the Deposit Insurance Fund ratio to insured
deposits within a range of 1.15% and 1.50%, in contrast to the prior statutorily fixed ratio of 1.25%. The ratio, which is
viewed by the FDIC as the level that the fund should achieve, was established by the agency at 1.25% for 2007. The
FDIC has authority to increase insurance assessments to support the ratio. A significant increase in the Bank’s insurance
premiums would likely have an adverse effect on the operating expenses and results of operations of the Bank and the
Company. Management cannot predict what insurance asscssment rates will be in the future.

Insurance of an institution’s deposits may be terminated by the FDIC upon a finding that the institution has
engaged in unsafe or unsound practices, is in an unsafe or unsound condition to continue operations or has violated any
applicable law, regulation, rule, order or condition imposed by the FDIC or the OTS. Management of the Bank does not
know of any practice, condition or violation that might lead to termination of the Bank’s deposit insurance,

FHLBank System. United Western Bank is a member of the Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLBank™) system,
which consists of 12 regional FHLBanks. The FHLBank provides a central credit facility primarily for member
associations and administers the home financing credit function of savings associations. FHLBank borrowings must be
secured by specified types of collateral. The FHLBank funds its operations primarily from proceeds derived from the
sale of consolidated obligations of the FHLBank system. United Western Bank, as a member of the FHLBank system,
must acquire and hold shares of capital stock in its regional FHLBank in an amount equal to the greater of 1% of the
aggregate principal amount of its unpaid residential mortgage loans and similar obligations at the beginning of each
vear, 0.2% of total assets, or 5% of its borrowings from the FHLBank. Prior to relocating its domicile, United Western
Bank was a member of the FHLBank of Dallas. Effective March 23, 2002, United Western Bank became a member of
the FHLBank of Topeka. At December 31, 2007, United Western Bank was in compliance with the FHLBank system
capital stock requirement based on iis combined investment in FHLBank of Dallas and FHLBank of Topeka stock
totaling $39.9 million.

Brokered Deposits. Under the FDIC regulations governing brokered deposits, well capitalized associations,
such as United Western Bank, are not subject to brokered deposit limitations, while adequately capitalized associations
are subject to certain brokered deposit limitations and undercapitalized associations may not accept brokered deposits.
At December 31, 2007, United Western Bank had $13.0 million of brokered deposits. In the event United Western
Bank is not permitted to accept brokered deposits in the future, it would have to find replacement sources of funding. It
is possible that such alternatives, if available, would result in a higher cost of funds.

Federal Reserve System. The Federal Reserve Board regulations require all depository institutions to maintain
noninterest-earning reserves at specified levels against their transaction accounts (primarily NOW and regular checking
accounts). At December 31, 2007, United Western Bank was in compliance with the Federal Reserve Board’s reserve
requirements. Savings associations, such as United Western Bank, are authorized to borrow from the Federal Reserve
Bank “discount window.” The Bank is deemed by the Federal Reserve to be generally sound and thus is eligible to
obtain primary credit from its Federal Reserve Bank. Generally, primary credit is extended on a very short-term basis to
meet the liquidity needs of the institution. Loans must be secured by acceptable collateral and carry a rate of interest of
100 basis points above the Federal Open Market Committee’s federal funds target rate. As a tertiary source of liquidity,
(see ltem 7. “Liquidity ~ Bank Liquidity™) at December 31, 2007, the Bank had pledged approximately $25.7 million of
the guaranteed portions of purchased SBA loans to the Federal Reserve Bank of Kansas City, as collateral for potential
borrowings from the “discount window.”

Mortgage Banking Operations. Our mortgage banking operations are conducted through Matrix Financial
Services. The rules and regulations apphicable to our mortgage banking operations establish underwriting guidelines
that, among other things, include anti-discrimination provisions, require provisions for inspections, appraisals and credit
reports on prospective borrowers and fix maximum loan amounts. Moreover, we are required annually to submit
audited financial statements of United Western Bank, the parent of Matrix Financial Services, to the U.S, Department of
Housing and Urban Development (“HUD™), Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac and Ginnie Mae, and each regulatory entity
maintains its own financial guidelines for determining net worth and eligibility requirements. Matrix Financial Services
operations are also subject to examination by HUD, Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac and Ginnie Mae at any time to assure
compliance with the applicable regulations, policies and procedures. Mortgage loan origination activities are subject to,
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among other laws, the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, the Federal Truth-in-Lending Act and the Real Estate Settlement
Procedures Act of 1974, and the regulations promulgated under thesc laws that prohibit discrimination and require the
disclosure of certain basic information to mortgagors concerning credit terms and settlement costs. Moreover, the OTS,
as primary regulatory authority over the Bank (the parent of Matrix Financial Services), also examines the Matrix
Financial Services mortgage banking operations as well.

Regulation of Sterling Trust Company. Sterling Trust Company provides custodial services and directed, non-
discretionary trustee services. Sterling is chartered under the laws of the State of Texas, and as a Texas trust company is
subject to supervision, regulation and examination by the Texas Department of Banking. Under applicable law, a Texas
trust company, such as Sterling, is subject to virtually all provisions of the Texas Banking Act as if the trust company
were a state chartered bank. The activities of a Texas trust company are limited by law to acting as a trustee, executor,
administrator, guardian or agent for the performance of any lawful act, and to lend and accumulate money when
authorized under applicable law. In addition, a Texas trust company with capital of $1.0 million or more, such as
Sterling, has the power to:

purchase, sell, discount and negotiate notes, drafts, checks and other evidences of indebtedness;

purchase and sell securities;

issue subordinated debentures and promissory notes; and

exercise powers incidental to the enumerated powers of Texas trust companies as set forth in the Texas Banking
Act.

A Texas trust company, such as Sterling, is generally prohibited from accepting demand or time deposits if not
insured by the FDIC.

Limitation on Capital Distributions. The Texas Finance Code prohibits a Texas trust company from reducing
its outstanding capital and certified surplus through redemption or other capital distribution without the prior written
approval of the Texas Banking Commissioner. Moreover, Sterling did not pay any cash dividends in 2007,

Investments. A Texas trust company is generally obligated to maintain an amount equal to 40% of its capital
and surplus in investments that are readily marketable and that can be converted into cash within four business days. So
long as it complies with those requirements, a Texas trust company generally is permitted to invest its corporate assets in
any investment otherwise permitted by law. Generally, a Texas trust company cannot invest an amount in excess of
15% of its capital and certified surplus in the securities of a single issuer.

Branching. The Texas Finance Code permits a Texas trust company to establish and maintain branch offices at
any location within the state if it first obtains written approval of the Texas Banking Commissioner.

Transactions with Related Partics. The Texas Finance Code prohibits the sale or lease of an asset of a Texas
trust company, or the purchase or lease of an asset by a Texas trust company, where the transaction involves an officer,
director, principal shareholder or affiliate, unless the transaction is approved by a disintercsted majority of the board of
directors or the written approval of the Texas Banking Commissioner is first obtained. In no event, however, may a
Texas trust company lease real property in a transaction involving an officer, director, principal shareholder or affiliate
without the prior approval of the Texas Banking Commissioner.

Enforcement. Under applicable provisions of the Texas Finance Code, the Texas Banking Commissioner has
the power to issue enforcement actions against a Texas trust company or any officer, employee or director of a Texas
trust company. In addition, in certain circumstances, the Texas Banking Commissioner may remove a present or former
officer, director or employee of a Texas trust company from office or employment, and may prohibit a shareholder or
other persons participating in the affairs of a Texas trust company from such participation. The Texas Banking
Commissioner has the authority to assess civil penalties of up to $500 per day against a Texas trust company (penalties
against individuals may be higher) for violations of a cease and desist, removal or prohibition order. The Texas Banking
Commissioner may also refer violations of a cease and desist order to the attorney general for enforcement by injunction.

The Texas Banking Commissioner may pursue an order of supervision or conservatorship if:

e the Texas Banking Commissioner determines that the Texas trust company is in a hazardous condition and that
the continuation of business would be hazardous to the public or to the sharcholders or creditors of the Texas
trust company;
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e the Texas Banking Commissioner determines that the Texas trust company has exceeded its powers;
o the Texas trust company has violated the law; or
+ the Texas trust company gives written consent to supervision or conservatorship.

The Texas Banking Commissioner also has the authority to pursue the appointment of an independent receiver for a
Texas trust company.

Capital Requirements. Applicable law generally requires a Texas trust company to have and maintain
minimum restricted capital of at least $1 million. In addition, a Texas trust company may not have at anytime
outstanding liabilities in an amount that exceeds five times its capital stock and surplus, except that with the approval of
the Texas Banking Commissioner, a Texas trust company may have outstanding liabilities in an amount that does not
exceed ten times its capital stock and surplus. The Texas Banking Commissioner may require additional capital of a
Texas trust company if the Texas Banking Commissioner determines it necessary to protect the safety and soundness of
such company. If the Texas Banking Commissioner were to do so, or in the event Sterling fails to maintain capital of at
least $1 million, there is no assurance that Sterling would be able to restore its capital or meet such additionat
requirements. In either case, the Texas Banking Commissioner could pursue various enforcement actions for
inadequacy of capital, such as appointing either a conservator or a receiver. Sterling is in compliance with all capital
requirements under Texas law.

Regulation of First Matrix Investment Services Corp. First Matrix is a securities broker-dealer that is subject
to the Securities and Exchange Commission's net capital rule, Rule 15¢3-1, promulgated under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934. The net capital rule is designed to measure the general financiat condition and liquidity of a broker-dealer.
Net capital generally is the net worth of a broker or dealer (assets minus liabilities), less deductions for certain types of
assets. If a firm fails to maintain the required net capital, it may be subject to suspension or revocation of registration by
the Securities and Exchange Commission and suspension or expulsion by FINRA, and could ultimately lead to the firm's
liquidation. The net capital rule also limits the ability of broker-dealers to transfer large amounts of capital to parent
companies and other affiliates. At December 31, 2007, First Matrix was in compliance with these requirements with net
capitat of $580,000, which was approximately $575,000 in excess of its required net capital of $5,000.

Available Information

Under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Company is required to file annual, quarterly, and current
reports, proxy statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). You may read
and copy any document the company files with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE,,
Washington, D.C. 20549. You may call the SEC at 1-800-732-0330 for further information about the public reference
room. The SEC maintains a website at www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other
information regarding the Company that we file electronically with the SEC,

The Company maintains a website at www.uwbancorp.com. On our website, investors and other interested
persons may access, among other things, any of the reports that we file with or furnish to the SEC, including this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, and current reports on Form 8-K as soon as reasonably
practicable after such reports are filed with or furnished to the SEC. The Company’s website also includes the charters
of our Audit, Compensation, Nomination and Governance Committees and other corporate governance documents.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Ownership of the common stock or other securities of the Company involves certain risks. Holders of the
Company’s securities and prospective investors in those securities should carefully consider the following risk factors
and uncertainties described below together with all of the other information included and incorporated by reference in
this report, in evaluating an investment in the Company’s securities. If any of the risks and uncertainties discussed
below actually occur, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.
In addition, other risks and uncertainties of which we are not currently aware, including those relating to the banking and
financial services industries in general, or which we do not now believe are material, may cause earnings to be lower, or
impair our future financial condition or results of operations. The value or market price of our common stock could
decline due to any of these identified or other risks, and you could lose all or part of your investment.




Risks Related to Our Business

United Western Bank relies on institutional deposits. A significant portion of United Western Bank’s total
deposits are funds deposited as a result of unaffiliated institutional relationships maintained by United Western Bank.
At December 31, 2007, three unretated institutional relationships accounted for $479 million of our total deposits
including custodial escrow deposits. Sterling, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, accounted for $405 million
of our total deposits. Matrix Financial Solutions, Inc., a company in which we own an approximate 7% interest,
accounted for $236 million of our deposits and Legent Clearing, a company in which our Chairman owns an indirect
minority interest, accounted for $164 million of our deposits. Institutional depositors generally are more sensitive to
interest rate levels due to the amount of money they maintain on deposit than retail consumers who bank at a branch
office. The Bank’s future success in retaining and attracting institutional depositors depends, in part, on its ability to
offer competitive rates and services. If United Western Bank loses one or more of these institutional relationships, its
liquidity, profitability and results of operations may be significantly and adversely affected. See Note 8 to the financial
statements.

Of the $405 million of deposits from custodial accounts maintained by Sterling, there is an individual custodial
relationship in the life settlement business at Sterling with a series of accounts totaling $103 million of this balance.
Management of Sterling has elected to restructure this relationship and terminate certain elements of business with this
customer. The restructured relationship will now allow the Company to pursue business in the same industry on a non-
exclusive basis. If Sterling cannot replace this business with deposits from other clients, the aggregate deposits directed
to United Western Bank by Sterling could decline materially in 2008. If not replaced by Sterling, the cost of interest
bearing liabilitics is expected to increase at United Western Bank and the Company. See Note 8 to the financial
statements and [tem 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis — Deposits” of this report.

Our business is subject to interest rate risk. A substantial portion of our income is derived from the
differential, or “spread,” between the interest eamed on loans, securities and other interest-earning assets, and the
interest paid on deposits, borrowings and other interest-bearing liabilities. Because of the differences in the maturities
and repricing characteristics of our interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities, changes in interest rates do not
produce equivalent changes in interest income earned on interest-carning assets and interest paid on interest-bearing
liabilities. Generally, in rising interest rate environments, loan repayment rates will decline, and in falling interest rate
environments, loan repayment rates will increase. In addition, an increase in interest rates may adversely affect the
ability of some borrowers to pay their obligations. Changes in interest rates also affect the valuation of our mortgage
servicing rights and loans held for sale, which are carried at the lower of cost or market. Changes in market interest
rates could also affect our net interest spread, asset quality and loan origination volumec. See Item 7A. “Assct Liability
Management” and “Interest Rate Risk™ in this report. Although we believe our current level of interest rate risk
sensitivity is reasonabie and effectively managed, significant fluctuations in interest rates may have an adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

General credit market factors may negatively affect our financial performance. In addition to general interest
rate variations, changes in the marketplace due to credit concerns associated with residential loans, together with a lack
of secondary market liquidity for residential loans, may cause declines in the fair value of these loans and result in a
charge to carnings, negatively affecting our financial performance. Adverse market changes could also affect the fair
market values of other loans, including even loans with limited credit risk. In the second half of 2007, while interest
rates generally declined, a development that is favorable to the valuation of our assets held for sale, we nevertheless
incurred a charge of $583,000 to our residential loans held for sale due to credit and liquidity factors that affected loan
markets generaily.

Continued declines in interest rates would likely hurt our earnings. While the decline in market interest rates
that occurred in the fourth quarter of 2007 was a net benefit to us, we expect the additional declines that have occurred
in the first quarter of 2008 to have a negative impact our net interest income, net interest spread, net interest margin, and
overall results of operations. On the other hand, we believe that the continued implementation of our community bank
business plan, and the resulting change in asset and liability mix, will partially mitigate the impact of lower market rates.

Our loan portfolio remains concentrated in real estate. Real estate lending (including commercial,
construction, land development, and residential) remains a large portion of our loan portfolio. These categories
constitute $1.156 billion, or approximately 91% of our total loan portfolio as of December 31, 2007. Real estate values
are generally affected by changes in economic conditions, fluctuations in interest rates and the availability of loans to
potential purchasers, changes in tax and other laws and acts of nature. A downturn in the real estate markets in which
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United Western Bank originates, purchases and services mortgage and other loans could hurt its business because these
loans are secured by real estate. In addition, even though the Bank’s real property collateral is currently located
throughout the United States, , the amount of such collateral in Colorado, which at December 31, 2007 was $516
million, or 41% of our total loan portfolio, is likely to increase as a result of our community banking strategy. Any
downturn in the real estate markets where we have loans could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Our real estate loans also include $145 million of construction loans and $111 million of land development
loans. These loans have a historically greater risk of non-payment and loss than residential mortgage loans because
repayment of the loans ofien depends on the successful completion and sale or operation of the property, the income
stream of the borrowers, the accuracy of the estimate of the property’s value at completion of construction and the
estimated cost of construction. Such toans also typically involve larger loan balances to single borrowers or groups of
retated borrowers compared to residential loans. Although there are no nonperforming construction and development
loans at December 31, 2007 that were originated since our transition to community banking, if one or more of our larger
borrowers were to default on their loans we could incur significant losses. At December 31, 2007, $234 million, or
91%, of our construction and development loans are for projects located in Colorado.

We have invested in loan portfolios, pooled securities and mortgage backed obligations, which may lead to
volatility in cash flow and market risk. Our asset portfolio still contains large portfolios of single-family residential
loans acquired through bulk purchases, purchased SBA loans and pools. Our investment pertfolio largely consists of
mortgage backed securities primarily secured by pools of mortgages on single-family residences. When we acquire such
mortgage backed securities and loans, we anticipate that the underlying notes will prepay at a projected rate, thereby
generating an expected yield. Prepayment rates gencrally increase as interest rates fall and decrease when interest rates
rise, but changes in prepayment rates are difficult to predict. Some of our mortgage backed securities and many of our
bulk single-family lean purchases and purchased SBA loans and pools were acquired at a premium purchase price. In
accordance with applicable accounting rules, we will write-off such premiums when necessary due to loan prepayments
with respect to our held for sale loan portfolic and amortize such premiums over the expected lives of our mortgage
backed securities and loans held for investment. If the underlying assets we acquired or that secures our mortgage
backed securitics prepays more rapidly than anticipated, we would have to write-off or amortize the premium on an
accelerated basis, which would adversely affect our profitability.

The carrying value of our residential mortgage loan servicing rights and our loan servicing income may
decline. Owning residential mortgage loan servicing rights carries interest rate risk because its value and the total
amount of servicing fees earned, as well as the amortization of the investment in the servicing rights, fluctuates based on
interest rates and loan prepayments. The rate of prepayment of mortgage loans may also be influenced by changing
national and regional economic trends as well as the difference between interest rates on existing mortgage loans relative
to prevailing mortgage rates. During periods of declining interest rates, many borrowers refinance their mortgage loans.
Accordingly, as prepayments of mortgage loans increase, the loan administration fee income related to the residential
mortgage loan servicing rights corresponding to a mortgage loan ceases as mortgage loans are prepaid. Consequently,
the market value of portfolios of residential mortgage loan servicing rights tends to decrease during periods of declining
interest rates, since greater prepayments can be expected, and as a result, the amount of loan admintstration income
received also decreases. See Item 7. “Mortgage Servicing Rights™ in this report.

Our quarterly results may fluctuate. Our financial results are subject to significant quarteriy fluctuations as a
result of, among other things, our loan production, opening of new branch locations, development of new products and
services, premium amortization caused by prepayments of certain wholesale assets, such as our single-family mortgage
loans, guaranteed SBA loans and pooled securities and changes in interest rates. Our operating results will fluctuate
significantly in the future as a result of a variety of factors, some of which are outside of our control, including general
economic conditions, economic conditions in the financial industry, the effects of governmental regulations and
regulatory changes, capital expenditures and other costs relating to the expansion of operations, the introduction of new
services by us or our competitors and the mix of services sold. In response to a changing competitive environment, we
may elect from time to time to make certain pricing, service, or marketing decisions or enter into strategic alliances or
make investments that could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and
cash flow. Accordingly, our results of operations for any particular quarter are not necessarily indicative of the resuits
that may be achieved for any succeeding quarter or for the full fiscal year.

We must effectively manage our credit risk. There are risks inherent in making any loan, including risks
inherent in dealing with individual borrowers, risks of nonpayment, risks resulting from uncertainties as to the future
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value of collateral and risks resulting from changes in economic and industry conditions. United Western Bank attempts
to minimize its credit risk with prudent loan application approval procedures, including an analysis of the credit risk, a
valuation of the underlying collateral, monitoring of loan concentration within specific industries and geographic
locations and periodic independent reviews of outstanding loans by its loan review and audit departments. Nevertheless,
we are exposed to significant credit risks, including possible errors in United Western Bank’s credit analysis, the
uncertainty of the borrower’s ability to repay the loans, the uncertainty of future economic conditions and the possibility
of loan defaults. See Item 7. “Balance Sheet — Asset Quality” and “Balance Sheet —Allowance for Credit Losses™ in this
report.

Our allowance for credit losses may not be adequate. The Company maintains an allowance for credit losses
to provide for loan defaults and nonperformance. The Company’s allowance for credit losses may not be adequate to
cover actual credit losses, and future provisions for credit losses could materially and adversely affect our business,
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. The allowance for credit losses reflects the Company’s estimate
of the probable losses inherent in the loan portfolio at the relevant balance sheet date. The amount of actual losses is
susceptible to changes in economic, operating and other conditions, including changes in interest rates that may be
beyond the Company’s control, and these losses may exceed current estimates. We cannot assure you that we will not
increase the allowance for credit losses further or that regulators will not require United Western Bank to increase its
allowance, either of which could adversely affect us. See Item 7. “Asset Quality” and “Allowance for Credit Losses” in
this report.

The mortgage loans that we hold are subject to risks of delinquency, foreclosure and loss, which could result
in losses to us. The residential and commercial mortgage loans held in our loan portfolio are secured by residential and
commercial properties and are subject to risks of delinquency, foreclosure and loss of principal and interest. The ability
of a borrower to repay a loan secured by residential property typically is dependent primarily upon the income or assets
of the borrower. In addition, other factors that affect the risk of our mortgage loan portfolio include:

» property location and condition;

e competition and demand for comparable properties;

s changes in zoning laws for the property or its surrounding area;

s environmental contamination at the property;

e the occurrence of any uninsured casualty at the property;

o changes in national, regional or local economic conditions;

e declines in regional or local real estate values;

* increases in interest rates and/or real estate tax rates;

e changes in governmental rules, regulations and fiscal policies, including environmental legislation
and tax laws; and

e other events such as acts of God, natural disasters, war, terrorism, social unrest and civil disturbances.

In the event of the bankruptcy of a mortgage loan borrower, the morigage loan to such borrower will be deemed
to be secured only to the extent of the value of the underlying collateral at the time of bankruptcy, as determined by the
bankruptcy court. The licn securing the mortgage loan will be subject to the avoidance powers of the bankruptcy trustee
or debtor-in-possession to the extent the lien is unenforceable under state law. In any event, foreclosure of a mortgage
loan can be an expensive and lengthy process that can have a substantial negative effect on our originally anticipated
return on the foreclosed mortgage loan.

If we sell mortgage loans or moritgage servicing rights and the underlying loan defaults, we may be liable to
the purchaser for unpaid principal and interest on the loan. In the ordinary course of selling mortgage loans or
mortgage servicing rights and in accordance with industry standards, we make certain representations and warranties to
purchasers. If a loan defaults and there has been a breach of representations or warranties and we have no recourse
against a third party, we may become liable for the unpaid principal and interest on the defaulted loan. In such a case,
we may be required to repurchase the mortgage loan and bear any subsequent loss on the loan. When we purchase
mortgage servicing rights or mortgage loans, we also are exposed to liability to the extent that an originator or other
selier of the servicing rights is unable to honor its representations and warranties to us. The Company has established a
reserve for repurchases that may be required in connection with loans we originated and sold in connection with the sale
of our wholesale production platform in 2003.

United Western Bank relies on wholesale funding sources for secondary and contingent liquidity sources.
United Western Bank utilizes borrowings from the FHLBank system, brokered certificates of deposits and repurchase
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agreements for secondary and contingent sources of liquidity. Also, from time to time, the Bank utilizes these sources to
capitalize on markel opportunities to fund investment and loan initiatives. If the Bank were unable to obtain or maintain
our access to funding or if adequate funding is not available to accommodate future growth at acceptable interest rates, it
would have to find alternative sources of liquidity, which, if available, would probably be at a higher cost and on terms
that do not match the structure of our liabilitics as well as the existing wholesale funding sources. See Item 7. “Balance
Sheet - Borrowings” and “Balance Sheet — Liquidity™ in this report and Note 10 to the financial statements,

Curtailment of government guaranteed loan programs could affect our SBA business. Our SBA business
relies on originating, purchasing, pooling and selling government guaranteed loans, in particular those guaranteed by the
SBA. From time to time, the government agencies that guarantee these loans reach their internal limits and cease to
guarantee loans for a period of time. In addition, these agencies may change their rules for loans or legislation may
discontinue or change the programs. If changes occur, the volumes of loans that qualify for government guarantees
could decline, which could in turn reduce the profitability of our SBA business.

We are exposed to risk of environmental liabilities. 1f we foreclose and take title to real estate, we could be
subject to environmental liabilities with respect to these properties. We may be held liable to a governmental entity or to
third parties for property damage, personal injury, investigation and clean-up costs incurred by these parties in
connection with environmental contamination, or we may be required to investigate or clean up hazardous or toxic
substances. In addition, if we are the owner or former owner of a contaminated site, we may be subject to common law
claims by third parties based on damages and costs resulting from environmental contamination emanating from the

property.

Failure in our automated systems and controls could subject us to increased operating or other liabilities.
We depend heavily upon our automated systems and controls for our business and operations. These systems and
controls support the evaluation, acquisition, monitoring, collection and administration of our loan and servicing
portfolios, depository, general accounting and other management functions, as well as the brokerage functions we
perform. The failure of the automated systems, including a failure of data integrity or accuracy, could have a material
adverse effect on our business and financial condition,

In addition, our operations are dependent upon our ability 1o protect the computer systems and network
infrastructure utilized by us against damage from physical break-ins, security breaches and other disruptive problems
causcd by the Internet or other users. Such computer break-ins and other disruptions would jeopardize the security of
information stored in and transmitted through our computer systems and network infrastructure, which may result in
significant liability to us and deter potential customers. Although we, with the help of third-party service providers,
intend to continue to implement security technology and establish operational procedures to prevent such damage, there
can be no assurance that these security measures will be successful. A failure of such security measures could have an
adverse cffect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Breaches of our computer and network security systems may result in customer information being
compromised and/or identity theft. We maintain personal and financial information about our current, past and
potential customers on our computer systems and network infrastructure, such as customer names, addresses, social
security numbers, tax identification numbers, bank account numbers, information on loan applications and other
sensitive personal and financial information about our customers. In addition, our customers may use the Internet to
connect to United Western Bank’s website to retrieve information about their accounts and to conduct online
transactions, such as online bill payments. If the security of our encrypted computer systems and network infrastructure
responsible for storing our customers’ personal and financial data and information or the security of our online banking
Internet services is breached, then customer information could be stolen and misused. Such misuse could include the
loss of privacy resulting from the sale or disclosure of the information to third parties, credit fraud or other consequences
of identity theft to the customer. While we believe that our current encrypted systems meet or exceed all commercial
standards for network security, new criminal schemes or capabilities could compromise or breach our systems and
network infrastructure. If our security measures fail to protect our customer's information, our existing and future
customer base may be adversely affected, we may become subject to customer claims or lawsuits, our public image may
be diminished, and our results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected.

We may be adversely affected by changes in laws and regulations and the regulatory environment. Any
change in the laws or regulations applicable to us, or in supervisory policies or examination procedures of banking
regulators, whether by the OTS, the FDIC, the FHLBank System, the United States Congress or other federal or state
regulators could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

20




In addition, regulatory authorities have extensive discretion in the exercise of their supervisory and enforcement powers.
They may, among other things, impose restrictions on the operation of a banking institution, the classification of assets
by such institution and such institution’s allowance for credit losses. Regulatory and law enforcement authorities also
have wide discretion and extensive enforcement powers under various consumer protection and civil rights laws,
including the Truth-in-Lending Act, the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, the Fair Housing Act, the Real Estate Settlement
Procedures Act, the Home Mortgage Disclosure Act, the Truth-in-Saving Act, the Federal Trade Commission Act and
Colorado’s deceptive practices acts. These laws also permit private individual and class action lawsuits and provide for
the recovery of attorneys fees in certain instances. No assurance can be given that the foregoing regulations and
supervision will not change so as to affect us adversely. See Item 1. “Regulation and Supervision” in this report.

Sterling Trust is subject to regulation as a trust company and could be the subject of third party actions. As
a Texas chartered trust company, Sterling is subject to supervision, regulation and examination by the Texas Department
of Banking. Sterling’s activities are limited by applicable law generally to acting as a trustee, executor, administrator,
guardian or agent for the performance of any lawful act, and to lend and accumulate money when authorized under
applicable law. Sterling is also subject to Internal Revenue Service and Department of Labor regulations. See Item 1.
“Regulation and Supervision.”

Even though Sterling does not provide investment advice or maintain discretion with regard to the investment
choices made by its customers or their representatives, Sterling has been in the past, and may be in the future, subject to
claims by third parties regarding breach of contract, breach of fiduciary duty, or similar claims alleging violation of duty
or law. While we believe applicable law supports our view of Sterling’s duties, or lack thereof, in that regard, there can
be no assurances that we will prevail in any litigation or other proceeding challenging the matter.

Our ability to service our debt and pay dividends is subject to our ability to receive dividends from our
subsidiaries, We are a separate legal entity from our subsidiaries and do not have significant operations of our own.
We currently depend on our cash and liquidity as well as dividends from our subsidiaries to pay our operating expenses.
There is no assurance that our subsidiaries will continue to have the capacity to pay us the necessary dividends to satisfy
our obligations. In particular, the availability of dividends from United Western Bank is limited by various statutes and
regulations. Depending upon the financial condition of the Bank and other factors, it is possible that the OTS could
assert that the payment of dividends or other payments by the Bank arc an unsafe or unsound practice. If the Bank or
our other subsidiaries are unable to pay dividends sufficient to satisfy our obligations, we may not be able to service our
debt, pay our obligations as they become due or pay dividends on our common stock.

Significant legal actions could subject the Company to substantial liabilities. The Company is from time to
time subject to various legal claims related to its operations. These claims and legal actions, including potential
supervisory actions by the Company’s regulators, could involve large monetary claims and significant defense costs. As
a result, the Company may be exposed to substantial liabilities, which could adversely affect the Company’s results of
operations and financial condition.

Risks Related to our Business Strategy

We may be unable to fully implement our community banking business strategy. We are two years into our
community bank transition and in order to complete the execution of this strategy we must, among other things:

» attract sufficient commercial business and retail deposits;

s attract and maintain business banking relationships with businesses in the markets in which we serve;
attract and retain experienced and successful commercial and community bankers;

+ identify and pursue suitable opportunities for opening new branches in the Colorado Front Range and selected
mountain community markets;

e maintain adequate regulatory capital and comply with applicable federal and state regulations; and

e originate community bank loans and maintain adequate assct quality.

Failure to achieve these strategic goals could adversely affect our ability to fully implement our community
banking business strategies as well as our overall financial condition and results of operations.

We may not be able to effectively manage our proposed growth. Our business strategy contemplates, in part,
an increase in our franchise value by expanding into additional communities in the Colorado Front Range and selected
mountain communities through a branch network for United Western Bank. To the extent that we undertake additional
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branch openings, we are likely to experience the effects of higher operating expenses relative to operating income from
our expansion efforts for a period of time. We expect to open at least three full service banking offices in 2008 and we
may acquire other sites for future expansion. While we are committed to this strategy, our expansion could significantly
burden our infrastructure or we may be unable to manage this growth. In addition, we may enter new lines of business
or pursue other strategies intended to complement our community banking business plan implementation. Te the extent
we undertake such actions, we may experience higher operating costs and these new activities may not be successful.

We may not be able to attract and retain key personnel, Our business strategy requires us to attract and to
retain management experienced in community banking and financial services who live in the communities we serve,
Our ability to retain our existing executive officers, regional presidents, and community banking staff is important to the
successful implementation of our strategy. The unexpected loss of key personnel or the inability to recruit and retain
qualified personnel in the future could have an adverse effect on our business.

Adverse economic conditions in the Colorado Front Range and our mountain community markets could
impair the execution of our business strategy. The success of our business strategy depends primarily on the general
economic conditions in our markets because local economic conditions will materially affect commercial real estate,
including construction and land development, and residential loans originated, the ability of the borrowers to repay these
loans and the value of the collateral securing these loans.

If we divest other non-care businesses, it could adversely affect our financial results. We successfully
divested several non-core businesses in 2006. While we currently have no specific intent to do so, management could
seek to dispose of other subsidiaries in the future. If we do elect to divest any of our remaining non-core subsidiaries,
the effect of such disposition coutd have a material adverse impact on our results of operations and financial condition,

Risks Relating to Ownership of Our Common Stock

The trading volume of our stock is low. The tow trading volume in our common shares on Nasdaq means that
our shares may have less liquidity than other publicly traded companies. We cannot ensure that the volume of trading in
our common shares will increase in the future. Furthermore, to the extent shares are concentrated in a relatively small
group of holders, a seller could be subject to significant adverse price volatility and price fluctuation. At December 31,
2007, based on filings made by third parties with the Securities and Exchange Commission, we believe that six holders
owned 60.47% of our outstanding common stock. This includes shares held by our Chairman of the Board, Guy A.
Gibson who owns 1,297,531 shares, or 17.9%, of our outstanding common stock.

The issuance of additional shares may cause dilution and other risks. Qur Board of Directors may authorize
the issuance of additional common or preferred stock in connection with future equity offerings, acquisitions of
securities or assets of other companies. Furthermore, there are significant implementation risks associated with the
acquisition and intepration of another entity into our Company that could adversely impact our financial condition and
results of operations. The Board may also classify or reclassify any unissued preferred stock and set the preferences,
rights and other terms of the classified or reclassified shares, including the issuance of preferred stock with preference
rights over the common stock with respect to dividends, liquidation, voting and other matters. In any ¢vent, the issuance
of additional shares of our commeon stock could be dilutive to sharcholders that do not invest in future offerings.
Moreover, to the extent that we issue options, warrants or similar instruments to purchase our commmon stock in the
future and those options, warrants or similar insiruments are exercised or we issue restricted stock which subsequently
vests, shareholders may experience future dilution.

The repurchase of common shares that may result in dilution. Our Board of Directors has authorized the
repurchase by the Company of approximately 739,000 shares of our common stock, of which we have already purchased
360,200 shares for aggregate consideration of $7.1 million. The Board of Directors may authorize additional purchases
in the future without shareholder approval. If and to the extent that any future purchases are made at prices higher than
the net tangible book value per share of the Company, the value of the shares held by the remaining shareholders will be
diluted.

Control by our executive officers and directors may limit the influence of shareholder voting and could
discourage an acquisition by third parties. As of March 3, 2008, our executive officers and directors beneficially
owned approximately 19.97% of the outstanding shares of our common stock. These shareholders, if acting together,
would be able to influence significantly all matters requiring approval by our shareholders, including the election of our
Board of Directors, the approval of mergers or other transactions or events requiring sharcholder approval. This
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concentration of ownership, among other factors, could delay or prevent a change in control of the Company or
otherwise discourage a potential acquirer, which in turn could prevent our shareholders from realizing an acquisition
premium over the market price for their shares of common stock.

We may not have the ability to pay dividends in the future. The Board of Directors adopted a quarterly
dividend payment in 2007. While our Board of Directors intends to continue to declare dividends in the future if and to
the extent warranted by our financial condition and cash availability, the Board’s determination whether to pay future
dividends will depend on a number of factors, including but not limited to our future earnings, capital requirements,
financial condition and future prospects. We are also prohibited from paying dividends on our common stock if the
scheduled payments on our junior subordinated debentures and trust preferred securities have not been made.

Risks Associated with General Economic Conditions

General economic cenditions, whether regional or industry-related or due to a recession throughout the United
States, may affect consumers’ decisions to buy or sell residences as well as the number of residential mortgage loan
delinquencies and foreclosures, the value of coltateral supporting loan portfolios, administrative costs in evaluating and
processing loan applications and the costs and availability of funds that companies rely upon in order to make or
purchase loans. Changes in the level of consumer confidence, real estate values, prevailing interest rates and investment
returns expected by the financial community could make loans of the types originated, purchased, serviced and sold by
the Company less attractive to borrowers or investors.

Item 1B, Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

We believe that all of our present facilities are adequate for our current needs and that additional space is
available for future expansion on acceptable terms. The following table sets forth certain information concerning the real
estate that we own or lease:

Square Monthly Rent or
Location Feet/Acres Owned/Leased Occupant Mortgage
Payment
o United Western Bancorp and various of its

Denver, CO 62,487 [ epsed through October 31, 2016 subsidiaries S 114,000
Aspen, CO 1,563 Leased United Western Bank — Aspen office $ 1500
Boulder, CO 5,492 Leased (land lease)} United Western Bank — Boulder Branch 3 1,356
Denver, CO 6,492 Leased (land lease) United Western Bank — Cherry Creek Branch $ 2,500
Fort Collins, CO 1.27 Acres  Owned United Western Bank — Fort Collins Branch N/A
Loveland, CO 1.16 Acres Owned United Western Bank — Loveland Branch N/A
Longmont, CO 1.36 Acres Owned United Western Bank — Longmont site N/A
Waco, TX 11,294  Leased through June 30, 2011 Sterling Trust Company $ 13,553
Waco, TX 10,849  Leased through June 30, 2011 Sterling Trust Company $ 9,764
Phoenix, AZ 17,421 Leased through September 30, 2010 Matrix Financial Services S 10,975
Highlands Ranch, CO 18 Leased month to month United Western Bancorp 3 2400
Dallas, TX 6 Leased month to month United Western Bancorp $ 875
Thomton, CO 2,950 lcased through Apnil 2010 United Western Bank $ 3,000
St. Louis, MO 6,144 Leased through June 30, 2012 Equi-Mor Heldings, Inc. $ 14,125
St. Louis, MO 5,500 Owned Equi-Mor Holdings, Inc. N/A
St. Louis, MO 42,000 Owned Equi-Mor Holdings, Inc. N/A
Ft. Lupton, CO 389 Lots Owned Matrix Funding Corp. N/A

}
The Company guarantees an additional 23,171 square feet of office space at the Denver location (700 1 7th Street, Denver, CO 80202) pursuant to the sale and
leaseback of the building, which closed on September 29, 2006. See notc 16 to the consolidated financial statements in this report.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

General. We are from time to time party to various litigation matters, in most cases involving ordinary and
routine claims incidental to our business. We accrue for contingent liabilities with respect to litigation matters in
accordance with the requirements of SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies”, which generally requires the
Company to accrue a loss for a litigation matter involving a contingent liability if the loss is probable and the amount of
the loss is reasonably estimable. In order to determine whether the two conditions necessary for accrual are met,
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management necessarily makes a number of judgments and assumptions. Because the outcome of most litigation
matters is inherently uncertain, the Company will generally only accrue a loss for a pending litigation matter if, for
example, the parties to the matter have entered into definitive settlement agreements or a final judgment adverse to the
Company has been entered.

In many cases, these settlements or final judgments are not material to the consolidated financial position,
results of operations or cash flows of the Company. Nevertheless, an adverse decision in certain matters, as described
below, may have a material, adverse impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

United Western Bancorp, Inc. United Heritage Financial Group, Inc. and United Heritage Life Insurance
Company v. First Matrix Investment Services er al. On October 27, 2006, a complaint was filed against the Company
and First Matrix, along with Brian Curd and Kent Snodgrass, former employees of First Matrix, in Idaho State District
Court alleging violations of state securities laws, the Idaho Consumer Protection Act and fraud arising from the sale of
an approximately $1.7 million mortgage backed bond from First Matrix to one of the plaintiffs. The case, which was
subsequently removed to the U.S. District Court in Idaho on December 12, 2006, is based on the plaintiffs® claims that
First Matrix should have made certain disclosures regarding the risk of the withdrawal of a USDA government
guarantee of the bond, which withdrawal subsequently occurred and the bond went into default. In June of 2007, the
court dismissed the underwriter, Duncan Williams, from the lawsuit based on lack of personal jurisdiction. The
Company and First Matrix may seek indemnification for the claims made against them in this case from the underwriter
ot from other potentially responsible parties. While the defendants’ liability, if any, to the plaintiffs in this case is
uncertain at this time, the Company believes that the defendants have meritorious defenses to the plaintiffs’ claims.

United Western Bank. Ward Enterprises, LLC v. Daniel E .McCabe et. al. including United Western Bank. In
February 2008, the plaintiff filed a complaint in Colorado District Court for the City and County of Denver seeking
damages from the holders of an institutional account at the Bank, the Bank, and a former employee of the Bank, for
breach of fiduciary duties due to the plaintiff and aiding and abetting the conversion of approximately $1.84 million of
plaintiff’s funds by the holder of the institutional account maintained at the Bank. While the defendants’ liability, if any,
to the plaintiff in this case is uncertain at this time, the Company believes that the defendants have meritorious defenses
to the plaintiff’s claims.

The Company and the Bank have also been named as defendants in the Munoz matter described below.

Sterling. Douglas Wheeler, et al. v. Pacific Air Transport, et al.; Paul C. Jared, ef al. v. South Mountain
Resort and Spa, Inc., et al.; Lawrence Rehrig, et al. v. Caffe Diva, et af.; Merrill B. Christman, et al. v. Millennium
2100, Inc., et al.; David M. Veneziale, et al. v. Sun Broadcasting Systems, Inc., et al.; and Don Glazer, et al. v.
Technical Support Servs., Inc., et al. Sterling was named a defendant in several putative class action lawsuits (the “IRA
Suits”) filed in November 2000 in the U. S. District Court for the Western District of Pennsylvania alleging that Sterling
breached fiduciary duties and was negligent in administering each plaintiff’s self-directed individual retirement account
holding a nine-month promissory note. On April 26, 2001, the court transferred alt the IRA Suits to the Western District
of Texas, where they were subsequently referred to binding arbitration. The arbitration of the IRA Suits has been
abated, however, pending the ocutcome of the Munoz case described below. Sterling believes it has meritorious defenses
and is defending the matters vigorously. While Sterling’s liability, if any, to the plaintiffs in these arbitrations is
uncertain at this time, the Company believes that it has meritorious defenses to the plaintiff’s claims.

Heraclio A. Munoz, et al. v. Sterling Trust Company, et. al, pending in Superior Court of the State of California
(“Munoz™). In this complaint filed in December 2001, plaintiffs sought class action status for their claims alleging
negligent misrepresentation, breach of fiduciary duty and breach of written contract by Sterling. The Company and the
Bank, along with other unrelated parties, have also been named as defendants. In the fourth quarter of 2005, Sterling
was granted summary judgment as to all claims against it by the plaintiffs. Afier the order granting summary judgment
was formally entered in April 2006, the plaintiffs filed an appeal in September 2006. The pending appeal has been
briefed but oral arguments have not yet been scheduled. Since it is possible that the decision in favor of Sterling could
be overturned on appeal, the liability of the Company, if any, for the claims made in this case is uncertain, though the
Company believes that Sterling, the Company and the Bank will still have meritorious defenses to those claims.

Iiem 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matiers were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2007.
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PART 11

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

Common Stock Market Prices and Dividends

Our common stock, $0.0001 par value, is traded on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol “UWBK.”
The following table sets forth the quarterly market price for our common stock and cash dividends paid per share of our
common stock for 2007 and 2006:

Market Price
Quarter Ended: High Low Dividends Paid
December 31, 2007 $ 2230 $ 2000 § 0.06
September 30, 2007 25.27 20.55 0.06
June 30, 2007 25.99 23.45 0.06
March 31, 2007 24.01 19.82 0.06
December 31, 2006 $  21.28 $ 19060 5 -
September 30, 2006 23.89 21.28 -
June 30, 2006 23.89 21.25 -
March 31, 2006 23.90 18.70 -

At December 31, 2007, there were 7,264,224 shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding held by 147
holders of record, which excludes beneficial owners who hold their shares through nominees or in “street” name. The
closing price per sharc of common stock on December 31, 2007, the last trading day of the Company’s fiscal ycar, was
$20.00.

The Company’s management and board of directors are currently committed to continuing to pay regular cash
dividends; however, therc can be no assurance as to future dividends because they are dependent on the Company’s
future earnings, capital requirements and financial conditions. Also, the Company is prohibited from paying dividends
on its common stock if the scheduled payments on our junior subordinated debentures and trust preferred securities have
not been made. See Item 7. “Liquidity” and “Capital” in this report and Notes 13 and 14 to the financial statcments.
The ability of Sterling, First Matrix and United Western Bank to pay dividends to United Western Bancorp may be
restricted due to certain regulatory requirements. See Item 1. “Business—Regulation and Supetvision™ in this report.
The primary source for dividends paid to shareholders is dividends paid to us from United Western Bank. Our targeted
dividend payout ratio at United Western Bank is 33% of net income. In addition to adhering to our internal target
payout ratio, there are regulatory restrictions on the ability of national banks to pay dividends. See “ltem 1. Business -
Supervision and Regulation - Dividends™ above and Note 13 to the financial statements.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table provides information with respect to purchases made by the Company of the Company’s
common stock during 2007:

Total Number of Maximum Number
Total Number Shares Purchased as  of Shares that may
of Shares Average Price part of Publicly yet be purchased
Purchased Paid per Share Announced Plan under the Plan
January 1 through July
31, 2007 - 5 - - -
August 1 through
August 31, 2007 25,000 21.54 25,000 414,118
September 1 through
November 30, 2007 - - - -
December 1 through
December 31, 2007 35,200 20.23 35,200 378,918
Total 60,200 $ 20.78 60,200 378,918
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All purchases of common stock were made pursuant to the Company’s announced open market stock
repurchase plan. On November 13, 2006, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to five
percent of the Company’s outstanding common stock. There were 7,556,573 shares outstanding at the time the
repurchase was approved, which resulted in 377,829 shares available for repurchase. There were 300,000 shares of this
authorization utilized in 2006. On August 2, 2007, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to
5% of the outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock, which represented a total of 361,289 additional shares.
Management intends to repurchase the remaining available shares from time to time in the marketplace based on the
price of our common stock, our capital ratios, liquidity and other relevant factors. Qur ability to repurchase stock is
further limited due to various provisions in United Western Bancorp's debt instruments, the most restrictive of which is
our bank stock loan. Although we have no present plans to repurchase additional shares beyond those aiready
authorized, management may seek authorization to make further purchases from our Board of Directors in the future.

Stock-Based Compensation Plans
The following table provides information as of December 31, 2007 regarding compensation plans (including

individual compensation arrangements) under which equity securities of the Company are authorized for issuance. For
further information, see Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements included in this report.

Number of securities Number of securities remaining
to be issued upon Weighted average available for future isspance under
exercise of outstanding exercise price of equity compensation plans
options, warrants and outstanding options, (excluding securities reflected in
Plan Category nghis warrants and rights column (a))
{a) (b) ©
Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders 4} 899,583 $20.31 1,021,741
Equity compensation plans not approved by _ _ -
security holders
Total 899,583 $20.31 31,021,741

(1) Column (a) includes the options granted under the 1996 Amended and Restated Stock Option Plan, the 2006 Special Stock
Cption Plan and the 2007 Equity Incentive Plan. Column (c) includes 850,102 shares that are available for future issuance under the
2007 Equity Incentive Plan and 171,639 shares that are available under the Company’s 1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
(“ESPP"). There are no shares remaining under the 2006 Special Stock Option Plan. There are 384,590 shares that are available
under the Company’s 1996 Amended and Restated Stock Option Plan. These shares have been excluded from column {c) as
management and the Board of Directors intends to make al] prospective equity incentive awards from the 2007 Equity Incentive Plan,
Column (a) does not include securities approved by shareholders under the Company’s ESPP, which has a shareholder approved
reserve of 400,000 shares. Under the ESPP, each eligible employee may purchase a limited number of shares of common stock at
annual intervals each vear at a purchase price per share equal to 85% of the fair market value of the Company’s common stock as of
either the beginning or ending date of the annual purchase period. Participation under the ESPP was suspended for 2005 and 2006.
In 2007 the Company re-implemented the ESPP and issued 18,308 shares.

Performance Graph

The performance graph below compares the cumulative total sharchelder return on United Western Bancorp, Inc.
cotnmon stock with the cumulative total return on the equity securities of companies included in the SNL $1 billion to
$5 billion Thrift Index and the Russell 2000 Index. The graph assumes an investment of $100 on December 31, 2002
and reinvestment of dividends on the date of payment without commissions. The performance graph represents past
performance and should not be considered to be an indication of future performance.
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Index 12/31/02 12/31/03 12/31/04 12/31/05 12/31/06 12/31/07
United Western Bancorp, inc $ 100.00 $ 97.73 $ 13217 $ 19873 § 211.20 $ 213.54
SNL $1B-$5B Thrift index 100.00 149.99 169.98 168.49 193.79 151.17
Russell 2000 100.00 147.25 174.24 182.18 215.64 212.26

Item 6. Selected Financial Data
SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL AND OPERATING INFORMATION

The following selected consolidated financial data and operating information of United Western Bancorp, Inc.
and subsidiaries should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto and Item 7.
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” each of which is included
elsewhere in this report.

Information presented in this table is from continuing operations. This information excludes, for all periods presented,
the results of Matrix Bancorp Trading, Inc., a former brokerage subsidiary, which we sold certain assets and the
operations effective March 31, 2006, and ABS School Services, LLC, our former school services subsidiary, which we
sold to former executive officers of the Company on May 5, 2006. Both of these dispositions were part of our strategy
to divest certain non-core operations of the Company and are reported as discontinued operations. The results from
continuing operations include, however, the operations of Matrix Asset Management Corporation in which our majority
interest was sold in 2004, and the equity earnings generated by our joint venture investment in Matrix Settlement and
Clearance Services, LLC, in which our interest was sold in 2004. The results from continuing operations as reflected
herein are not necessarily reflective of the financial results that might have occurred had the dispositions referred to
above actually been completed on the indicated date, and are not indicative of any future results.

27




Statement of Operations Data
Interest and dividend income
Interest expense
Net interest income before provision for credit losses
Provision for credit losses
Net interest income after provision for credit losses
Noninterest income:
Custodial and administration services
Loan administration
Gain on sale of loans and securities
Gain on sale of assets
Litigation settlements
Other
Total noninterest income
Noninterest expense
Income (loss) from continuing operations before
income taxes
Income tax expense(benefit)
Income (loss) from continuing operations

Income (loss) from continuing operations per share
basic

Income (loss) from continuing operations per share
assuming dilution(1)

Weighted average common shares — basic

Weighted average common shares — assuming dilution

Balance Sheet Data

Total assets

Securities

Community bank loans, net

Wholesale loans, net

Mortgage servicing rights, net
Deposits(2)

Custodial escrow balances

FHLBank borrowings

Junior subordinated debentures owed to
unconsolidated subsidiary trusts

United Western Bank repurchase agreements
Other borrowings

Tota! shareholders’ equity(3)

Operating Ratios and Other Selected Data

Average equily Lo average iotal asseis(4)

Yield on assets

Cost of liabilities

Net interest margin{4)(5)

Return from continuing operations on average
total assets(4)

Return from continuing operations on average
equity(4)

Operating efficiency ratio(6)

Trust assets under administration (end of period)

Ratios of Earnings to Fixed Charges(7)
Including interest on deposits
Excluding interest on deposits

Loan Performance Ratios and Data

Allowance for credit losses
Nonperforming loans(8)
Nonperforming loans/total loans(8)
Nonperforming assets/total assets(8)
Net loan charge-offs/average loans(4)
Allowance for credit losses/
tolal loans
Allowance for credit losses/
nonperforming loans

Year Ended December 31,

As of and for the

1007 2006 1005 2004 1003
{Dollars in thousands, except per share data)
b3 121,559 $ 115,300 5 87,096 $ 70,573 $ 68,082
52,717 59,783 42466 30,771 30,683
68,842 55,517 44,630 39,802 37,399
2,451 2,341 1,480 2914 3,591
66,391 53,176 43,140 36,888 33,808
8,435 6,833 7217 7,853 6,781
6311 7,749 10,103 15,253 21,668
2,222 685 2,002 6,586 14,267
- 3,100 300 31,767 -
155 2,550 764 - -
3,860 8,274 8,203 17,743 17,920
20,983 29,191 28,589 79,202 60,636
73,925 68,861 74,005 85,270 95,147
13,449 13,506 (2,276) 30,820 (703)
3,308 3,593 (2.414) 10,817 (690)
3 10,141 3 9,913 5 138 5 20,003 3 (13)
$ 1.40 by 1.27 8 0.02 8 3.07 5 -
S 1.40 3 1.27 L3 0.02 5 3.02 s -
7,247,636 7,791,516 6,943,480 6,520,239 6,494 803
7,266,887 7,791,516 7,036,128 6,630,006 6,539,195
$ 2,096,110 5 2,156,548 b 2,079,388 b 1,888 860 b 1,723,924
661,781 838,979 540,194 316,367 152,508
697,732 395,266 254,991 218,831 239,343
557,049 760,455 1,098,394 1,150,708 1,104,913
11,971 15,399 20,708 26,574 39,744
1,385,481 1,345,681 1,124,044 1,119,159 974,059
34,172 40,017 49,385 51,598 85.466
406,129 519,431 615,028 506,118 458,204
30,442 56,216 61,372 61,835 66,525
76,428 50,000 - - -
21,000 10,000 29,581 31,573 47,970
113,421 107,753 180,728 92,315 69,684
5.42 % 512 % 507 % 448 % 39 %
6.09 5.63 4.75 4.54 4.70
3.06 326 2.56 217 2.44
346 2.74 2.44 2.57 2.58
0.48 0.46 0.01 1.11 0.00
8.91 8.92 0.14 24.70 (0.02)
78.41 74.76 92.08 58.50 66.91
$ 4,509,480 $  3,795.117 5 3,079,117 $ 18,195,726 3§ 13,280,435
1.25x 1.22x 0.95x 1.97x 0.98x
1.50x 1.35x 0.92x 2.45x 0.96x
$ 10,438 $ 8,762 3 9,997 3 1,172 § 9,789
10,475 8,398 16,894 31,345 31,450
0.83 % 072 % 1.24 % 227% 2.32%
0.65 0.564 1.03 1.82 232
006 029 0.20 0.14 0.23
0.82 0.75 0.73 0.8) 0.72
99.65 104,33 59.i7 35.64 3113
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As of and for the
Year Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
{Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Community Bank Loan Performance Ratios and

Data
Allowance for credit losses $ 8,513 $ 6,216 3 4,730 $ 4,877 s 4,150
Nonperforming loans(8) 1,709 1,961 7,744 13,622 8,871
Nonperforming loans/total loans(8) 024 % 049 % 298 % 609 % 3.64 %
Altowance for credit losses/

total loans 1.21 1.55 1.82 2.18 1.70
Allowance for credit losses/

nenperforming loans 493.1 317.0 61.1 358 46.8

(1}  Net income (loss) per common share assuming dilution is based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during each
period and the dilutive effect, if any, of stock options and warrants outstanding. There are no other dilutive securities.

(2) At December 31, 2007, 2006, 2005, 2004 and 2003, the total balance of brokered deposits was $13.0 million, $25.7 million, $42.5 million,
$247 .9 million, and $104.6 million, respectively.

{3)  Total Sharcholders” Equity at December 31, 2005 includes approximately $87.0 million in proceceds from the private offering. The Company
used approximately $79.5 million of the proceeds in January 2006 to complete the issuet tender offer and purchase shares of the Company's
common stock. This use of proceeds reduced total shareholders equity in January 2006. See Note 22 — Private Placement and Tender Offer to
the financial statements.

{4)  Calculations are based on average daily balances where available and monthly averages otherwise.

(5)  Net interest margin has been calculated by dividing net interest income from continuing operations before provision for credit losses by average
interest-caming assets.

(6)  The operating efficiency ratio has been calculated by dividing noninterest expense from continuing operations, excluding amortization of
mortgage servicing rights, by operating income from continuing operations. Operating income {rom continuing operations is equal to net
interest income before provision for credit losses plus noninterest income.

(7)  For purposes of calculating the ratio of carnings to fixed charges, eamings consist of income from continuing operations before taxes plus
interest and rent expense. Fixed charges consist of interest and rent expense.

(8)  Sec “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Asset Quality” for a discussion of the level of
nonperforming leans.

Fourth Quarter Results

Net income for the fourth quarter of 2007 was $3.0 million or $.41 per diluted share compared to net income of
$2.7 million for the third quarter or $.37 per diluted share. The Company reported income of $3.7 million or $.50 per
diluted share in the fourth quarter of 2006. The results of the fourth quarter of 2007 represented core earnings for the
Company. On a linked quarter basis, net income increased $320,000. The increase in income in the fourth quarter
compared to the third quarter was due to several factors: positive factors included an increase in net interest income of
$512,000, and lower expenses of approximately $3 mitlion; negative factors included a higher provision for credit losses
of $822,000, lower gains on sale of loans of $1.1 million, and higher income tax expense. Earnings for the fourth
quarter of 2006 included a gain from the exercise of our put option on our retained 25% interest in Matrix Asset
Management, LLC (“MAM™). We realized a pre-tax gain of $2.7 million on this sale, $1.7 million after tax, or $.23 per
diluted share.

The fourth quarter increase in net interest income of $512,000 was the result of several factors. The principal
factor was the actions management took earlier in the year to reduce higher-costing liabilities. The redemption of trust
preferred securities and the repricing of certain of our institutional deposits resulted in approximately $700,000
reduction of the $1 million decline in interest expense between the periods. Generally, the remainder of the decrease
that occurred in interest expense was due to the declining interest rate environment that occurred between the periods.
Overall, the cost of interest bearing liabilities declined to 2.76% for the fourth quarter compared to 3.04% for the third
quarter. Interest income declined by $516,000 between the third and fourth quarter of 2007. This decline can be
attributed to a decrease in interest income earned on the SBA purchased portfolio. Due to repayments from this
portfolio amortization increased $520,000 to $1.7 million for the fourth quarter compared to $1.2 million for the third
quarter. Continued runoff of wholesale assets also reduced interest income, which was offset by continued growth in the
community bank loan portfolio. The yield on interest bearing assets was 6.12% for the fourth quarter compared to
6.25% for the third quarter. The SBA purchased portfolio amortization caused 10 basis points of this 13 basis points
decline.

Net interest income before provision for credit losses totaled $18.4 million for the quarter ended December 31,
2007, compared to $17.9 million for the quarter ended September 30, 2007. Qur net interest margin was 3.73% for the
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fourth quarter of 2007 compared to 3.64% for the third quarter of 2007. The nine basis point increase in net interest
margin between the third and fourth quarters of 2007 was due to the factors discussed above.

On a year to year basis, we increased the net interest margin 81 basis points from 2.92% for the quarter ended
December 31, 2006 to 3.73% for the quarter ended December 31, 2007. This increase was the result of several factors
including: (i) the addition of approximately $300 million of average community bank loans between the periods, (ii) the
decline of approximately $407 million of average wholesale interest earning assets between the periods, (iii} the
repricing of certain of our institutional deposits, and (iv) the payoff of high cost trust preferred debt. Interest income
was relatively unchanged between the fourth quarter of 2007 at $30.4 million compared to $30.5 mtllion for the fourth
quarter of 2006. Interest expense declined $3.4 million due to the two factors discussed above thus increasing net
interest income. This combined with the $110 million average decline in assets between the periods caused the increase
in net interest margin.

The provision for credit losses was $1.2 million for the quarter ended December 31, 2007, compared to
$352,000 for the third quarter ended September 30, 2007, and $82,000 for the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2006,
The increase in the provision for credit losses in the fourth quarter of 2007 was principally the result of the $98 million
of net growth in the community bank loan portfolio during the period and the slow down of repayments in our wholesale
residential portfolio. In the prior periods, higher repayments of wholesale residential mortgage loans reduced the
required allowance for those loans. That decrease in turn partially offset the allowance required for newly originated
community bank loans.

Noninterest income was $4.7 million for the quarter ended December 31, 2007, compared to $7.1 million for
the quarter ended December 31, 2006 and $6.3 million for the quarter ended September 30, 2007, The decrease in the
year-over-year period was due principally to the gain from the sale of our 25% interest in MAM, discussed above,
continued declining loan administration income that is associated with our reducing mortgage servicing portfolio, which
was partially offset by continued increases in our custodial and administration services income from Sterling Trust
Company. Noninterest income declined by $1.6 million between the third and fourth quarter of 2007, as in the third
quarter we realized gains on sale of loans of $1.2 million compared to $92,000 for the fourth quarter and in the third
quarter we received a dividend of $405,000 from our investment in Matrix Financial Solutions, Inc.

Noninterest expense was $17.6 million for the quarter ended December 31, 2007, compared to $17.3 million for
the quarter ended December 31, 20006, and $20.6 million for the quarter ended September 30, 2607, Between the fourth
quarters 2007 and 2006, the principal factors contributing to the $277,000 increase in noninterest expenses were
increases in compensation and benefits related to the continuing implementation of our community bank business plan,
which was substantially offset by lower subaccounting fees and lower amortization of mortgage servicing rights. In
comparing the fourth quarter and the third quarter 2007, the principal factors that contributed to the $3.0 million
decrease in noninterest expenses were a $1.4 million charge taken in the third quarter for the redemption of trust
preferred securities, a charge of $583,000 taken in the third quarter to write down our wholesale held for sale residential
loan portfolio to the lower of cost or market and a $713,000 decline in subaccounting fees related to the declines in the
fate set by the Federal Open Market Commiitee, 1o which subaccounting fees are tied.

Income tax expense was $1.2 million for the quarter ended December 31, 2007, compared to $1.1 million for
the quarter ended December 31, 2006 and $495,000 for the quarter ended September 30, 2007. Our tax rate was 29.4%,
21.3% and 15.7% for those same periods, respectively. The tax rate for the fourth quarter of 2006 was impacted by the
deployment of approximately $10 million of New Markets Tax Credits, which lowered our taxes by approximately
$308,000. The tax rate for the third quarter of 2007 was favorably impacted by the resolution of an uncertain tax
position that reduced income tax expense by $474,000.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following is a discussion ard analysis of our financial position and results of operations and should
be read in conjunction with the information set forth under Item 1A. “Risk Factors,” and our consolidated
financial statements and notes thereto included in Item 8. in this report.

Overview

For the year ended December 31, 2007, income from continuing operations was $10.1 million compared to $9.9
million for the year ended December 31, 2006, Diluted eamings per share from continuing operations for 2007 were
$1.40 or 10% higher than the $1.27 per share in 2006.
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Total assets at December 31, 2007 were $2.1 billion, which represents a decline of $60 million from
December 31, 2006. Total community bank loans, net of the allowance for credit losses increased $302 million during
2007 to $698 million. Run off of investment securities and wholesale loans offset the growth of community bank loans,
which resulted in the planned decrease in total assets. We redeemed $26 million of high cost trust preferred debt during
2007 with available cash on hand and from lower costing short term debt.

We are entering our third year of our transformation to a community banking enterprise. We opened our fifth
regional banking location in Fort Collins in February 2008 and plan to open two additional locations, in Longmont and
the Denver Tech Center later in the year. During February 2008 we added a veteran energy banker to lead the
development of our new energy banking unit that will focus on loan and deposit products from private energy
companies. With the reductions in interest rates that occurred subsequent to year end 2007, we believe it will be
difficult for the Company to increase its net interest margin in 2008 at the same pace that occurred in 2007; however,
continued repayments of lower yielding wholesale assets and replacement with community banking loans should help
alleviate a portion of the impact of lower overall interest rates.

Results of Operations

Income from contiring operations was $10.1 million, or $1.40 per diluted share compared to $9.9 million, or
$1.27 per diluted share, for 2006 and $138,000 or $.02 per diluted share for 2005. The increase in income in 2007 as
compared to 2006 was principally due to the $13.2 million increase in net interest income after provision for credit
losses. The increase in net interest income after provision for credit losses was offset by an $8.2 million decline in
noninterest income and a $5.1 million increase in operating expenses. The decline in noninterest income was principally
related to 2006 nonrecurring revenues associated with litigation settlements, gains on sale of asscts, and monetization of
New Markets Tax Credits, The increase in 2007 noninterest expense was principally the result of additional
compensation and benefits to implement our community banking business plan, higher subaccounting fees, based on an
increase in the volume of institutional deposits upon which such fees are determined, and the redemption of junior
subordinated debt. For 2006, income from continuing operations had increased by $9.8 million from 2005 levels. Net
interest income after provision for credit losses increased $10 million, there were $2.6 million of favorable litigation
settlements and reductions in noninterest expenses caused by the divestiture of certain non-core subsidiaries, which are
presented as discontinued operations. Our results for 2005 included the transitional items associated with our
conversion to community banking. Those transitional items included expenses incurred for severance, option buy-outs
and other compensation related costs that totaled approximately $7.9 million and a $3.1 million charge to settle an
ongoing legal matter.

Details of the changes of the various components of income from continuing operations are further discussed
below.
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Net Interest Income

The following table sets forth for the periods and as of the dates indicated, information regarding our average
balances of assets and liabilities, as well as the dollar amounts of interest income from interest-earning assets and of
interest expense on interest-bearing liabilities and the resultant yields or costs. Ratio, yield and rate information are
based on average daily balances where available; otherwise, average monthly balances have been used. Nonaccrual
loans are included in the calculation of average balances for loans for the periods indicated.

Year Ended December 31,

1007 1806 1005
Average Average Average Average Average Average
Balance Interest  Rate Balance Interest Rate Balance Interest Rate
(Dollars in thousands)
Assets
Interest-eaming assets:
Community bank loans:
Commercial real cstate M 172,716 § 12,750 738% § 89,062 § 6076 682 %3 36,907 § 2,661 7.21 %1
Construction and development 157,796 14,394 9.12 49,177 4,557 9.27 41,356 3323 8.04
Originated SBA loans 96,848 9,136 9.43 99,992 9,541 9.54 99,043 7.754 7.83
Mulnfamily 35,464 3,615 6.52 60,618 3,638 6.00 170 4,133 5.81
Commercial 54,765 4,707 8.59 10,619 857 8.07 7,448 377 5.06
Consumer and other loans 4,419 T 287 6.49 1,151 74 6.43 506 45 3.89
Todal community bank loans 542,008 44,889 8.28 310,619 24,743 7.97 256,430 18,293 7.13
Wholesale assets:
Residential morgage loans 517,720 27.882 539 723,114 35,223 487 1,033,872 43,040 4.16
Purchased SBA loans and securities 213,311 10,393 4.87 282,421 17,435 6.17 204,104 11,100 544
Mortgage-backed securities 663,379 35,233 5.31 669,085 34,519 5.16 290,999 12,722 4.37
Total wholesale assels 1,394,410 73,508 5.27 1,674,820 87177 5.21 1,528,975 66,862 4,37
Interest-eaming deposits 20,382 1,012 4.90 21,253 1,066 4.95 13,340 420 3.15
FHLBank Stock 39,297 2,150 5.47 40,677 2,314 5.69 33,460 1.521 4.55
Total interest-caming assets 5 1,996,097 § 121,559 609 % § 2047369 $ 115300 563 %5 1,832205% 87.09 4.75 %
Noninterest-caming assets:
Cash 5 18,720 $ 15,360 b 35,681
Allowance for credit losses (9,238) (8,988) (9,247
Premises and equipment 11,321 15,341 18,197
Othier assets 82,585 100,375 100,683
Tota) non-interest bearing assets 103,388 122,088 145,314
Total assets $ 2,099,485 $ 2,169457 $ 1,977,519
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Interest-bearing liabilities:
Savings accounts $ 165 % 2 126 % § 218 3 142 %8 395 % [ 127 %
Money market and NOW accounts 1,198,094 25,759 2.15 1,052,600 20,350 1.93 881.219 11,789 1.34
Certificates of deposit 32,369 1,381 427 56,320 2,389 424 119,857 4,088 341
FHLBank borrowings 355,231 17,086 4.80 630,229 30,275 4.74 574,982 20,305 3.53
Repurchase agreements 72,354 3,494 4.83 9,315 468 5.02 - - 0.00
Borrowed money and junior subordinated debentures 59,742 4,995 8.25 71,582 6,298 8.68 77211 6,278 8.02
Total interest-bearing liabilities $ L3958 52717 306 % § 1820257 § 59,783 326 %% 1651664 § 42466 256 %
Noninterest-bearing liabilities:
Bernand deposits {including custodial escrow H 249,356 $ 214,068 $ 216131
balances)
Other liabilities 22,327 24,048 7,570
Total non-interest bearing labilities 211,683 233,116 223,101
Shareholders' equity 113,847 111,084 100,154
‘Total liabilities and shareholders™ equity § 2,099,485 § 2,169,457 $ L977,519
g— I —
Nel interest income before provision for credit losses $ 68,842 $ 55,517 $ 44,630
e ————1 s ——— ]
Interest rate spread 303 % 237 % 219 %
_— _— E———

Net interest margin 346 % 2.74 %
—— _—

Ratio of average intercst-eaming assets to average

interest-bearing liabilities 11646 % 112.48 %
f———1 —-.

Volume and Rate Analysis of Net Interest income

The following table presents the extent to which changes in volume and interest rates of interest earning assets
and interest bearing liabilities have affected our interest income and interest expense during the perieds indicated.
Information is provided in each category with respect to: (i) changes attributable to changes in volume (changes in
volume multiplied by prior period rate), (ii) changes attributable to changes in rates (changes in rates multiplied by prior
period volume) and (iii) changes attributable to a combination of changes in rate and volume (change in rates multiplied
by the changes in volume). Changes attributable to the combined impact of volume and rate have been allocated
proportionately to the changes due to volume and the changes due to rate,
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Year ended 2007 versus 2006

Increase {Decrease) Due to Change in

Year ended 2006 versus 2005

Increase (Decrease) Due to Change in

Yolume Rate Total Volume Rate Total
Interest-carning assets: tDollars in thousaneds)
Community bank loans:
Commerciat real estate loans 5 6139 $ 535 $6,674 $ 3,565 § (150) 53415
Construction and development loans 9910 (W) 9,837 2y 507 1,234
Originated SBA loans (295) (110} (405) s 1,112 1,787
Multifamily loans (323) 300 (23) (629) 134 (495)
Commercial Loans 3,7 59 3,850 201 279 480
Consumer and other loans 212 1 213 44 (15) 29
Wholesale assets:
Residential Loans (10,784) 3443 (7.341) (14,331} 6,514 7817}
Purchased SBA loans and securities (3,783) (3.259) (7,042) 4,685 1,650 6,335
Mortgage-backed securities (296) 1,010 714 19,144 2,653 21,797
Inierest-earning deposits (43) (1) (34 329 uz 646
FHLBank stack {78) {86) (164) 366 427 793
Total intcrest-carning assets 4,450 1,809 6,259 14,176 14,028 28,204
Interest-bearing liabilities:
Savings accounts (1 [43)] [E)] {3}
Money market and NOW accounts 2,987 2,422 5,409 2,603 5,958 8,561
Certificates of deposit {1,022) 14 (1,008} {2,529) 830 {1,699
FHLBank berrowings (13,557) 368 (13,189} 2,192 7,778 9,970
Repurchase agreements 3,045 (19 3.026 - 467
Borrowed money {1,002} (301) {1,303) 305 182 20
Total interest-bearing liabilities (9,550) 2,484 (7,066) 2,568 14,748 17,316
Change in net interest income § 14,000 3 (675 $ 13,325 § 11,608 $ (720) $ 10,888

Net Interest Income. Net interest income before provision for credit losses increased $13.3 million, or 24.0%,
to $68.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2007, as compared to $55.5 million for 2006. Our net interest margin
increased 72 basis points, to 3.46% for 2007 from 2.74% for 2006. Interest income increased $6.3 million to
$121.6 million for 2007 compared to $115.3 million for 2006.

Interest income on community bank loans increased $20.1 million on a $231.4 million increase in volume and a
31 basis point increase in the average rate. The increase in volume of $231.4 million resulted in additional interest
income of $19.4 million. For 2007, the yield on community bank loans was 8.28% compared to 7.97% for 2006. This
31 basis point increase in yield, which contributed $712,000 of the increase in interest income, was attributed to change
in the community bank loan portfolio mix as well as 2007 production that was generally based on the prime interest rate.
Change in mix included a smaller impact that the multifamily portfolio had on the total in 2007 as compared to 2006 and
2007 growth of commercial and commercial real estate loans.

Interest income on wholesale interest-bearing assets declined by $13.7 miltion, based on a $280.4 million
decline in volume partially offset by a six basis points increase in the yield on such assets. The decline in wholesale
interest bearing assets is consistent with our business plan to divest these assets in an orderly fashion over time as we
transition the balance sheet to that of a traditional community bank. The yield on wholesale residential loans and
mortgage-backed securities increased 33 basis points to 5.34% for 2007. The increase in the yield on this asset was due
principally to increases in interest rates from the assets reaching the interest rate reset date. The majority of these assets
within these portfolios are variable rate. Offsetting the increase in yield on residential loans and mortgage-backed
securities was the decline in yield on purchased SBA loans and securities. This yield declined 130 basis points between
2007 and 2006 due to repayments. In total, premium amortization on purchased SBA loans and securities was $5.1
million for 2007 compared to $2.7 million for 2006.

Interest expense decreased $7.1 million to $52.7 million for 2007 as compared to $59.8 million for 2006. This
decrease was caused by a decline in the average balance of interest-bearing liabilities of $106.3 million to $1.71 billion
for 2007 compared to $1.82 billion for 2006, and a decrease of 20 basis points in the cost of those liabilities to 3.06% for
2007 compared to 3.26% for 2006. The decline in average interest-bearing liabilities contributed over 100%, or $9.6
million, of the overall decline in interest expense for the year. The average rate paid for our interest bearing liabilities
declined by 20 basis points due to changes in market rates and management actions. Early in the third quarter, we
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redeemed $20 million of junior subordinated debt, which resulted in a lower overall cost of interest-bearing liabilities.
Additionally, the decline in both LIBOR and Federal Funds rates that occurred during 2007 contributed to the overall
decline in rates paid. As shown in the table above, the total of the 2007 versus 2006 increase due to change in rates
caused an additional $2.5 million of interest expense to be incurred by the Company. This occurred even though there
was an overall 20 basis point decline in the cost of interest-hearing liabilities, because the cause of the increase, money
market and NOW accounts had a cost of 2.15%, which was well below the total liability average rate of 3.06%.

Net interest income before provision for credit losses in 2006 increased $10.9 million, or 24.4%, to $55.5
million from $44.6 milfion in 2005. Our net interest margin increased 30 basis points to 2.74% for 2006 from 2.44% for
2005. The increase in net interest margin was due to an 88 basis point increase in the yield on our interest bearing
assets, which increased to 5.63% for 2006 from 4.75% for 2005 and an increase of $215 million in our average interest
earning assets. Average earning assets grew 11.7% to 3$2.05 billion for 2006 as compared to $1.83 billion for 2005. The
increase in interest income was caused by the community bank loans originated in 2006, repricing of certain legacy
assets, and general market increases in interest rates that occurred during 2006, For 2006, the increase in interest income
exceeded the increase in interest expense. The cost of interest bearing liabilities rose 70 basis points to 3.26% for 2006,
as compared to 2.56% for 2005. Average interest bearing liabilities increased $166.6 million, or 10,1%, to $1.82 billion
for 2006 compared to $1.65 billion for 2003,

Provision for Credit Losses. The provision for credit losses is determined by management as the amount to be
added to the allowance for credit losses after net charge-offs have been deducted to bring the allowance to a level that is
management’s best estimate of probable credit losses inherent in the loan portfolios. The provision for credit losses
totaled $2.5 million in 2007 compared to $2.3 million in 2006 and $1.5 million in 2005. The provision for 2007 and
2006 was a reflection of the increase in the size of the community loan portfolio and our decision in 2006 to reevaluate
community bank loan loss factors. The provision for 2005 reflected the wholesale activities that were pervasive in that
year. See the section captioned “Allowance for Credit Losses” elsewhere in this discussion for further analysis of the
provision for credit losses.

Noninterest Income. An analysis of the components of noninterest income is presented in the table below:

Years ended December 31, § Change % Change

2007- 2006- 2007-  2006-
2007 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

Noninterest income: (Dollars in thousands}
Custodial and administrative services $ 8,435 $6,833 $ 7,217 $1.602 ($384) 23% (5%)
Loan administration 6,311 7,749 10,103 (1,438) (2,354) (19} (23)
Gain on sale of loans and securities 2,222 685 2,002 1,537 (1,317) 224 (66)
Gain on sale of assets - 3,100 300 (3,100} 2,800 100 933
Litigation settlements 155 2,550 764 (2,395) 1,786 (94) 234
Other income 3,860 8,274 8,203 (4,4149) 71 (53) 1
Total noninterest income ’ $20,983 $29,191 $28,589  (88.,208) 5602  (28%) 2%

Custodial and Administration Services. Service fees for custodial and administration fees increased $1.6
million or 23%, to $8.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2007, as compared to $6.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006. The increase is due to increases in the volume of accounts and assets under administration,
attributable to the continued successful marketing efforts by management of Sterling. For 2007 total accounts under
administration increased approximately 16% to 58,622 accounts at December 31, 2007, as compared to 50,576 at
December 31, 2006, and total assets under administration increased to $4.51 billion at December 31, 2007, from $3.82
billion at December 31, 2006.

Service fees for custodial and administration fees decreased $384,000 or 5%, to $6.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006, as compared to $7.2 million in 2005. The decrease is duc to the sale of substantially all of the
assets of United Western Bank’s trust department in connection with the sale of our interest in Matrix Settlement and
Clearance Services, LLC (n/k/a Matrix Financial Services Solutions, inc.), which sale closed Aprii 30, 2005, The Bank
earned no such fees for 2006 versus $1.1 million for the first four months of 2005. Offsetting the decrease at the Bank,
service fees at Sterling increased $710,000, or 12%, to $6.8 million in 2006 compared to $6.1 million in 2005, Total
accounts under administration increased approximately 16% to 50,576 accounts at December 31, 2006, as compared to
43,491 at December 31, 2005, and total assets under administration increased to $3.82 billion at December 31, 2006,
from $3.02 billion at December 31, 2005,
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Loan Administration. Loan administration income represents service fees earned from servicing loans for
various investors, which are based on a contractual percentage of the outstanding principal balance plus late fees and
other ancillary charges. Loan administration fees decreased $1.4 million, or 19%, to $6.3 million in 2007 as compared
to $7.7 million in 2006. Of the total loan administration income of $6.3 million for 2007, $5.7 million represents fees
from our mortgage servicing portfolio at Matrix Financial Services and $583,000 represents fees for servicing SBA
loans at United Western Bank. In 2006, servicing income earned at Matrix Financial Services was $7.0 million and
$750,000 represented fees for servicing SBA loans. Loan service fees are principally affected by factors that include the
size of our residential mortgage loan servicing portfolio, the servicing spread, the timing of payment collections and the
amount of ancillary fees received. Our mortgage loan servicing portfolio decreased to an average balance of $1.2 billion
for 2007 as compared to an average balance of $1.5 billion for 2006, resulting in the overall decline in loan
administration income. The average service fee (including all ancillary income) was 0.50% in 2007 versus 0.47% in
2006, which is a function of the loans that remain in the servicing portfolic and level of delinquencies. Management
anticipates loan administration income will continue to decrease as its mortgage servicing portfolio decreases through
normal amortization and prepayments.

Loan administration fees decreased $2.4 million, or 23%, to $7.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2006
as compared to $10.1 million in 2005. Our mortgage loan servicing portfolio had decreased to an average balance of
$1.5 billion during 2006 as compared to an average balance of $2.0 billion in 2005. The average service fee (including
all ancillary income)} was 0.47% for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005.

Gain on Sale of Loans and Securities. Gain on sale of loans and securities increased $1.5 million, or 224%, to
$2.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to $685,000 for 2006. The gains reported for 2007 were
comprised of gain on sale of originated SBA loans of $2.1 million and gain on sale of mortgage-backed securities of
$98,000. The gain on sale of originated SBA loans was realized from the sale of loans with an unpaid principal balance
of $32.2 million. For 2006, gain on sale of loans and securities included $169,000 in gain from the sale of repurchased
FHA and VA loans that we acquired from our mortgage servicing portfolio, gain of $682,000 from the sale of $12.4
million of unpaid principal balance of originated SBA loans, gains of $274,000 from the sale of mortgage-backed
securities, and losses of $441,000 related to our purchased SBA loan and securities portfolio. The loss on the purchased
SBA loans and securities was principally related to a mark-to-market adjustment when we transferred trading securities
to held-to-maturity during 2006. We generally sell a portion of our originated SBA loans as part of our normal course of
business, both to capture gains and as part of our management of industry concentrations. Gain on sale of loans and
securities can fluctuate significantly from period to period based on a variety of factors, such as the current interest rate
environment, the supply and mix of loan or securities portfolios available in the market, the particular loans we elect to
sell and other market conditions.

Gain on sale of loans and securities was $685,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to $2.0
million for 2005. The gain for 2005 included gains on the sale of loans repurchased from our servicing portfolio of
$966,000, gain on sale of purchased SBA loans and multifamily loans of $540,000 and gain on sale of securities of
$490,000.

Gain on Sale of Assets. We realized no gain on sale of assets for 2007. Gain on sale of assets was $3.1 million
for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to $300,000 in 2005. Gain on sale of assets for 2006 included the
exercise of our put option on our retained 25% interest in Matrix Asset Management LLC from which we realized a gain
of $2.7 million, a $100,000 gain from the sale of certain assets of the Denver-based real estate brokerage operations of
MTXC Realty Corp, and a $285,000 gain from the sale of property owned by the Company in the State of Texas. For
2005 the gain on sale of assets included the gain from the sale of the assets of the United Western Bank’s trust
operations.

Litigation Settlements. Litigation settlements include amounts recovered as a result of legal actions against
third parties related to losses sustained by the Company in prior years. Litigation settlements of $155,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2007 represents the amount recovered related to a loan servicing matter at Matrix Financial
Services. Litigation settlements of $2.55 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 were comprised of three
recoveries, two at United Western Bank and one at Matrix Financial Services, related to lending and loan origination
issues. Litigation settlements of $764,000 for the year ended December 31, 2005 represented a matter at United Western
Bank related to a prior lending issue.

Other Income. Other income for 2007 was $3.9 million, a $4.4 million, or 53%, decline from 2006, The
decline compared to 2006 was due to $4.4 million in nonrecurring revenues eamed in 2006. Other income in 2007
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includes income ecarned on bank owned life insurance of $937.000, dividends from cost-method investments of
$405,000, prepayment penalties on loans and other loan fees not recognized as part of yield on loans of $1.1 million,
rental income from a parcel of property retained from the sale of ABS School Services, Inc. of $414,000 and other
miscellancous items that totaled $1 million. In 2006, the only other income from these same items was $888,000 income
earned on bank owned life nsurance; the increase for 2007 resulted from compounding of interest. Dividend from cost-
method investments was $162,000 in 2006; the increase for 2007 was related to the improved performance at Matrix
Financial Services Solutions, Inc. and the resulting dividends declared by their management. Prepayment penalties and
loan fees not recognized as part of vield on loans was $540,000 in 2006, the increase for 2007 was related to and
consistent with the growth of our community banking business. Income on the retained ABS School Services property
of $414,000 unchanged between the periods, Other miscellaneous items of other income for 2006 were approximately
$1.2 million versus $1 million in 2007.

Substantially all of the $4.4 million difference in other income between 2006 and 2007, however, was
attributable to nonrecurring items in 2006. Nonrecurring other revenues in 2006 included cquity in ecarnings of
unconsolidated subsidiaries of $462,000, fees from the monetization of New Markets Tax Credits of $2.2 million, and
rental income from our headquarters building of $1.7 million. Due to the sale in the fourth quarter of 2006 of our
remaining interest in Matrix Asset Management, we had no equity in ecarnings of unconsolidated subsidiaries in 2007.
Due to the full deployment of our allocation of New Markets Tax Credits in 2006, no monetization fees were earned in
2007. As we sold and leased-back our headquarters building in September 2006, the $11 million gain on that sale was
deferred and is being amortized into income over the life of our lease term. or 10 years, as a reduction in occupancy
expense. First Matrix generated fees of approximately $600,000 in 2006 when it was stilt active in the SBA pooling
operations.

In 2005, other income was $8.2 million and principally included brokerage revenue from First Matrix of $1.7
million, which was related to higher levels of activity in purchasing, pooling and selling of SBA loans, $1.3 million of
revenue associated with Matrix Realty for real estate disposition services, which we sold in 2006, on rental income from
our headquarters building of $2.1 million, income from bank owned life insurance of $885,000, equity eamings of
unconsolidated subsidiaries of $150,000, prepayment penalties on loans and other loan fees not recognized as part of
yield on loans of $862,000 and other miscellaneous items of approximately $1.2 million.

Noninterest Expense. Noninterest expense increased $5.1 million, or 7%, to $73.9 miilion for the year ended
December 31, 2007 from $68.9 million for 2006. Noninterest expense was $74.0 miltion for the year ended
December 31, 2005, The following table details the major components of noninterest expense for the periods indicated:

Years ended December 31, § Change % Change
2007- 2006- 2007- 2006-
2007 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

(Dollars in thousands)

Compensation and employee benefits 327,148 $22,309  $25843 34,839 (83,534) 22% (14%)
Subaccounting fees 22,851 21,013 13,447 1,838 7,566 9 56
Amortization of mortgage servicing rights 3,489 5,810 1,764 (2.321) (1,954) (40) (25)
Recovery of mortgage servicing rights - (276) (1,180) 276 904 (100) (77)
Occupancy and equipment 2,946 3.781 3.883 (835) (102) (22) (3)
Postage and communication 1,237 1,063 1,176 174 (113) 16 (10
Professional fees 2,584 2322 2,656 262 (334) 11 (13)
Mortgage servicing rights subservicing

fees 1,931 2,488 3.073 (557) (585) 22) (19)
Redemption of junior subordinated

debentures 1,487 176 322 1,311 (146) 445 (45)
Other general and administrative 10,252 10,175 17.021 77 (6,846) ! (40)
Total noninterest expense $73,925 $68,861  $74,005 $5.064 (§5,144) 79 (7%)

Compensation and employee benefits increased $4.8 million, or 22%, to $27.1 million for the year ended

December 31, 2007 compared to $22.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. This increase was primarily the
result of the increase in full-time equivalent employees at United Western Bank as we continued to implement our
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community bank business plan. Other factors included normal compensation increases for job performance and
continued growth and expansion at Sterling Trust. In 2007 we added a total of 46 employees, which represents an
increase of 17%. Total employees were 328 at December 31, 2007 compared to 282 at December 31, 2006. This
increase included 34 additional employees at the Bank principally for positions added to complete the regional banking
teams established in 2006, staff the construction lending team, the Loveland team, and additional personnel in credit
administration and consumer banking. The increase for 2007 also includes an increase of $393,000 of equity based
compensation under FAS 123 (R), which was $952,000 for 2007 versus $559,000 in 2006. The increase is attributable
to the increase in the number of eligible employees who participate in the equity based compensation plans. Also, in
2006 there were no equity based compensation instruments outstanding for the entire year. Please sec Note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements for further information about the impact of FAS 123 (R) to our results from operations.

Compensation and employee benefits had decreased $3.5 miltion, or 14%, to $22.3 million in 2006 compared
to $25.8 million in 2005. This decrease occurred because compensation and employee benefits expense for 2005
included $7.9 million related to severance, contract and option buy-outs, associated with our transition and the
resignation of our former executive management team. Absent these expenses, basic compensation and employee
benefits had increased approximately $4.4 million in 2006 versus 2005 due to the hiring of five new regional community
banking teams and the credit administration infrastructure to support our community banking implementation. Also
included in compensation and employee benefits was equity based compensation of $559,000, with no comparable
amount for 2005.

Subaccounting fees increased $1.8 million or 9%, to $22.9 million in 2007 compared to $21.0 million in 2006.
Subaccounting fees for 2006 grew by $7.6 million, or 56%, to $21.0 million in 2006 compared to $13.4 million in 2005.
Subaccounting fees represent fees paid to third parties to service depository accounts on our behalf and are incurred at
United Western Bank for custodial and institutional deposits. The increase in subaccounting fees was due to a
combination of an increase in the interest rates to which the subaccounting fees are related, as well as an increase in the
average balance of deposits for which subaccounting fees are incurred. Subaccounting fees are generally tied to the
targeted federal funds rate. The average rate was 5.05%, 4.96%, and 3.19% in 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively. The
average balance of custodial and institutional deposits that are subject to subaccounting fees were $1.1 billion, $1.0
billion and $875 million for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. We expect the balance of deposits subject to
subaccounting fees to decrease as a percentage of our total deposits in the future as we expand our community bank
deposit base.

Amortization of mortgage servicing rights decreased $2.3 million, or 40%, to $3.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2007 compared to $5.8 million for 2006, We have not added significantly to our mortgage servicing
portfolic since when we exited the morigage production business at Matrix Financial Services in February 2003. Our
amortization of mortgage servicing rights fluctuates principally based on the prepayment rates experienced with respect
to the underlying mortgage loan portfolio. For the year ended December 31, 2007, our mortgage servicing rights
portfolio experienced average prepayment speeds of 19.3% compared to 21.8% for the year ended December 31, 2006.
The average mortgage servicing rights portfolio in 2007 declined to $1.2 billion compared to $1.5 billion for 2006.

Amortization of mortgage servicing rights had decreased $2.0 million, or 25%, to $5.8 million for 2006
compared to $7.8 miilion for 2005, The decrease was due to a combination of the decrease in the average balance in our
morigage servicing rights portfolio to $1.5 billion at December 31, 2006 as compared to $2.0 billion at December 31,
2005, as well as a decrease in the average prepayment speeds on our servicing portfolio, which for 2006 was at an
average of 21.8% as compared to 23.7% for 2005. Amortization of mortgage servicing rights is included in expenses of
our mortgage banking operating segment.

We recovered $276,000 and $1.2 million of previously recorded impairments on our mortgage servicing rights
for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The Company is required to record its investment in
mortgage servicing rights at the lower of cost or fair value. The fair value of mortgage servicing rights is determined
based on the discounted future servicing income stratified based on one or more predominant risk characteristics of the
underlying loans. The Company stratifies its mortgage servicing rights by product type and investor, among other
things, to reflect the predominant risks. To determine the fair value of its investment, the Company uses a valuation
mode] that calculates the present value of future cash flows. Due to changes in the interest rate environment during the
periods, among other factors, an impairment recovery against the valuation of the asset was recorded. While it is not
possible to make a fair estimate at this time as to whether future impairments or recoveries will eccur, further changes in
market interest rates, or increases in anticipated future prepayment speeds, may cause additional impairment charges in
future periods. The impairment or recovery on mortgage servicing rights is included in expenses of our mortgage
banking operating segment.
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Occupancy and equipment expense was $2.9 million for 2007, which represents a decrease of $835,000, or
22%, as compared to the $3.8 million of occupancy and equipment expense for 2006. Occupancy and equipment
expense was $3.9 million for 2005. For 2006 and 2005 occupancy and equipment expense included $1.3 million and
$1.8 million, respectively, of costs incurred to operate our headquarters location. The decline in costs incurred to operate
our headquarters location occurred as a result of the sale of the building on September 29, 2006, Absent the impact of
the headquarters location, occupancy and equipment expense was $2.9 million, $2.5 million, $2.0 million for 2007, 2006
and 2005, respectively. The increases were related to the community banking business plan implementation. In
addition, the 2007 occupancy and equipment expense was favorably impacted by the recognition of $1.1 million of the
deferred gain from the sale of the United Western Financial Center. The higher expense in 2007 is reflective of our four
full service locations and two regional loan production offices opened at December 31, 2007 versus two full service
locations and one regional loan production office opened at December 31, 2006.

Postage and communications expense was $1.2 million, $1.1 million and $!.2 million for 2007, 2006, and
2005, respectively. The increase from 2006 to 2007 was principaltly related to growth of accounts and volumes at
Sterling Trust, and the branch expansion at the Bank. The decrease between 2006 and 2005 was due principally to a
decline in business activity at Matrix Financial Services related to the declining number of mortgage loans serviced for
others and lower shipping costs at the Bank as there were no whole-loan residential portfolios purchased in 2006 as
compared to 2005.

Professional fees expense was $2.6 million, $2.3 million and $2.7 million for 2007, 2006, and 2005,
respectively.  Professional fees include employment, legal and audit fees. The increase between 2006 and 2007 was
related to an increase in recruiting fees at United Western Bank and increases in audit fees related to the Company’s first
Sarbanes-Oxley audit. The decline between 2006 and 2005 was related to lower legal fees as certain matters in 2005
were resolved, and lower audit fees related to our change in independent public accountants.

Mortgage servicing rights subservicing fees expense was $1.9 million, $2.5 million, and $3.1 million for 2007,
2006 and 2005, respectively. These fees represent the cost of subservicing our mortgage servicing portfolio by a third
party. The decline in these fees is consistent with the decline in the balance of outstanding mortgage loans serviced and
our loan administration income.

Redemption of junior subordinated debentures expense was $1.5 million, $176,000, and $322,000 for 2007,
2006, and 2005, respectively. The 2007 figure represents the write off of unamortized issuance costs associated with
Matrix Bancorp Capital Trusts I, IV, and V and a prepayment penalty assoctated with Trust IV, In total $25.8 million
of unpaid principal balance was redeemed in 2007. The balance for 2006 and 2005 represents the write off of
unamortized issuance costs related to Matrix Bancorp Capital Trust I, of unpaid principal balance of $5 million in 2006
and $8 million, in 2005. The next potential call date of trust preferred debt is October 2009.

Other general and administrative expenses were $10.3 million for 2007, increase of $77,000 over the $10.2
million for 2006. Other general and administrative expense includes data processing, regulatory assessments (primarily
OTS assessments and FDIC insurance costs}, charges and recoveries related to recording our wholesale residential held-
for-sale loan portfolio at LOCOM and other general and administrative expenses. LOCOM expense was $583,000 for
2007, a $2.3 million recovery in 2006, and a $2.3 million expense in 2005. Beginning in 2005, our LOCOM charge was
based on a much larger residential loan portfolio than we have now, and in the marketplace there was a large increase in
interest rates and reduction in prices for whole loans. This amount was recovered in 2006 due primarily to continued
accelerated repayments of loans that had been impaired in value and modest improvement in market conditions as
interest rates stabilized. In 2007 we incurred another LOCOM charge, on a more seasoned and much smaller residential
loan portfolio.

Other general and administrative expenses excluding the LOCOM activity were $9.7 mitlion, $12.5 million,
and $14.7 million, for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The decrease between 2007 and 2006 was principally related
to continued reductions in charges at Matrix Financial Services relating to servicing advance reserves and recourse
servicing liabilities of approximately $832,000, a $950,000 recourse liability we established in 2006 related to the sale of
ABS School Services, Inc, and approximately $250,000 of costs associated with the implementation of Sarbanes-Oxley.
The decline between 2006 and 2005 was caused by the inclusion in 2005 of a $3.1 million charge to settle a former
litigation matter and an approximate $1.4 million decline in charges at Matrix Financial Services relating to servicing
advance reserves and recourse servicing liabilities.
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Income Taxes. The following table presents our income tax expense (benefit) for the periods indicated:

Years ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005
{(Dollars in thousands)

Current:
Federal $ 3,680 $ 5800 $ (1,538)
State 792 1,069 (177
Deferred:
Federal (1,065) (1,944) (670)
State (99) (180) (62)
Provision (benefit) $ 3,308 $ 4,745 $ (2,447

Income tax expense was $3.3 million for 2007, $4.7 million for 2006, and an income tax benefit of $2.4 miltion
for 2005. Our effective tax rate was 24.6% for 2007, 26.6% for 2006 and a benefit of 106% for 2005. Our effective tax
rate varies from our expecled tax rate of approximately 38.25% (35% federal and 3.25% state) due to several factors.
For the year ended December 31, 2007, our effective tax rate varied from our expected tax rate due to $968,000 of tax
exempt income, income tax credits from the utilization of New Markets Tax Credits of $1.8 million, and the resolution
of an uncertain tax position, which directly reduced income tax expense by $474,000. For 2006, our effective tax rate
was lower than the expected tax rate due to $1.3 million of tax exempt income, utilization of New Markets Tax Credits
of $1.7 million, and the resolution of an uncertain tax position, which directly reduced income tax expense by $198,000.
For 20035, our effective tax rate varied from our expected tax rate due to the loss incurred from continuing operations,
tax exempt inlerest income of $2.7 million and utilization of New Markets Tax Credits of $1.2 million. We anticipate
2008 income tax expense will be in the range of 26% to 32% of pre-tax income based on: remaining New Markets Tax
Credits, estimated tax exempt income and estimated pre-tax earnings. See Note 12 to the financial statements.

Balance Sheet

Total assets declined $60.4 million, or 2.8%, to $2.10 billion at December 31, 2007 from $2.16 billion at
December 31, 2006. Community bank loans, net of allowance for credit losses, increased by $302.5, or 77%. to $697.7
million at December 31, 2007, compared to $395.3 million at December 31, 2006. The growth of cur community bank
loan portfolio was the result of successful marketing by our regional banking teams. The growth of community bank
loans was offset by reductions in wholesale assets. Whalesale loans declined $203.4 million, or 27%, to $557.0 million
at December 31, 2007 compared to $760.5 million at December 31, 2006. This decline came from repayments and
approximately $23 million of residential loans that we sold during the year. Investment securities declined by $177.2
million in 2007, to $661.8 million at December 31, 2007, compared to $839.0 million at December 31, 2006. This
decline was the result of repayments and approximately $25 mitlion of available-for-sale mortgage-backed securities that
we sold during the year.

Total liabilities declined by $66.1 million, or 3.2%, to $1.98 billion at December 31, 2007 from $2.05 billion at
December 31, 2006. The change in liabilities was the result of a decline in FHLBank borrowings of $113.3 mitlion and
a decline in junior subordinated debt of $25.8 million offset by an increase in deposits of $34.0 million and other
borrowed money, of $37.4 million. Total deposits including custodial escrow balances, grew by $34.0 million, or 2.5%,
10 $1.42 billion during 2007. This increase was the result of the deposit gathering efforts of our regional banking teams.
During 2007, community bank deposits increased $41.2 million, or 86%, to $89.3 million. The increase in community
bank deposits was partially offset by a modest decline in institutional deposits. Junior subordinated debt declined as
discussed above in “Results of Operations — Net interest income.” The increase in other borrowed money includes a $25
million repurchase agreement with a money center bank, $1.7 million of retail repurchase agreements, and $t1 million
of borrowings on our line of credit that was principally used to repay junior subordinated debt.

In December 2005 the Company completed a private offering of 5,120,000 shares of our common stock at
$19.00 per share. In the private offering, we raised aggregate gross proceeds of $97 million, less placement agent fees
and other costs of $10 million. The net funds raised in the private placement were then used to conduct an issuer tender
offer to purchase previously outstanding shares of our common stock at $19.00 per share. By Januvary 23, 2006, the
Company had completed the tender offer, repurchasing 4,184,277 common shares for $79.5 million. After the tender
offer, we had 7,556,573 shares of common stock outstanding.
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Concurrently with the completion of the private offering, our former Co-Chief Executive Officers restgned
from the Company, and our new executive management team was appointed by our Board of Directors. Accordingly,
we incurred approximately $7.9 million in expenses for severance, option buy-outs and other compensation related costs

in 2005.

Investment Securities. The primary purpose of the investment portfolio is to provide a source of earnings for
liquidity management purposes and to control interest rate risk. In managing the portfolio, we seek safety of principal,
liquidity, diversification and maximized return on funds. See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” in this Item 7. and
*Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk - Asset Liability Management” and “Interest Rate Risk”
under Item 7A. in this report.

Our securities primarily consist of real estate collateralized instruments that are rated AAA or AA. We also
own approximately $62.9 million of SBA pooled securities, of which the underlying collateral consists of guaranteed
portions of SBA loans. During 2007, we acquired $4.9 million of securities for community reinvestment act purposes.
The average expected lives of our investment securities generally ranges between one and four years.

The following table sets forth certain information regarding contractual maturities and the weighted average
yields of our investment securities available for sale and held to maturity at December 31, 2007.

December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005
Due after Five Years Due after Ten Years Due after Five Years Due after Ten Years Due after Ten Years
through Ten Years through Ten Years
Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted
Halance Average Balance Average Balance Average Balance Average Balacce Average
Yield Yield Yield Yield Yield

{Dollars in thousands)

Mortgage-backed ] . - % $ 3,249 63 %* § - - % 3 5,019 6.47 % 3 13,706
securities-agency

Mortgage-backed - - 43,253 5.27 - - 47639 574 -
securities—private

Collmeralized - - 40,732 5.81 - - 88,878 5.80

Mortgage

Obligations —

privatc

SBA securities . - 442 5.13 - . 610 576 756
Total - available 87.676 556 142,146 5.80 14,462
for sale

Held to Matarity

Mortgage-backed - - 187,922 5.46 - - 228059 5.39 156,979
securities «

private

Collateralized - - N6 5.25 - - 384,280 527 264,031
Mortgage

Obligations —

private

SBA sccuritics 6387 8.35 56,430 7.74 8,669 8.29 75,825 7.55 -
Toral - heid 10 6,387 B35 567,718 3.57 8,669 8.29 688,164 3,56 421,010
maturity

Total AFS and s 6,387 835 % § 635394 557 % $ 8669 829 % § 830310 560 % 5§ 43242
HTM Securities

—

The contractual maturities of the Company’s investment securities portfolio is considerably longer than the
expected lives due to repayments anticipated from the mortgagors that represent the underlying collateral of the
securities.

At December 31, 2007 the Company’s mortgage-backed investment securities portfolio was approximately
3602 million. That portfolio consists of approximately 99.3% AAA or AA rated securities with the remainder in A rated
community reinvestment act securities. The mortgage-backed portfolio is comprised of approximately 13% underlying
Alt-A collateral, the remaining 87% is A collateral. As of December 31, 2007, none of the securities owned by the
Company have been downgraded by credit rating agencies.
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Loan Portfolio. Our major interest-carning asset is our loan portfolio. A significant part of our asset and
liability management involves monitoring the composition of our loan portfolio, including the corresponding maturities.
The following table sets forth the composition of our loan portfolio by loan type as of the dates indicated. The amounts
in the table below are shown net of premiums, discounts and other deferred costs and fees.

As of December 31,
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Amount Percent Amount Percent Amount Percent Amount  Percent Amount Percent
(Doilars in thousands}
Community bank loans:
Commercial real estate § 304,308 43.1 % § 224,660 59% § 130,981 503 %% 94,620 423%§ 85,663 351 %
Construction and
developrnent 255,722 36.2 87,068 21.7 35,206 13.6 34,307 15.3 30,579 12.6
Commercial 88,175 12.5 24,905 6.2 12,235 4.1 19,847 89 46,234 19.0
Multifamily 48,613 6.9 54,833 13.7 70,011 27.0 60,862 27.2 58,373 240
SBA originated
guaranteed portions 5,602 08 7.7 1.8 11,045 4.3 13,494 6.0 19,682 8.1
Consumer 3,825 0.5 2,845 0.7 243 0.1 578 0.3 2,962 12
Total community bank
loans 706,245 100.0 % 401,482 160.0 % 256,721 100.0 %% 223,708 100.0 % 243,493 100.0 %
Less allowance for
credit losses 8513 5,216 4,730 4,877 4,150
Total community bank
loans, net 697,732 395,266 254991 218,831 239,343
Wholesale toans:
Residential 442,850 9.2 % 606,693 705 % 885,740 80.2 % 969,202 B6.4 % 503,186 8l3 %
SBA purchased
guaranteed portions 116,084 20.8 156,308 20.5 193,883 17.6 127,390 1.0 160,601 14.5
School financing - - - - 24,038 2.2 30,402 2.6 46,765 4.2
Total wholesale loans 558974 _ 100.0% 763,001 100.0% 1103660  100.0% 1,157,003 _ 100.0%  L110552 _ 100.0%
Less allowance for
credit losses 1,925 2,546 5,267 6,295 5,639
Total wholesale toans,
net 557,049 760,455 1,098,394 1,150,708 1,104,913
Loans receivable, net $ 1254781 $ 115572 $ 1,353,385 $ 1,369,539 $ 1,344,256
——— 1 —_— E—— —

The increases for 2007 in commercial real estate, commercial, construction and development loans was
primarily due to the successful marketing efforts of our regional banking teams. We originated approximately $305
million of loans through our community banking teams and our SBA division. Overall loans increased $99.1 million, or
8.6%. Via the execution of our business plan, we anticipate continued declines of wholesale loans both residential and
purchased SBA, and continzed growth of community bank loans. We expect continued overall growth in the
community bank portfolio and continued change in the loan mix prospectively. We anticipate that commercial and
commercial real estate loans will increase as a percentage of the portfolio while construction and development loans will
not exceed current levels.

The following table presents the details of the construction and development (“C&D”) portfolio, net of deferred
fees, for the periods indicated:

December 31,
2007 2006

(Dollars in thousands)

Construction type breakdown:

Construction - 1-4 family $ 47,045 $ 40,382
Construction - commercial 53,051 5,530
Construction - multifamily 34,820 7,699
Construction - 1-4 family (consumer) 10,126 -
Total construction 145,042 53,611
Land type breakdown:

Land development 107,900 24341
Undeveloped land 2,260 9,116
Undeveloped land (consumer) 520 -
Total development 110,680 33,457
Total construction and development § 255,722 $ 87,068
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The C&D portfolio grew $169 million in 2007 to $255.7 million at December 31, 2007, and represents 20.2%
of our entire loan portfolio and 36.2% of our community bank portfolio. As shown in the table above, construction
loans were $145 million at December 31, 2007, or 20.5% of our community bank portfolic and land loans were $110.7
million or 13.4% of our community bank portfolio. Within the construction portfolio the loan breakdown is
approximately 32% 1-4 family, 37% commercial, 24% multifamily and 7% consumer. Within the land development
loans, more than $108 million, or 97%, are for land that is under development and is generally intended to either be sold
to contractors as lot loans for commencement of construction, or for which the current berrower will commence vertical
construction within six to nine months.

There are additional risks associated with C&D lending as compared to our other lending as discussed above in
Item 1. “Business — Community Banking Lending — Residential and Commercial Construction and Development
Lending.” To address and mitigate these risks we rigorously monitor the C&D portfolio. The C&D portfolio is
monitored for total overall concentration level for which our goal is to maintain C&D loans at less than 25% of our
overall loan portfolio. We also monitor geographic breakdown, and the overall C&D portfolio speculative to pre-sale
ratios as well as the factors that are relevant to all loans.

At December 31, 2007 we have defined nine geographic regions for our C&D portfolio, eight in Colorado and
one region for loans outside Colorado. Within Colorado, four of the defined geographic regions account for $213
million, or 83%, of the C&D portfolio, Denver metropolitan; area $108 million, or 42%, north-eastern Colorado,
principally Fort Collins, $45 million, or 17%; I-70 cormridor and mountain communities $34 million, or 13%; and
northern Colorado, principally Steamboat Springs, $27 million, or 11%. C&D loans outside Colorado represent $22
million, or 9%, of the portfolio. Our speculative to pre-sale ratio is approximately 60% to 40% at December 31, 2007.

Wholesale residential loans declined $164 million during 2007 and declined $279 million during 2006. The
residential loan portfolio represents loans that primarily were purchased in the secondary market prior to September
2005, at which time we stopped purchasing such assets. SBA purchased guaranteed portions represents the guaranteed
portions of SBA 7(a) loans we acquired prior to March 2006. SBA purchased loans declined $40 million during 2007
and $38 million during 2006. We expect the balance of these portfolios to decline prospectively, which is consistent
with our plan to reduce the amount of wholesale loans on our balance sheet.

The following table presents the aggregate maturities of loans in each major category of our loan portfolio as of
December 31, 2007, excluding the allowance for credit losses. Actual maturities may differ from the maturities shown
below as a result of renewals and prepayments or the timing of loan sales.

As of December 31, 2007
Less than One to Over Five
One Year Five Years Years Total
(Dollars in thousands)
Community bank loans:
Commercial real estate $§ 49418 § 80460 $ 85,135 § 215,013
Construction and development 179,273 75,235 1,214 255,722
Commercial 41,438 30,191 12,061 83,690
Multifamily - 10,466 38,147 48,613
SBA originated 4,453 5,084 89,845 99,382
Other 1,592 1,232 1,001 3,825
Wholesale loans:
Residential 771 8,260 433,859 442 890
Purchased SBA, guaranteed portions 41 1,435 114,608 116,084
Total loans § 276986 § 212363 § 775870 % 1,265,219

Loans, excluding the altowance for credit losses, which are contractually due in one or more years, are split
between fixed and adjustable rates as follows:

As of December 31, 2007

Less than One to Over Five
One Year Five Years  Years Total
(Dollars in thousands)
Fixed $ 27,024 § 90,763 § 123604 $ 241,391
Adjustable 249,962 121,600 652,266 1,023,828
Total {oans $ 276986 § 212363 § 775870 $ 1,265219
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Asset Quality. The following table sets forth our nonperforming assets as of the dates indicated:

As of December 31,
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
(Dollars in thousands)
Residential b 7.873 $ 5,859 $ 8,903 $ 12,157 $ 19,599
SBA purchased guaranteed portions 893 578 - - -
School financing - - 247 5,566 2,980
Total nonperforming wholesale loans 8,766 6,437 9,150 17,723 22,579
Commercial real estate 1,152 140 3,045 8,256 2,476
Construction and development - 645 120 158 -
Commercial - 159 373 1,076 146
SBA originated guaranteed portions 557 1,017 4,206 4,092 6,249
Consumer - - - 40 —
Total nonperforming community bank loans 1,709 1,961 7,744 13,622 8,871
Total nonperforming loans 10,475 8,398 16,894 31,345 31,450
Foreclosed real estate 3,109 5,403 4,526 2,955 8,538
Total nonperforming assets b 13,584 s 13,801 $§ 21,420 $ 34300 § 39,988
Total nonperforming loans to total loans 0.83 % 072 % 1.24 % 227 % 232 %
Total nonperforming assets Lo total assets 0.65 % 0.64 % 1.03 % 1.82 % 232 %
Total allowance for credit losses
to total nonperforming loans 99.65 % 104.33 % 59.17 % 35.64 % 313 %
Interest on nonperforming loans not inciuded in
interest income 3 483 5 700 5 875 3 652 3 1,084

As part of our asset quality function, we monitor nonperforming assets on a regular basis. Loans are placed on
nonaccrual when full payment of principal or interest is in doubt or when they are past due 90 days as to either principal
or interest. During the ordinary course of business, management may become aware of borrowers that may not be able
to meet the contractual requirements of loan agreements. These leans are placed under close supervision with
consideration given to placing the loan on non-accrual status, increasing the allowance for credit losses and (if
appropriate) partial or full charge-off. Non-accrual loans are further classified as impaired when underlying collateral is
not sufficient to cover the loan balance and it is probable that we will not fully collect all principal and interest. Afier a
loan is placed on non-accrual status, any interest previously accrued but not yet collected is reversed against current
income. If interest payments are received on non-accrual loans, these payments will be applied to principal and not
taken into income. Loans will not be placed back on accrual status unless back interest and principal payments are
made. For certain government-sponsored loans such as FHA insured and VA guaranteed loans, we continue to accrue
interest when the loan is past due 90 or more days, if and to the extent that the interest on these loans is insured by the
federal government. The aggregate unpaid principal balance of government-sponsored accruing loans that were past due
90 or more days was $3.4 million, $9.1 million and $11.0 million at December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively.
These accruing loans are not included in the balances of nonperforming loans above.

Foreclosed real estate represents properties acquired through foreclosure or other proceedings and is recorded
at the lower of cost or fair value less the estimated cost of disposal. Foreclosed real estate is evaluated regularly to
ensure that the recorded amount is supported by its current fair value. Direct charges to the basis of the asset reduce the
carrying amount to fair value less estimated costs of disposal are recorded as necessary. Revenues and expenses from
the operations of real estate owned and charges for necessary write downs are included in other income and other
expenses on the income statement.

Wholesale nonperforming loans increased by $2.3 million, or 36%, to $8.8 million at December 31, 2007 from
$6.4 mitlion at December 31, 2006. This population includes $893,000 and $578,000, at December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively, of purchased SBA leans that are guaranteed by the SBA. In the residential portfolio the $7.9 million of
nonperforming loans at December 31, 2007 represents 1.78% of the residential portfolio, as compared to $5.9 million of
nonperforming loans at December 31, 2006, which represented .97% of the residential portfolio. This increase was the
result of the factors that have negatively impacted housing nationally and as a percentage basis due to the decreased size
of the portfolio. We believe this 1.78% delinquency rate is reasonable in comparison to national averages. The
Mortgage Bankers Association reported that for the third quarter of 2007 seasonally adjusted delinquencies for prime
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mortgages was 2.73%. Our residential portfolio is a national portfolio with all 50 states represented. California is the
highest concentration comprising $152 million, or 37%, other states above five percent of the residential portfolio
include Iltinois 8%, Georgia 7% and Florida 5%, Of the 3155 million loans located in California, 44% were sold to the
Company with recourse back to the seller. If any such loan were 10 become nonperforming, we betieve that the seller
has the financial capacity to perform on its recourse obligation and that it would do so. The average loan size of the
residential loan portfolio ts $150,000 and consists of loans that on average were six years seasoned, were rigorously
underwritten at the time of acquisition, and bore average FICO scores over 700 with reasonable loan-to-value and debt
to income ratios. We believe the risk of loss associated with this portfolio is lower than losses associated with other
types of lending, which is borne by our historical loss experience from the residential portfolio.

At December 31, 2007, we owned approximately $333,000 of residential loans that met the regulatory
definition of subprime at the date of purchase or origination. In prior years, the Company, through our mortgage
banking subsidiary, Matrix Financial Services, originated subprime morigages and occasionally United Western Bank
purchased subprime mortgages., These activities ceased several years ago, and the Company’s current holdings represent
the remainder of such activities,. The Company is not now active in the subprime market and has no intention of
becoming involved in the future.

We are encouraged by recent increases in mortgage refinance activity, and the potential for repayments to
accelerate from the portfolio, however, we believe it is possible that nonperforming residential loans may grow as a
percentage of the residential portfolio due to the runoff of the remaining portfolio. We intend to focus on the reduction
of nonperforming residential loans further in 2008; however, no assurances can be made that additions to nonperforming
loans will not occur.

Nonperforming community bank loans declined $252,000, or 13%, to $1.7 million at December 31, 2007 as
compared to $2.0 million at December 31, 2006. There are no C&D loans included in nonperforming loans at
December 31, 2007, Included in real estate owned is $601,000 related to former C&D loans. This real estate owned
was related to legacy loans inherited at the time of our transition and is in the process of being sold by our credit
administration team. Net of SBA guarantees, nonperforming community bank loans were $1.2 million, or 16 basis
points, of the community bank portfolio at December 31, 2007, compared to $944,000, or 24 basis points, of the
community bank portfolio at December 31, 2006. We are very pleased with the performance to date of this portfolio and
with the performance of our credit administration team to reduce the nsks from legacy commercial loan assets that
existed at the time of our transition. We monitor the results reported by our regional peer institutions. Based on their
reported results, general economic factors, and our own analyses, we believe that deterioration of general economic
factors in the Colorado marketplace would probably negatively impact our portfolic, and potentially our nonperforming
assets. In such a case additional allowance would be required, which would in turn negatively impact our results of
operations. '

Allowance for Credit Losses. Management believes the allowance for credit losses is critical to the
understanding of our financial condition and results of operations. Selection and application of this “critical accounting
policy” involves judgments, estimates, and uncertainties that are susceptible to change. In the event that different
assumptions or conditions were to occur, and depending upon the severity of such changes, materialty different financial
condition or results of operations is a reasonable possibility.

We maintain our allowance for credit losses at a level that management believes is adequate to absorb probable
losses inherent in the existing loan portfolio based on an evaluation of the collectibility of loans, underlying collateral,
geographic and other concentrations, and prior loss experience. We use a risk rating system to evaluate the adequacy of
the allowance for credit losses. With this system, each loan, with the exception of those included in large groups of
smaller-balance homogeneous loans, is risk rated between one and ten, by the originating loan officer, credit
administration, loan review or loan committee, with one being the best case and ten being a loss or the worst case.
Estimated foan default factors are multiplied against loan balances and then multiplied by an historical toss given default
rate by loan type to determine an appropriate level for the allowance for credit losses. A specific reserve may be needed
on a loan by loan basis. Loans with risk ratings between six and nine are monitored more closely by the loan officer,
credit administration, the asset quality commitiee, and may result in specific reserves. The allowance for credit losses
also includes an element for estimated probable but undetected losses and for imprecision in the loan loss models
discussed above.
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The following table sets forth information regarding changes in our allowance for credit losses for the periods
indicated. The table includes the allowance for both loans wholesale and community bank loans.

As of and for the Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

(Dollars in thousands)

Allowance for credit tosses, beginning of year h3 8762 § 9997 § 11,172 § 9,789 b 9,343
Charge-offs:
Residential (673) (527) (1,373) (1,099} {1,362)
School financing - - (176) (328) (1,094)
Commercial real estate (26) (128) (292) (470) (636)
Construction and development (222) (500) (244) - (74)
Commercial (66) (115) (223) (72) (225)
Multifamily - (923) (680) - -
Consumer (34) 3 (64) (80) (139)
Total charge-offs (1,021) (2,196) (3,052) (2,049) {3,530)
Recoveries:
Residential 7 38 112 109 101
Commercial real estate 21 76
Construction and development 175 50 - - -
Commercial 43 18 92 40 110
Multifamily - 217
Consumer - 12 8 14 124
Total recoveries 246 411 212 163 335
Net charge-offs (775) (1,785) (2,840) (1,886) (3,195)
School financing — ailowance sold - (1,791) - - -
Provision for credit losses charged to operations 2,451 2,341 1,665 3,269 3,641
Balance at end of year g 10,438 § 8,762 § 9997 § 11,172 b 9,789
Ratio of net charge-offs te average loans 0.06 % 0.29 % 0.20 % 014 % 0.23
Average loans outstanding during the vear § 1,199,698 § 1,219.892 § 1411974 § 1,373,246 § 1,376,723

Net charge-offs were $775,000, a decline of $1.0 million from the $1.8 million of net charge-offs incurred in
the year ended December 31, 2006. Of the $775,000 in net charge-offs for 2007, 86%, or $666,000, was related to
residential loans.

Net charge-offs of $1.8 million for 2006 consisted principally of one multifamily loan that caused the $706,000
of net charge offs for such loans, $450,000 of construction and development loans related to a group of leans in which
the builder was convicted of fraud and $489,000 of residential loans. Net charge-offs for 2005, 2004 and 2003 were
related to the institutional and wholesale operations that occurred for those periods including losses related to the loan
production at Matrix Financial Services,

For the year ended December 31, 2006, inctuded above is $1.8 million of allowance for credit losses is included
in the chart above that was transferred to the purchaser with the sale of the loans owned by the Company’s former
subsidiary ABS School Services, LLC. See Note 24. “Discontinued Operations — Sale of ABS School Services, LLC”
to the financial statements.

The provision for credit losses was $2.5 million for 2007 compared to $2.3 million for 2006 and $1.7 million
for 2005. The provision is based on the results of our quarterly analyses of the loan portfolios and change in the mix of
the loan portfolios. Generally the increase in 2007 compared to 2006 was due to asset quality issues relating to the
wholesale residential loan portfolio and the $305 mitlion growth of the community bank portfolio. The provision made
in 2006 was due to community bank loan growth and our revaluation of loss factors related to loan loss reserve levels
associated with our loan portfolio. During the first quarter 2006, our credit risk management team revised the estimated
loss factors that are applied to certain loans to reflect our experience with inherent losses in these types of loans. The
provision for 2005, 2004 and 2003 related to the wholesale legacy assets and asset quality issues balancing those
periods.
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The following table shows information rcgarding the components of our allowance for credit losses as of the dates
indicated:

As of December 31,
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Pereentage Percentage Percentage Percentage Percentage
of Loans in of Loans In of Loans in of Loans in of Loans in
each each each each each
Category to Category to Category to Category to Category to
Amount Total Loans Amount ‘Tatal Loans Atnount Totzl Loans Amount Total Loans Amount  Total Loans
(Dollars in thousands)
Residential 5 1,869 3501 %% 2,469 52,10 %% 3377 6497 %$ 4,350 7238 % § 3,818 66.71 9§
SBA guaranteed
purchased
premium 56 9.18 77 13.42 99 14.22 153 9.23 55 11.86
Schoo! financing - - - - 1,791 1.76 1,792 2.20 1,766 3.45
Subtotal
wholesale
allowance 1,925 2,546 5,267 6,295 5,639
Commercial
real estate 3,234 24,05 3,210 19.29 2,898 9.61 3,126 6.85 1,744 6.33
Construction and
development 2,688 20.21 1,110 7.48 398 2.58 418 248 499 2.26
Commercial 1,030 6.97 429 2.14 245 0.90 393 1.44 997 341
Multifamily 822 3.84 864 4.71 728 5.14 568 4.41 463 431
Consumer 39 0.30 53 0.24 11 0.02 15 0.04 26 0.22
Unallocated 760 -~ 550 - 450 — 357 — 421 -
Subtotal
community bank
allowance 8,513 6,216 4,730 4,877 4,150
Total 3 10438 10000 % $ 8762 100.00 %% 9,997 160.00 % § 11,172 100.00 % $ 9,789 100,00 9

The ratio of the allowance for credit losses to total loans was 0.82% at December 31, 2007, 0.75% at
December 31, 2006, 0.73% at December 31, 2005, 0.81% at December 31, 2004 and 0.73% at December 31, 2003. The
balance of the allowance for credit losses allocated to residential mortgage loans has decreased in absolute terms
primarily due to a decrease in the principal balance of these loans. The allowance for credit losses for residential loans
was 0.42%, 0.41% and 0.38% at December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2003, respectively. The reserve in prior years was
impacted by the production activities at Matrix Financial Services.

The ratio of the allowance for credit losses for community bank loans to total community bank loans was
1.21%, 1.55%, and 1.82% at December 31, 2007, 2006 and 20053, respectively, The decline in the ratio of the allowance
is refated primarily to the improvements in asset quality between the respective periods.

The unallocated portion of the allowance for credit losses increased by $150,000 to $700,000 at December 31,
2007, compared to $550,000 at December 31, 2006. The increase in the unallocated portion of the allowance compared
to the prior years is associated with the increased concentration of C&D loans in the portfolio, certain factors relating to
legacy multifamily and commercial real estate loans and other qualitative factors associated with our loan portfolios and
our views of national economic conditions and to a lesser extent Colorado economic conditions.

As of December 31, 2007, we believe that the allowance, when taken as a whole, is adequate to absorb losses
inherent in the loan portfolio. However, no assurances can be made that further provisions and reserves will not be
necessary.

Mortgage Servicing Rights. The following table sets forth certain information regarding the composition of our
mortgage servicing portfolio, excluding loans subserviced for others, as of the dates indicated:

As of December 31,
2007 2006 2005
(Dollars in thousands)
FHA insured/VA guaranteed residential $ 408,191 $ 509,789 $ 645903
Conventional loans 628,139 773,715 1,019,964
Other loans 24,788 29,560 52,131
Total mortgage servicing portfolio $ 1,061,118 $ 1,313,064 $ 1,717,998
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As of December 31,

2007 2006 2005
(Dollurs in thousands)
Fixed rate loans $ 815,122 3 1,005,716 $ 1,287,506
Adjustable rate leans 245 996 307,348 430,492
Total mortgage servicing portfolio $ 1.061,118 3 1,313,064 $ 1,717,998

on certain bulk loan and bulk servicing portfolios.
servicing; however, a portion of the higher cost is offset by the collection of late fees.

As of December 31,

The balances of our mortgage servicing portfolio declined $252 million, or, 13.2%, to $1.1 billion at
December 31, 2007, compared to $1.3 billion at December 31, 2006, and $1.7 billion at December 31, 2005. The
decrease is due to prepayments of the underlying loans. In 2003, we sold the production platform at Matrix Financial
Services and at that time significantly reduced additions to the mortgage servicing portfolio. We anticipate continuing
declines of these balances prospectively.

The following table shows the delinquency statistics for the mortgage loans serviced through Matrix Financial
Services, excluding loans subserviced for others, as of the dates presented. Delinquencies and foreclosures for the
mortgage loans serviced by us generally exceed the national average due to high rates of delinquencies and foreclosures
The higher levels of delinquencies result in a higher cost of

2007 2006 2005
Number Percentage Number Percentage Number Percentage
of of Servicing of of Servicing of of Servicing
Loans Portfolio Loans Paortfolio Loans Portfolio
Loans delinquent for;
30-59 days 970 514 % 1,270 541 % 1,615 548 %
60-89 days 276 1.46 308 1.31 465 1.58
90 days and over 741 3.93 1,256 5.35 1,088 3.69
Total delinquencies 1,987 10.53 % 2,834 1207 % 3.168 10.75 %
Foreclosures 481 1.48 % 481 205 % 444 1.51 %

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the number and aggregate principal balance of the
mortgage loans serviced through Matrix Financial Services, including both fixed and adjustable rate loans, excluding
loans subserviced for others, at various interest rates:

As of December 31,
2007 2006 2005
Perccniage Percentage Percentage
Number Aggregatc of Aggregate Number Aggregate of Aggregate Number Aggregate of Aggregate
of Principal Principal of Principal Principal of Principal Principal
Raie Loang Balance Balance Loans Balance Balance Loans Balance Balance
{Dollars in thousands)
Less than 7.00% 6,024 5 514,393 48.48 % 7135 § 610,594 46.50 % 1,605 § 973,689 56.68 %
7.00%— 7.99% 5,255 316,638 25.84 6,235 391,229 29.80 5,533 365,046 21.24
8.00%— 8.99% 2,541 107,873 10.17 3,726 150,343 1145 4,335 164,194 9.56
9.00%— 9.99% 1,873 44915 423 2,561 60,241 4.59 3,363 82,616 4.81
10.00% and over 3,183 77,279 7.28 3,809 100,657 7.66 4,641 132,453 7.71
Total 18,876 § 1,061,118 100.00 % 23,466  § 1,313,064 100.00 % 29477 § 1717998 100.00 %

Loan administration fees decrease as the principal balance on the outstanding loan decreases and as the

remaining time to maturity of the loan shortens,

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the
remaining coniractual maturity of the mortgage loans serviced through Matrix Financial Services, excluding loans
subserviced for others, as of the dates shown.

As of December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Percentage Percentage Percentage
Number Percentage Unpaid Unpaid Number Percenage Unpaid Unpaid Number Percentage Urpaid Unpaid
of of Number Principal Principal of of Nurnber Principal Principal of of Number Principal Principal
Maturity Loans of Loans Arnount Amount Loans of Loans Amount Amount Loans of Loans Amount Amount
(Dallars in thousunds)
— 5 years 3,666 1941 % § 28,943 273 % 5222 2225 % % 49,625 378 % 7,200 2443 % § 88,183 5.13%
—10 years 3342 17.71 120,663 11.37 3,005 12.81 95,884 7.30 2,840 9.63 86,265 5.02
—15 years 2,321 12.30 114,538 10.7% 314 14.12 169,894 12.94 4,547 15.43 231,723 13.49
—20 years 2,127 11.27 135,904 12,81 2,591 11.04 167,741 1297 3,101 10.52 197,970 11.52
—25 years 6,252 33.12 504,702 47.56 4,962 21.1% 365,830 27.86 3905 13.25 268,121 15.61
ore than 25 years 1,168 6.19 156,368 14.74 4372 18.63 464,090 3535 7.884 26.74 845,736 4923
Total 18,876 10000 % $ 1,061,118 100.00 % 23,466 100.00 % $ 1,313,064 100.00 % 29,477 100,00 % § 1,717,998 100.00%
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The Company’s servicing activity is diversified throughout 50 states with concentrations at December 31, 2007,
in Missouri, Texas, New Mexico, lllinois and California of approximately 15%, 14%, 12%, 11%, and 8%, respectively,
based on aggregate outstanding unpaid principal balances of the mortgage loans serviced at December 31, 2007.

A significant risk of owning mortgage servicing rights is that the underlying loans prepay at a rate faster than
predicted at acquisition. During periods of declining interest rates, prepayments of mortgage loans usually increase as
homeowners seek to refinance at lower interest rates, resulting in a decrease in the value of the servicing portfolio.
Mortgage loans with higher interest rates and/or higher principal balances are more likely to result in prepayments
because the cost savings to the borrower from refinancing can be significant. Due to the prevalent low interest rate
environment that existed, primarily 2005, the actual prepayment activity experienced was greater than initially modeled
when the servicing was either acquired or capitalized.

The following table shows the annualized prepayment rate for each quarter and the annual average prepayment
rate experience on the mortgage loans serviced by Matrix Financial Services, excluding loans subserviced by and for
others:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Quarter ended:
December 31 165 % 205 % 239 %
September 30 19.3 21.0 26.9
June 30 208 243 241
March 31 20.7 21.1 19.8
Annual average 193 % 2.7 % 237 %

Valuation of Servicing Rights. Our servicing portfolio is valued at least quarterly in accordance with the
guidelines set forth in SFAS 140, “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of
Liabilities.” Under SFAS 14€, we are required to record our investment in mortgage servicing rights at the lower of cost
or fair value. The fair value of mortgage servicing rights is determined based on the discounted future servicing income
stratified based on one or more predominant risk characteristics of the underlying loans. We stratify our mortgage
servicing rights by product type and investor to reflect the predominant risks. To determine the fair value of this
investment, we usc a valuation model that calculates the present value of discounted future cash flows. In 2007, we
made no material changes to the significant assumptions inherent in the valuation of the servicing portfolio. These
significant assumptions are more fully described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in
this report.

During the year ended December 31, 2007, based on our servicing valuation model, we recorded a permanent
impairment of $1.1 million. At December 31, 2006, we had established a $2.0 million valuation allowance for the
impairment of mortgage servicing rights. During 2007, we determined it was remote that the previously recorded
impairment would be recovered and thus reduced the balance of the mortgage servicing rights asset and valuation
allowance by $1.1 million. In the year ended December 31, 2006 we recorded a net recovery of $276,000 compared to a
net recovery $1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. Impairment recoveries were highly correlated to the
changes in interest rates and resultant mortgage loan prepayment speeds that occurred during those periods. Prepayment
speeds are highly impacted by changes in interest rates, as when interest rates decline there is a greater incentive for the
homeowners to refinance their mortgages. Our impairment reserve as of December 31, 2007 was $860,000. Further
decreases in interest rates, or other factors that result in an increase in anticipated future prepayment speeds, may cause
additional impairment charges in future periods. It is possible to hedge the risk associated with declines in the value of
mortgage servicing rights with derivatives; however, based on the underlying characteristics of our portfolio, and our
decision not to increase our investment in mortgage servicing, we do not currently anticipate that we will enter into any
future hedge specific to our investment for the foreseeable future.

Sources of Funds. Deposits, short-term and long-term borrowings, including junior subordinated notes owed
to unconsolidated subsidiarics, loan and investment security repayments and proceeds from the sale of securities, and
cash flows generated from operations are the primary sources of our funds for lending, investing, and other gencral
purposes. Loan repayments are a relatively predictable source of funds except during periods of significant interest rate
declines, while deposit flows tend to fluctuate with prevailing interests rates, money markets conditions, general
economic conditions and competition.
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Deposits. United Western Bank offers a variety of deposit accounts with a range of interest rates and terms.
The Bank’s core deposits consist of retail and institutional checking accounts, NOW accounts, money market accounts,
and retail savings accounts and certificates of deposit. These deposits, along with brokered deposits, and short-term and
long-term borrowings, are used to support our asset base. Retail deposits are obtained predominantly from the
geographic trade areas surrounding our regional office locations. Institutional deposits are obtained nationatly, The
Bank relies primarily on customer service and relationships with customers to attract and retain deposits, however,
market interest rates and rates offered by competing financial institutions significantly affect our ability to attract and
retain deposits.

United Western Bank will focus on generating traditional deposits from its expansion of community banking
services through the opening of branch locations along the Colorado Front Range and selected mountain communities,
Over time these deposits are anticipated to fund a significant portien of our liquidity needs for our community banking
strategy.

The following table sets forth the balances for each major category of the Company’s deposit accounts and the
weighted-average interest rates paid for interest-bearing deposits for the periods indicated:

December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005
Average Average Average
Amount Rate Amount Rate Amount Rate

(Dollars in thousands)

Noninterest bearing deposits $ 226,259 0.00% $ 150,569 0.00% $ 182,548 0.00%
Savings accounts 148 1.26% 115 1.42% 405 1.27%
Money market and NOW accounts 1,129,091 2.15% 1,119,623 1.93% 894,416 1.34%
Certificate accounts 29,983 4.27% 35,374 4.24% 46,675 3.41%
Total deposits $1,385,481 1.84% $1,345,681 1.72% 51,124,044 1.21%

Total deposits increased $40 million between December 31, 2007 and 2006. This increase was caused by
growth of deposits principally from our four open banking offices; however, all regional banking teams contributed to
the increase in deposits. Growth of $222 million of deposits occurred between 2006 and 2005 which was principally
related to increases in institutional deposits as shown below.

The following table sets forth the balances for categories of deposits and custodial escrow balances of the
Company by source for the periods indicated:
December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005
(Dollars in thousands)

Community bank deposits $ 89338 $ 48,157 b 11,414
Brokered certificates of deposit 13,025 25,708 42.504
Sterling Trust Company 404,615 372,716 288,622
Matrix Financial Services Corp. 18,256 24,096 36,993
Matrix Financial Services Solutions, Inc. 236,436 195,249 173,222
Legent Clearing, LLC 163,527 118,844 -
Deposit concentrations 478,575 573,850 543,885
Other wholesale deposits 15,881 27,078 76,789
Deposits and custodial escrow balances $1,419,653 $1,385,698 $1,173,429

Community bank deposits represent deposits attracted by our regional banking teams. The growth in the past
two years is consistent with expectations and a part of our community banking strategy. We are reducing reliance on
brokered CDs due to the overall cost of this product and the availability of other wholesale sources of liabilities at
competing interest rates. Sterling and Matrix Financial Services Corporation are our wholly owned subsidiaries. The
growth of deposits from Sterling is related to the overall growth Sterling is experiencing, the decline at Matrix Financial
Services Corp is related to the declining mortgage servicing business and our decision to reduce that activity. Included
in the balances from Sterling is an account for one life settlement agent for special asset acquisitions and administration
with a balance of $103,830,000 and $54,356,000 at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively.
Management has elected to restructure this relationship and terminate certain elements of business with respect to this
large life settlement agent account. The restructured relationship will now allow the Company to pursue business in the
same industry on a non-exclusive basis. If Sterling cannot replace this business with deposits from other clients the
aggregate deposits directed to the Bank by Sterling could decline materially in 2008. Matrix Financial Services
Solutions, Inc. (“*MFSI™) are deposits that represent customer assets under administration by MFSL. The Company owns
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an approximate 7% interest in MFSI. Growth in these deposits over the three years is associated with the overall growth
in business experienced by MFSI. Legent Clearing, LLC are deposits that represent institutional deposits received
through Legent Clearing, LLC. United Western Bank acquired these deposits in the second quarter of 2006. Deposit
concentrations are deposits that represent deposit funds from three, six and four institutional relationships maintained by
United Western Bank as of December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively. Included in deposit concentrations is one
institutional relationship with balances of $455.8 miltion, $461.6 million and $436.7 million at December 31, 2007,
2006, and 2005, respectively. During the third quarter of 2007, we repriced certain of the Company’s institutional
deposits, principally those included in the deposit concentrations and other wholesale deposits line in the above table.
While the repricing resulted in a withdrawal of some of these deposits, the Company was able to reduce the overall cost
of interest bearing liabilities. Sce Item 1A. “Risk Factors — Risk Related to Our Business” in this report and Note 8 —
“Deposits” to the financial statements,

We have historically relied upon the use of brokered deposits as an alternative funding source, which allows us
flexibility in managing our overall interest expense; however, prospectively we intend to rely on this source to a lesser
extent.

The following table sets forth the amount of United Western Bank’s certificates of deposit that are greater than
$100,000 by time remaining until maturity as of December 31, 2007.

Weighted
Amount Average Rate
Paid
(Dollars in thousands}
Three months or less 3 2,802 441 %
Over three months through six months 2,816 472
Over six months through twelve months 5,492 5.44
Over twelve months 896 4.81
Total $ 12,006 498 %

Borrowings. We have access to a variety of funding sources and use various instruments both short-term and
long-term to support our assct base. Borrowings include securities sold under agreements to repurchase, FHLBank
borrowings and lines with a third party financial institution. At December 31, 2007, short term borrowings consisted of
$199.3 million of borrowings with a maturity of one week or less from FHLBank of Topeka and $11 million borrowed
from a third party financial institution. At December 31, 2006, short term borrowings consisted of $362.5 million of
advances with a maturity of less than one week. Short-term borrowings declined in 2007 due to the decline in the size of
our balance sheet and utilization of other forms of funding.

The following table sets forth a summary of our borrowings during 2007, 2006 and 2005 and as of the end of
each such period:

Average
Amount Amount Maximum Weighted Weighted
Outstanding Outstanding Qutstanding  Average Interest  Average Interest
at During the at any Rate During Rate at
Year-End Year(l) Month-End the Year Year-End
{Dallars in thousands}
At or for the year ended December 31, 2007:
FHLBank borrowings(2) S 406,129 § 351,231 S 454423 480 % 4.46
Repurchase Agreements 76,428 72,354 77.460 4.83 4,63
Revolving lines of credit 5,000 2,205 5,000 6.38 6.27
Advancing line 6,000 2,647 6,000 6.38 6.27
Subordinated debt 10.000 10,000 10,000 B.05 7.73
Total at December 31, 2007 $ 503,557
At or for the year ended December 31, 2006:
FHLBank borrowings(3) § 519,431 $ 630229 $ 736,020 474 % 5.03
Repurchase Agrecments 50,000 9,315 50,000 4.95 4.94
School financing - 5,302 16,305 6.06 -
Subordinated debt 10,000 10,000 10,000 7.95 8.1
Total at December 31, 2006 $ 579,431
At or for the year ended December 31, 2005:
FHLBank borrowings(4) 5 615028 $ 574982 8 650,066 353 % 4.12
Revolving lines of credit - 33 - 6.86 -
School financing 16,364 14,844 17,032 6.06 6.27
Subordinated debt 10,000 10,000 10,000 6.32 7.29

Total at December 31, 2005

3 641,392
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(1)  Calculations are based on daily averages where available and monthty averages otherwise.

(2) A total of $206.0 million of the FHLBank borrowings outstanding at December 31, 2007 were borrowed under short option advance agreements
with the FHLBank. The interest rates on the short option advance borrowings ranged from 3.27% to 5.63% at December 31, 2007 and their
possible call dates varied from January 2008 to September 2009, A total of $20.0 million of the FHLBank borrowings outstanding at December
31, 2007 were borrowed under fixed rate advance agreements. The interest rates on the advances ranged from 3.92% to 4.30% at December 31,
2007 and their matwrity dates were May 2008 and November 2009. Additionally, $829,000 of the FHLBank borrowings outstanding at
December 31, 2007 are fixed-term/rate advances, which were to offset specific loans originated by United Western Bank. The principal amount
of these fixed-term/rate advances adjusts monthly based on an amortization schedule. The interest rate on the fixed-term/rate advances was
5.84%, and their maturity date is June 2014,

(3) A total of $146.0 million of the FHLBank borrowings outstanding at December 31, 2006 were borrowed under short option advance agreements
with the FHLBank. The interest rates on the short option advance borrowings ranged from 3.27% to 5.63% at December 31, 2006 and their
possible call dates varied from January 2007 to Scptember 2009. A total of $10.0 million of the FHLBank borrowings outstanding at
December 31, 2006 were borrowed under fixed rate advance agreements. The interest rate on the fixed rate advance was 3.92% at December 31,
2006, and the maturity date is May 2008. Additionally, $931,000 of the FHLBank borrowings outstanding at December 31, 2006 are fixed-
term/rate advances, which were borrowed from the FHLBank to offset specific loans originated by United Western Bank. The principal amount
of these fixed-ternirate advances adjusis monthly based on an amortization schedule. The interest rate on the fixed-term/rate advances was
5.84%, and their maturity date is June 2014,

(4) A total of $286.0 million of the FHLBank borrowings outstanding at December 31, 2005 were borrowed under short option advance agreements
with the FHLBank. The interest rates on the short option advance borrowings ranged from 3.62% to 5.63% at December 31, 2005 and their
possible call dates varied from January 2006 to August 2007. A total of $20.0 miltion of the FHL.Bank borrowings outstanding at December 31,
2005 were borrowed under fixed rate advance agreements. The interest rates on the advances ranged from 3.28% to 3.92% at December 31,
2005, and their maturity dates ranged from November 2006 to May 2008, Additionally, $1.0 million of the FHLBank borrowings outstanding at
December 31, 2005 are fixed-term/rate advances, which were borrowed from the FHLBank to offset specific loans originated by United Western
Bank. The principal amount of these fixed-term/rate advances adjusts monthly based on an amortization schedule. The interest rate on the
fixed-term/rate advances was 5.84%, and their maturity date is June 2014.

Borrowings were $503.6 million at December 31, 2007 compared to $579.4 million at December 31, 2006. The
decrease in borrowings was primarily due the $60 million decline in assets during the year. During 2007, United
Western Bank entered into a $25 million repurchase agreement based on competitive terms in comparison to FHLBank
borrowings, The Company borrowed $11 million of the $25 million available on its revolving and advancing lines to
fund a portion of the $26 million repayments of trust preferred securities. This contributed significantly to the decline in
interest expense during the year. Borrowings were $579.4 million at December 31, 2006 compared to $641.4 million at
December 31, 2005. The decline in borrowings between 2005 and 2006 was principally due to growth of institutional
deposits.

Junior Subordinated Debentures. Junior subordinated debentures owed to unconsolidated subsidiary trusts
include debentures we sold to Matrix Bancorp Capital Trusts I, V1 and VIII in connection with the issuance of their
preferred securities in 2001, 2004 and 2003, respectively. As of December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, our junior
subordinated debentures owed to unconsolidated subsidiary trusts were $30.4 million and $56.2 million, respectively.
See “Liquidity — Company Liguidity” below and Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements for further analysis.

Capital

Capital, See Item |. “Business—Regulation and Supervision—United Western Bank’s Capital Ratios™ for a
discussion about the capital ratios and required capital ratios of United Western Bank. United Western Bank and
Sterling are restricted in certain instances from paying dividends to United Western Bancorp due to certain regulatory
requirements. See [tem 1. “Business—Regulation and Supervision.”

At December 31, 2007, sharcholders equity was $113.4 million compared to $107.8 million at December 31,
2006. The increase was the result of the $10.1 million of net income, $886,000 of stock based compensation, and
$411,000 from sales of common stock under our benefit plans. These additions were partially offset by dividends of
$1.7 million, stock repurchases of $1.3 million and other comprehensive loss of $2.8 million. Other comprehensive loss
relates to the change in value afier-tax of securities available for sale. The Company paid quarierly dividends of $.06
per common share during each quarter of 2007, which was the first year the Company had paid dividends in its history.
The dividend payout ratio was 17.2%.

The Company’s stock repurchase plan, as authorized by the Company’s board of directors, is discussed in
Note 14 to the financial statements.

During the fourth quarter of 2002, the Company executed a Shareholder Rights Plan at which time the Board of

Directors of the Company declared a dividend of one preferred stock purchase right for each outstanding share of the
Company’s common stock. Each of these Rights, which are not immediately exercisable, entitles the holder to purchase
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one one-thousandth of a share of the Company’s newly designated Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock at an
exercise price of $40.00. The Rights are not exercisable until certain events occur, are not detachable from the
Company’s common stock and do not have any immediate value to stockholders. The Rights distribution was made on
November 15, 2002, payable to shareholders of record on that date. The Rights will expire on November 3, 2012,

Liquidity

Liquidity measures the ability to meet current and future cash flow needs as they become due. The liquidity of
a financial institution reflects its ability to meet loan requests, to accommodate possible outflows in deposits and to take
advantage of interest rate market opportunities. The ability of a financial institution to meet its current financial
obligations is a function of its balance sheet structure, its ability to liquidate assets, and its access to alternative sources
of funds. The Company seeks to ensure its funding needs are met by maintaining a level of liquid funds through
asset/liability management.

Bank Liquidity. Liquidity management is monitored by an Asset/Liability Management Commitice
(“ALCO™), consisting of members of management and the board of directors of United Western Bank, which reviews
historical funding requirements, current liquidity position, sources and stability of funding, marketability of assets,
options for attracting additional funds, and anticipated future funding needs, including the level of unfunded
commitments.

Qur primary sources of funds are retail, commercial and institutional deposits, advances from FHLBank and
other borrowings and funds generated from operations. Funds from operations include principal and interest payments
received on loans and securities. While maturities and scheduled amortization of loans and securities provide an
indication of the timing of the receipt of funds, changes in interest rates, economic conditions and competition strongly
influence mortgage prepayment rates and deposit flows, reducing the predictability of the timing on sources of funds.

United Western Bank has an internal policy that requires certain liquidity ratios to be met. Qur current policy
requires that we maintain a set amount of liquidity on the balance sheet at all times and that we have off balance sheet
liquidity readily available to the Bank to meet the day-to-day liquidity requirements of the Bank and its customers. The
Bank is a member of the FHLBank of Topeka and has the ability to borrow up to 40% of the assets of the Bank. At
December 31, 2007, the Bank had unused borrowing capacity at FHLBank borrowings of approximately $309 million.

At December 31, 2007, the Bank had outstanding letters of credit, loan origination commitments and unused
commercial and retail lines of credit of approximately $344 million. We anticipate that the Bank will have sufficient
funds available to meet current origination and other lending commitments. Certificates of deposit that are scheduled to
mature within one year totaled $27 million at December 31, 2007 including brokered deposits. Although no assurance
can be given, we expect that the Bank will retain a substantial majority of retail certificates of deposit and that we will
allow the brokered deposits to mature without renewal.

Company Liquidity. Our main sources of liquidity at the holding company level are existing cash and notes
receivable dividends and tax payments from our subsidiaries and two lines of credit maintained with a large regional
correspondent bank in the total amount of $25.0 million. As of December 31, 2007, we had $14.0 million undrawn and
available under our line of credit.

The Company is reliant on dividend and tax payments from its subsidiaries in order to fund operations, meet
debt and tax obligations and grow new or developing lines of business. A long-term inability of a subsidiary to make
dividend payments could significantly impact the Company’s liquidity. Historically, United Western Bank has made the
majority of the dividend payments received by the Company. In 2004 due to the gains generated on the sale of our
majority interest in Matrix Asset Management Corporation and our interest in Matrix Settlement and Clearance Services
LLC, these subsidiaries paid dividends. In addition, the Company generated cash flow from the sale of non-core
subsidiaries as part of the shareholder value strategies we executed in 2006. As a result of the liquidity generated from
these activities, United Western Bank did not pay a dividend to the Company in the three year period ended
December 31, 2006. For the year ended December 31, 2007, the Company received dividends from Matrix Bancorp
Trading of $1.4 million, MTXC Realty of $1.2 million and United Western Bank of $7.4 million. Prospectively, the
Bank anticipates paying dividends to the Company of approximately 33% of the Bank’s 2008 net income and an
additional dividend of approximately $4 million that was paid to the Company in January 2008. If dividends and tax
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payments from subsidiaries are not sufficient to fund the cash requirements of the Company, the Company intends to
utilize the line of credit and revolving credit, as needed, to meet its own and the other subsidiaries financial obligations.

As noted in Item 1. “Establishment of Community Banking Identity” in this report, in December 2005 the
Company raised funds through the private placement of our common stock and wiilized those funds to conduct an issuer
tender offer for shares of our common stock, which tender offer was completed January 23, 2006,

The Company has sponsored three trusts with remaining balances outstanding at December 31, 2007-- Matrix
Bancorp Capital Trusts 11, V1 and VIII {the “Trusts™). The Company owns 100% of the common equity of each of the
Trusts. The Trusts were formed for the purpose of issuing corporation-obligated mandatorily redeemable capital
_ securities (the “capital securities”) to third-party investors and investing the proceeds from the sale of such capital
securities solely in junior subordinated debt securities of the Company. The debentures held by each Trust are the sole
assets of that Trust. Distributions on the capital securities issued by each Trust are payable either quarterly or
semiannually at a rate per annum equal to the interest rate being earned by the Trust on the debentures held by that Trust.
The capital securities of the Trusts are subject to mandatory redemption, in whole or in part, upon repayment of the
debentures. The Company has entered into agreements which, taken collectively, fully and unconditionally guarantee
the capital securities subject to the term of each of the guarantees. See Note 11 to the financial statements.

In 2007, the Company fully redeemed the outstanding balance of the trust preferred securities issued by Matrix
Bancorp Capital Trusts III and V. The Company redeemed an aggregate amount of $25.8 million of the trust preferred
and common securities plus accumulated and unpaid distributions through the redemption date, of July 25, 2007.

In 2006, the Company fully redeemed the outstanding balance of the trust preferred securities issued by Matrix
Bancorp Capital Trust I. The Company redeemed an aggregate amount of $5.2 million of the trust preferred and
common securities, plus accumulated and unpaid distributions through the redemption date, of October 13, 2006.

Statement of Cash Flows

Operating Activities. Cash flows from operating activities primarily include net income for the year,
adjustments for items in net income that did not impact cash and activities related to trading securities and loans held for
sale. Net cash from operating activities decreased by $225 million to $94 million for the year ended December 31, 2007
compared to $318 million for 2006 and a use of cash of $12 million for 2005. The decrease for 2007 in cash from
operating activities was due to a decling in securities trading and lower repayments on loans held for sale. The increase
of $330 million between 2006 and 2005 was principally due to a significant decline in the purchase of loans held for
sale. We do not expect loans purchased for sale to reach the levels of 2006 and 2005 in the foreseeable future.

Investing Activities. Cash flows from investing activities reflect the impact of loans and investments acquired
for the Company’s interest-earning asset portfolios, as well as cash flows from asset purchases and dispositions and
security purchases and sales. Net cash from investing activities improved by $408 million in 2007 over 2006. Net cash
used in investing activities was $6 million for 2007 compared to $414 for 2006. In 2006 we originated community bank
loans and also acquired $483 million of investment securities which caused the $414 million use of cash. In
comparison, the use of cash for investing activities in 2007 was principally related to origination of loans. We used
$414 million of cash for investing activities in 2006 compared to $202 miilion in 2005. This increase was principally
due to implementation of our community banking business plan as more loans were originated as compared to loans held
for sale that were purchased in 2005 and earlier years,

Financing Activities. Cash flows from financing activities include transactions and events whereby cash is
obtained from depositors, creditors or investors. Net cash from financing activities decreased by $143 million to a use
of cash of $70 million compared to cash provided of $73 million for 2006. The decline in cash from financing activities
in the period was due to lower increases in institutional deposits and net declines in FHLBank borrowings due to the
overall decline in the size of our balance sheet. Net cash from financing activities decreased by $122 million to $73
million for the year ended December 31, 2006 from $195 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, primarily due
to the procecds from the private placement in 2005 which raised $87 million (net of certain direct costs), of which $80
million was subsequently used in 2006 to fund the tender offer. Offsetting this use of cash was an increase in deposits.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements, Contractual Obligations, Commitments, and Contingent Liabilities.
The following table presents, as of December 31, 2007, the Company’s significant fixed and determinable contractual
obligations by payment date. The payment amounts represent those amounts contractually due to the recipient and do
not include any unamortized premiums or discounts, other similar carrying value adjustments or interest. Further
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discussion of the nature of each obligation is included in the financial statements in the footnote identified in the “Note
Reference™ celumn of the table below.

As of December 31, 2007
Note 1 Year 1to3 Years Jto5 Over 5 Years
Reference or Less Years Total

Contractual Obligations (Dollars in thousands)
Deposits (savings, NOW and money

market) 8 $ 1,355,498 $ - % - b - $ 1,355,498
Certificate accounts 8 27,294 2,636 53 - 29,983
FHLBank borrowings 10 375,300 30,000 - 829 406,129
Borrowed money 9 6,428 50,000 31,000 10,000 97,428
Junior subordinated debentures owed to

unconsolidated subsidiary trusts 11 - - - 30,442 30,442
Sale leaseback commitment 16 1,367 2,734 2,734 5,129 11,964
Other operating leases 16 897 1,643 656 756 3,952

The following table presents, for the periods shown, the Company’s schedule of significant commitments.
Loan commitments and standby letters of credit are presented at contractual amounts; however, since many of these
commitments are expected to expire unused or only partially used, the total amount of these commitments do not
necessanily reflect future cash requirements.

December 31,

2007 2006
Commitments (Dollars in thousands}
Commitments to extend credit:
Loans secured by mortgages by 81.318 3 74,450
Construction and development loans 206,434 122,526
Commercial loans and lines of credit 53,042 43,268
Consumer loans 490 246
Total commitments to extend credit $ 341,284 3 240,490
Standby letters of credit b 2,398 3 791

Financial Instruments with Off-Balance-Sheet Risk. In the normal course of business the Company enters
into various transactions, which in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, are not
included in its consolidated balance sheets. The Company enters into these transactions to meet the financing needs of
its customers. These transactions include commitments to extend credit and standby letters of credit, which involve,
elements of credit risk and interest rate risk in excess of the amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets. The
Company minimizes its exposure to loss under these commitments by subjecting them to credit approval and monitoring
procedures. The Company also holds certain assets that are not included in its consolidated balance sheets including the
custodial assets held by Sterling on behalf of its customers.

Commitments to Extend Credit. The Company enters into contractual commitments to extend credit,
generally with fixed expiration dates or termination clauses, at specified rates and for specific purposes. Substantially all
of the Company’s commitments to extend credit are contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit standards,
which are determined at the time the Company enters into the commitment. The $100.8 million increase in
commitments to extend credit is consistent with the growth experienced in our community banking activities. The $83.9
million increase in construction and development commitments is not necessarily an indication of future growth of such
lending, since these loans have shorter life spans and generally turnover more rapidly than other forms of lending.

Standby Letters of Credit. Standby letters of credit are conditional commitments issued to guarantee the
performance of a customer to a third party. Standby letters of credit generally are contingent upon the failure of the
customer to perform according to the terms of the underlying contract with the third party.

Custodial Accounts. The Company holds certain assets in custody capacity on behalf of customers of Sterling

Trust Company. The estimated fair value of Sterling’s trust assets was approximately $4.5 billion at December 31,
2007, including the $405 million on deposit at United Western Bank.
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Commitments and Contingent Liabilities. The Company may also have liabilities under certain contractual
agreements contingent upon the occurrence of certain events. A discussion of the significant contractual arrangements
under which the Company may be held contingently liable, including guarantee arrangements, is included in Note 16 of
the consolidated financial statements,

The Bank has entered into an agreement that totals approximately $1.25 million to purchase land for a future
community bank in the Colorado Front Range. The purchase is conditional on municipal approval.

In connection with the sale of ABS School Services, LLC, the Company’s recourse obligation for certain loans,
which was $5,400,000 at March 31, 2006, was transferred to the purchaser. Pursuant to the sales agreement, the
Company guarantced, for a five year period, the repayment of the loans sold to the purchaser up to an aggregate amount
of $1,650,000, which guarantee created a new recourse obligation for the Company. Included in other general and
administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2006 is a charge of $950,000 to reflect the estimated liability
related to this recourse obligation. This charge was included in other noninterest expense. At December 31, 2007, and
2006, the liability for estimated recourse obligations was $935,000, and was included in other liabilities on the
consolidated balance sheet.

The Company maintains a liability for estimated losses on loans expected to be repurchased or on which
indemnification is expected to be provided and regularly evaluates the adequacy of this repurchase liability based on
trends in repurchase and indemnification requests, actual loss experience, and other relevant factors including economic
conditions. Total loans repurchased during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 were $1,037,000,
$1,185,000, and $2,019,000, respectively. Loans indemnified that remain outstanding at December 31, 2007 totaled
$7,92%,000, of which loans totaling $2,780,000 are guaranteed as to principal by FHA. Losses charged against the
liability for estimated losses on repurchase and indemnification were $97,000, $342,000, and $2,140,000 for 2007, 2006
and 2005, respectively. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the liability for estimated losses on repurchase and
indemnification was $1,650,000, $2,093,000, respectively, and was included in other liabilities on the consolidated
balance sheets.

Impact of Inflation and Changing Prices

The Company’s financial statements included herein have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). GAAP presently requires the Company to
measure financial position and operating results primarily in terms of historic dollars. Changes in the relative value of
money due to inflation or recession are generally not considered. The primary effect of inflation on the operations fo the
Company is reflected in increased operating costs. In management’s opinion, our financial condition is affected much
more by changes in interest rates than by changes in the inflation rate. While interest rates are certainly influenced by
inflation rates, interest rates do not necessarily change at the same rate or in the same proportion as the inflation rate.
Interest rates are highly sensitive to many factors beyond the control of the Company, including changes in the expected
rate of inflation, influence of general and local economic conditions and the monetary and fiscal policies of the United
Stated government, and various other governmental regulatory authorities, among other things. See Item 1. “Business —
Regulation and Supervision” in this report.

Critical Accounting Policies

The Company and its subsidiaries have established various accounting policies which govern the application of
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America in the preparation and presentation of the
Company’s consolidated financial statements. The significant accounting policies of the Company are described in
Note 2 of the financial statements and along with the disclosures presented in the other financial statement notes, provide
information on how significant assets and liabilities are valued in the financial statements and how those values are
determined. Certain accounting policies involve significant judgments, assumptions and estimates by management that
have a material impact on the carrying value of certain assets and liabilities, which management considers to be critical
accounting policies. The judgments, assumptions and estimates used by management are based on historical experience,
knowledge of the accounts and other factors, which are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Because of
the nature of the judgments and assumptions made by management, actual results could differ from these judgments and
estimates, which could have a material impact on the carrying values of assets and liabilities and the results of operations
of the Company.

55




Allowance for Credit Losses. The Company currently views the determination of the allowance for credit
losses as a critical accounting policy that requires significant judgments, assumptions and estimates used in preparation
of its consolidated financial statements. The allowance for credit losses is management’s estimate of probable credit
losses that are inherent in the loan portfolios. Management takes into consideration various factors, such as the fair
value of the underlying collateral and the amount and timing of expected future cash flows on impaired loans, estimated
losses on pools of homogeneous loans based on historical loss experience, the collective experience of our credit risk
management team and consideration of current economic trends and conditions.

The allowance for credit losses consists of four components: (1) pools of homogeneous single-family loans
with similar risk characteristics; (2) pools of homogenous community bank loans with similar risk characteristics (i.e.,
multifamily, residential and commercial construction and development, commercial real estate and commercial);
(3) individually significant loans that are measured for impairment; and (4) a component representing an estimate of
inherent, but probable undetected losses, which also contemplates the imprecision in the various credit risk models
utilized to calculate the other components of the allowance.

Pools of homogeneous single-family loans with similar risk characteristics are assessed for probable losses
based on loss migration analysis where loss factors are updated regularly based on actual experience. The loss migration
analysis examines historical loss experience and the related internal gradings of loans charged off. The analysis also
considers inherent but undetected losses within the portfolio.

Pools of homogeneous community bank loans with similar risk characteristics (i.e., multifamily, residential and
commercial construction and development, commercial real estate and commercial) are likewise assessed for probable
losses based on loss migration analysis, where loss factors are updated regularly based on our own loss experience as
well as the collective experience of our credit risk management team, loss rates at selected peer community banks and
industry data, The analysis for community bank loans also incorporates the related internal gradings of loans charged
off and other factors including our asset quality trends and national and local economic conditions.

The portion of the allowance established for loans measured for impairment reflects expected losses resulting
from analyses developed through specific allocations for individual loans. We consider a loan impaired when, based on
current information and events, it is probable that we will be unable to collect all amounts due according to the
contractual terms of the loan. Estimated fair value is typically measured using the fair value of collateral, as such loans
are usually collateral dependent, but may be measured using either the present value of expected future cash flows
discounted using loan rate, or the market price of the loan. All foans considered impaired are included in nonperforming
loans. We generally evaluate our residential loans collectively due to their homogeneous nature. The last component of
the allowance for credit losses is a portion which represents the estimated inherent but undetected probable losses, and
the imprecision in the credit risk models utilized to calculate the allowance. This component of the allowance is
primarily associated with community bank loans and is reflective of the uncertainty related to the recent growth in the
community bank loan portfolio, general economic conditions and ongoing uncertainty with respect to a small number of
individually large loans.

Loan losses are charged against the allowance when the loan is considered uncollectible.

There arc many factors affecting the allowance for credit losses; some are quantilative while others require
qualitative judgment. Although management believes its process for determining the allowance adequately considers all
of the potential factors that could potentially result in credit losses, the process includes subjective elements and may be
susceptible to significant change. To the extent actual outcomes differ from management estimates, additional provision
for credit losses could be required that could adversely affect earnings or financial position in future periods.

Valuation of Mortgage Servicing Rights and Loans Held for Sale. The Company also considers its lower-of-
cost-or-market (“LOCOM™) valuations which apply to the valuation of mortgage servicing rights and loans held for sale
to be a critical accounting policy that requires use of judgments, assumptions and estimates. Our mortgage servicing
portfolio does not trade in an active open market with readily observable market prices. Although sales of mortgage
servicing rights do occur, the exact terms and conditions may not be readily available. Accordingly, mortgage servicing
rights are valued in accordance with SFAS 140 using discounted cash flow modeling techniques that require
management to make estimates regarding future net servicing cash flows, taking into consideration actual and expected
mortgage loan prepayment rates, discount rates, servicing costs, and other economic factors, The expected and actual
rates of mortgage loan prepayments are the most significant factors driving the value of mortgage servicing rights.
Increases in mortgage loan prepayments reduce estimated future net servicing cash flows because the life of the
underlying loan is reduced. In determining the fair value of the mortgage servicing rights, mortgage interest rates, which
are used to determine prepayment rates and discount rates, are held constant over the estimated life of the portfolio.
Expected mortgage loan prepayment rates are derived from a third-party model and may be adjusted to reflect the
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specific characteristics of the Company's portfolio. Mortgage servicing rights are carried at the lower of the initial
capitalized amount, net of accumulated amortization, or fair value. Management compares its fair value estimates and
assumptions to observable market data where available and to recent market activity and believes that the fair values and
related assumptions are comparable to those used by other market participants. The Company has recorded impairment
reserves and recoveries of such reserves based on the market conditions and the valuation analysis. Although
management believes its process for determining the impairment reserve required adequately considers all of the
potential factors that could potentially result in declines in value of the mortgage servicing rights, the process includes
subjective elements and may be susceptible to significant change. To the extent that actual outcomes differ from
management estimates, additional provision for impairment could be required that could adversely affect earnings or
financial position in future periods.

The Company classified $372 million of loan assets as held for sale at December 31, 2007. The majority of
these loans consist of single-family residential loans and multifamily loans of approximately $281 miltion and
840 million, respectively. Loans held for sale are carried at the lower of cost or market in accordance with SFAS 63,
“Accounting for Certain Mortgage Banking Activities,” Many of the loans owned by the Company either do not trade in
an active market or trade in inefficient markets. As such, the market value of loans without available market prices is
estimated by loan type using interest rates for reasonably comparable assets found in the secondary marketplace. Other
factors including delinquency, existence of government guarantees, and other economic factors are considered in
estimating the fair value of loans held for sale. Management has compared its fair value estimates and assumptions to
observable market data where available and to recent market activity and based on that comparison believes the fair
values and related assumptions are comparable to those used by other market participants. A rising interest rate
environment may possibly result in declines in the market value of the loans held for sale, which may adversely affect
earnings or financial position in future periods. The Company mitigates risk associated with declines in the estimated
fair value of its loans held for sale by predominately holding loans with variable interest rates that tend to be less market
sensitive to interest rate fluctuations than long-term fixed rate loans.

The material effect, if any, on the consolidated financial statements related to these critical accounting areas is
also discussed below.

Recent Accounting Prenouncements

Note 21 to the financial statements discusses new accounting policics adopted by the Company during 2007
and the expected impact of accounting policies recently issued or proposed but not yet required to be adopted. To the
extent the adoption of new accounting standards materially affects financial condition, results of operations, or liquidity,
the impacts thereof are discussed in the applicable section(s) of this discussion and the notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

Forward Looking Statements

Certain statements included in this report contain “forward-looking statements™ within the meaning of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 that are subject to significant risks and uncertainties. Forward-looking
statements include information concerning our future results, interest rates, loan and deposit growth, operations,
community bank implementation and business strategy. These statements often included terminology such as “may,”
“will,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “predict,” “believe,” “plan,” “estimate” or “continue™ or the negative thereof or other
variations thereon or comparable terminology. As you consider forward-looking statements, you should understand that
these statements are not guarantees of performance or results. They involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions that
could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements. These factors include but
are not limited to: the successful implementation of our community banking strategies, the timing of regulatory
approvals or consents for new branches or other contemplated actions; the availability of suitable and desirable locations
for additional branches; the continuing strength of our existing business, which may be affected by various factors,
including but not limited to interest rate fluctuations, level of delinquencies, defaults and prepayments, general economic
conditions, competition, legal and regulatory developments and the risks and uncertainties discussed herein or elsewhere
and/or set forth from time to time in our other periodic reports filings and public statements.

Any forward-looking statements made by the Company speak only as of the date on which the statements are
made. New risks and uncertainties come up from time to time, and it is impossible for us to predict these events or how
they may affect us. We have no duty to, and do not intend to, update or revise the forward-looking statements after the
date on which they are made. In light of these risks and uncertainties, any forward-looking statement made in this
document or elsewhere may not reflect actual results. Qur risk factors are discussed in greater detail in Item 1A. “Risk
Factors™ in this report.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market Risk. Market risk refers to the risk of loss arising from adverse changes in interest rates and other
relevant market rates and prices. The risk of loss can be assessed from the perspective of adverse changes in fair values,
cash flows, and future earnings. Due to the nature of its operations, the Company is primarily exposed to interest rate
risk and, to a lesser extent liquidity risk.

Interest Rate Risk. Interest rate risk on the Company’s balance sheet consists of reprice, option, and basis
risks. Reprice risk results from differences in the maturity, or repricing of asset and liability portfolios. Option risk
arises from embedded options present in many financial instruments such as loan prepayment options, deposit early
withdrawal options, interest rate options, and options we embed in various instruments such as FHLBank borrowings
and repurchase agreements. These options atlow customers or the holders opportunities to benefit when market interest
rates change, which typically results in higher costs or lower revenue for the Company. Basis risk refers to the potential
for changes in the underlying relationship between market rates and indices, which subsequently result in a narrowing of
the profit spread on an carning asset or liability. Basis risk principally impacts the Company through certain wholesale
liabilities that are tied to LIBOR, while the majority of the community bank loans are tied to prime.

Asset Liability Management. United Western Bank has established an Asset Liability Committee (“ALCQ”).
Through ALCO, the Company seeks to avoid fluctuations in its net interest margin and to maximize its net interest
income before provision for credit losses within acceptable levels of risk through periods of changing interest rates.
Accordingly, the Company’s interest rate sensitivity and liquidity are monitored on an ongoing basis by ALCO, which
oversees the risk management and establishes risk measures, limits and policy guidelines for managing the amount of
interest rate risk and its effect on net interest income and capital.

The Company utilizes an earnings simulation model as the primary quantitative tool in measuring the amount of
interest rate risk associated with changing market rates. The model quantifies the effect of various interest rate
alternatives on projected net interest income and net income over the next 12 months. The model measures the impact
on net interest income relative to a base case alternative of hypothetical fluctuations in interest rates over the next 12
months. These simulations incorporate assumptions regarding balance sheet growth, continued community bank
conversion, changes in liability mix, and pricing. The impact of interest rate derivatives, such as embedded options
contained in certain liabilities is also included in the model. Other interest rate-related risk such as prepayment, basis
and option risk are also considered.

ALCO regularly monitors and manages the balance between interest rate-sensitive assets and liabilities. The
objective is to manage the impact of fluctuating market rates on net interest income within acceptable levels. In order to
meet this objective, management may lengthen or shorten the duration of assets or liabilities or enter into derivative
contracts, either directly or embedded in other financial instruments, to mitigate potential market risk.

Based on simulation modeling, which assumes immediate changes in interest rates at December 31, 2007, we
believe that our net interest income and net income would change over a one-year period due to changes in interest rates

as follows:
| Immediate Shifts Change in Net Interest Income Change in Net Income
Changes in Levels of
Interest Rates Dollar Change Percentage Change Dollar Change Percentage Change
(in basis points) fdollars in thousands)
200 $5,059 6.62% $(1,692) (8.96)%
100 3,333 436 38 0.20
0 — - - —
(100) (4,847) (6.34) (1,558) (8.25)
(200) (12,425) (16.26) (4,501) (23.83)

In addition to the simulation assuming an immediate change in interest rates above, management models many
other scenarios, including simuiations with gradual changes in interest rates over a one-year period, to evaluate our
interest rate sensitivity. Based on simulation modeling that assumes gradual changes in interest rates, we believe that
our net interest income would change over a one-year period due to changes in interest rates as follows:

Gradual Shifts Change in Net Interest Income Change in Net Income
Changes in Levels of
Interest Rates Dollar Change Percentage Change Dollar Change Percentage Change
(in basis points) {dollars in thousands)
200 $2,481 3.25% $(1.,120) (5.93)%
100 1,349 177 (293) (1.55)
0 - - _ -
(100) (1,504) (1.97) (97) (0.52)
(200) (2.922) (3.82) 86 (0.46)
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During 2006, the Company utilized third party consulting services to assist with our asset liability management
process and to conduct the model simulations. These services were provided for United Western Bank and not for the
Company as a whole. Accordingly, comparable disclosures for 2006 are not available.

At December 31, 2007 management also performed a simulation of the impact of the Federal Reserve Board
recent 125 basis point cut in short-term interest rates. Based on that model, we believe that our net interest income
would decline by $1,829,000, or 2.39%, as compared to the net interest income shown in the 0% change in table above.
We estimate that due to the offsetting impact of subaccounting fees our net income would increase by $923,000, or
4.88%.

The assumptions used in all of our interest rate sensitivity simulations discussed above are inherently uncertain.
As a result, the simulations cannot precisely measure net interest income or net income or precisely predict the impact of
changes in interest rates on net interest income and net income. Actual results will differ from simulated results due to
timing, magnitude and frequency of interest rate changes as well as changes in market conditions and management
strategies.

See Item 1A. “Risk Factors,” and Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition.”

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

See Index to Financial Statements on page F-1.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, an evaluation was carried out by the
Company’s management, with the participation of its Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Chief
Accounting Officer, of the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-
15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934). Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer, Chief
Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer concluded that the disclosure controls and procedures were effective as
of the end of the period covered by this report. No changes were made to the Corporation’s internal control over
financiat reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) during the last fiscal
quarter that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Corporation’s internal control over
financial reporting.
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Report on Management’s Assessment of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The management of United Western Bancorp, Inc. and subsidiaries is responsible for establishing and
maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting.

United Western Bancorp, Inc.’s and subsidiaries’ (the Company) internal control over financial reporting is a
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that
(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the Company; (ii} provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary
ta permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations, including the
possibility of human error and the circumvention of overriding controls. Accordingly, even effective internal control
over financial reporting can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may becotne
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s intemnal control over financial repotting as of
December 31, 2007, based on the framework set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO) in Internal Centrol-Integrated Framework. Based on that assessment, management concluded that,
as of December 31, 2007, the Company's internal contral over financial reporting is effective based on the criteria
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework.

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, has been
audited by McGladrey & Pullen, LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their attestation
report, which expresses an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2007, See “Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control
over Financial Reporting.”
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
United Western Bancorp, Inc.

We have audited United Western Bancorp Inc. and subsidiaries internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). United Western Bancorp Inc.’s management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness
of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying report. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining
an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit
also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements,
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, United Western Bancorp, Inc. and subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the December 31, 2007 consolidated financial statements of United Western Bancorp, Inc. and subsidiaries and
our report dated March 6, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion.

fs/ McGLADREY & PULLEN, LLP

Denver, Colorado
March 6, 2008
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Item 9B. Qther Information

None.
PART 111

Item 10. Directors. Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Information required by these Items is incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s Proxy Statement

(Schedule 14A) for its 2008 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which will be filed with the Commission on March 20,
2008.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) (1) and (a) (2) Financial statements and financial statement schedules
See Index to Financial Statements on page F-1.

(c) Exhibits
See Exhibit Index, beginning on page 11-1.

{d) Financial Statement Schedules

None.
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly

SIGNATURES

caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on the 6" day of March, 2008.

Dated:  March 6, 2008

UNITED WESTERN BANCORP, INC.

/s/ Scot T. Wetzel

Dated:  March 6, 2008

Scot T. Wetzel
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ William D. Snider

Dated:  March 6, 2008

William D. Snider
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

/s! Benjamin C. Hirsh

Benjamin C. Hirsh
Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signatures

/s/ Scot T. Wetzel

Scot T. Wetzel

/s/ Guy A. Gibson

Guy A. Gibson

/sf William D. Snider

William D. Snider

/s/ Robert T. Slezak

Robert T. Slezak

/s/ Lester Ravitz

Lester Ravitz

/s Dr. James Bullock

Dr. James Bullock

/s/ Jeffrey R. Leeds

Jeffrey R. Leeds

Title Date

President, Chief Executive March 6, 2008
Officer and a Director
{Principal Executive Officer)

Chairman of the Board March 6, 2008
Vice Chairman, Chief Financial March 6, 2008

Officer and a Director
(Principal Financial Officer)

Director March 6, 2008
Director March 6, 2008
Director March 6, 2008
Director March 6, 2008
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Articles of Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation, filed as Exhibit 3.2 to Registrant’s annual report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006 filed by the Registrant with the Commission..

Bylaws, as amended, of the Registrant, filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed by the Registrant
with the Commission on December 27, 2007,

Specimen Certificate for Common Stock of the Registrant, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Registrant’s registration
statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-10223), filed by the Registrant with the Commission on August 15, 1996,

1996 Amended and Restated Employee Stock Option Plan, incorporated by reference to Appendix I11 of the
Proxy Statement filed by the Registrant for the annual meeting of shareholders held on June 15, 2006, filed
with the Commission as Exhibit 4.1 to Registrant’s Form S-8 Registration statement on June 30, 2006, o

Formn of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement, filed as Exhibit 99.1 to Registrant’s report on Form 8-K filed
by the Registrant with the Commission on February 16, 2005.e

Form of Director Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement, filed as Exhibit 99.2 to Registrant’s report on Form
8-K filed by the Registrant with the Commission on February 16, 2005.¢

1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, incorporated by reference to Appendix II of the Proxy Statement filed by
the Registrant for the annual meeting of shareholders held on June 15, 2006, filed with the Commission as
Exhibit 4.2 to Registrant’s Form S-8 Registration statement on June 30, 2006. «

2006 Employee Stock Option Plan, incorporated by reference to Appendix IV of the Proxy Statement filed by
the Registrant for the annual meeting of shareholders held on June 15, 2006, filed with the Commission as
Exhibit 4.1 to Registrant’s Form S-8 Registration statement on June 30, 2006. »

2007 Equity Incentive Plan, filed as Exhibit 1 of the Proxy Statement filed by the Registrant for the annual
meeting of shareholders held on May 17, 2007, filed with the Commission as Exhibit 4.1 to Registrant’s Form
S-8 Registration Statement on May 18, 2007.e

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, filed as Exhibit 99.3 to Registrant’s report on Form 8-K filed by the
Registrant with the Commission on May 21, 2007 e

Indenture by and among the Registrant and State Street Bank and Trust Company, as trustee, relating to the
10% Junior Subordinated Debentures due 2029, filed as Exhibit 4.7 to Registrant’s registration statement on
Form S-1 (No. 333-79731), filed by the Registrant with the Commission on June 1, 1999.

Form of Junior Subordinated Debentures, filed as Exhibit 4.8 to Registrant’s registration statement on Form
S-1 (No. 333-79731} filed by the Registrant with the Commission on June 1, 1999,

Certificate of Trust of Matrix Bancorp Capital Trust I, filed as Exhibit 4.9 to Registrant’s registration statement
on Form 8-1 (No. 333-79731) filed by the Registrant with the Commission on June 1, 1999,

Amended and Restated Trust Agrcement of Matrix Bancorp Capital Trust I, filed as Exhibit 4.10 to
Registrant’s registration statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-79731), filed by the Registrant with the Commission
an June 1, 1999,

Preferred Security Certificate for Matrix Bancorp Capital Trust 1, filed as Exhibit 4.11 to Registrant’s
registration statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-79731) filed by the Registrant with the Commission on June 1,
1999.

Preferred Securities Guarantee Agreement of the Company relating to the Preferred Securities, filed as Exhibit
4,12 to Registrant’s registration statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-79731), filed by the Registrant with the
Commission on June 1, 1999,

Agreement as to the Expenses and Liabilities, filed as Exhibit 4.13 to Registrant’s registration statement on
Form S-1 (No. 333-79731), filed by the Registrant with the Commission on June 1, 1999,

Indenture between the Registrant and Wilmington Trust Company, as debenture trustee, dated as of March 28,
2001, relating to the 10.18% junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures due June 8, 2031, filed as
Exhibit 10.5 to Registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2001, filed by the
Registrant with the Commission.

Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of Matrix Bancorp Capital Trust I, dated as of March 28, 2001,

filed as Exhibit 10.6 to Registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-(} for the quarter ended March 31, 2001, filed
by the Registrant with the Commission.
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Common Securities Guarantee Agreement of the Registrant, dated as of March 28, 2001, filed as Exhibit 10.7
to Registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2001, filed by the Registrant
with the Commission.

Capital Securities Guarantee Agreement of the Registrant, dated as of March 28, 2001, filed as Exhibit 10.8 to
Registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2001, filed by the Registrant with
the Commission.

Indenture between the Registrant and The Bank of New York, as debenture trustee, dated as of July 16, 2001,
relating to the 10.25% junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures due July 25, 2031, filed as Exhibit
10.3 to Registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001, filed by the Registrant
with the Commission.

Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of Matrix Bancorp Capital Trust 111, dated as of July 16, 2001,
filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001, filed
by the Registrant with the Commission.

Common Securities Subscription Agreement of the Registrant, dated as of July 16, 2001, filed as Exhibit 10.5
to Registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001, filed by the Registrant with
the Commission.

Capital Securities Agreement of the Registrant, dated as of June 28, 2001, filed as Exhibit 10.6 to Registrant’s
quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001, filed by the Registrant with the
Commission.

Indenture between the Registrant and Wilmington Trust Company, as trustee, dated as of November 28, 2001,
relating to Floating Rate Junior Subordinated Debt Securities due 2031, filed as Exhibit 4.26 to Registrant’s
annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001, filed by the Registrant with the
Commission.

Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of Matrix Bancorp Capital Trust IV, dated as of November 28,
2001, filed as Exhibit 4.27 to Registrant’s annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2001, filed by the Registrant with the Commission.

Guarantee Agreement of the Registrant, dated as of November 28, 2001, filed as Exhibit 4.28 to Registrant’s
annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001, filed by the Registrant with the
Commission.

Junior Indenture between the Registrant and The Bank of New York, as trustee, dated as of July 25, 2002,
relating to Floating Rate Junior Subordinated Debt Securities, due July 25, 2032, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to
Registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002, filed by the Registrant
with the Commission.

Amended and Restated Trust Agreement of Matrix Bancorp Capital Trust V, dated as of July 25, 2002, filed as
Exhibit 4.2 to Registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002, filed by
the Registrant with the Commission.

Guarantee Agreement of Matrix Bancorp Capital Trust V, dated as of July 25, 2002, filed as Exhibit 4.3 to
Registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002, filed by the Registrant
with the Commission.

Amended and Restated Trust Agreement of Matrix Bancorp Capital Trust VI, dated as of August 30, 2004,
filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004,
filed by the Registrant with the Commission.

Guarantee Agreement of Matrix Bancorp Capital Trust VI, dated as of August 30, 2004, filed as Exhibit 10.2
to Registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004, filed by the
Registrant with the Commission.

Junior Indenture between the Registrant and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, dated as of August 30,
2004, relating to Junior Subordinated Debt Securitics, due October 18, 2034, filed as Exhibit 10.3 to
Registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004, filed by the Registrant
with the Commission.

Indenture berween the Registrant and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as debenture trustee, dated as
of June 30, 2005, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June
30, 2005, filed by the Registrant with the Commission.
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Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust Agreement of Matrix Bancorp Capital Trust VIII, dated as of
June 30, 2005, filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June
30, 2003, filed by the Registrant with the Commission.

Guarantee Agreement of Matrix Bancorp Capitat Trust VIIE, dated as of June 30, 2005, filed as Exhibit 10.3 to
Registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2005, filed by the Registrant with
the Commission.

Rights Agreement dated as of November 4, 2002, between Matrix Bancorp, Inc. and Computershare Trust
Company, which includes the form of Articles of Amendment to State Termns of Series A Junior Participating
Preferred Stock, $0.01 par value, the form of Right Certificate and the Summary of Rights, filed as Exhibit 4.1
to Registrant’s report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant with the Commission on November 6, 2002.

Indenture, dated February 13, 2004, between Registrant and Wells Fargo Bank, as Trustee, relating to Floating
Rate Subordinated Debt Security due 2014, filed as Exhibit 4.32 to Registrant’s annual report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003, filed by the Registrant with the Commission.

Assignment and Assumption Agreement, dated as of Junc 28, 1996, by and among Mariano C. DeCola,
William M. Howdon, R. James Nicholson and Matrix Funding Corp., filed as Exhibit 10.30 to Registrant’s
registration statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-10223), filed by the Registrant with the Commission on
August 15, 1996.

Amendment to Assignment and Assumption Agreement, dated as of August 13, 2002, by and among
Mariano C. DeCola, William M. Howdon, R. James Nicholson and Matrix Funding Corp. filed with
Registrant’s annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002, filed by the Registrant
with the Commission.

Development Management Agreement, dated as of June 28, 1996, by and among Matrix Funding Corp. and
Nicholson Enterprises, Inc., filed as Exhibit 10.31 to Registrant’s registration statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-
10223), filed by the Registrant with the Commission on August 15, 1996.

Coyote Creek Planned Unit Development Agreement, dated as of July 1, 1998, by and among Fort Lupton,
L.L.C. and Matrix Funding Corp., filed as Exhibit 10.12 to Registrant’s annual report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 1998, filed by the Registrant with the Commission.

Fort Lupton Golf Course Residential and Planned Unit Development Agreement, dated as of November 28,
1995, filed as Exhibit 10.36 to Registrant’s registration statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-10223), filed by the
Registrant with the Commission on August 15, 1996,

Contribution and Sale Agreement, dated as of August 31, 2004 by and among First American Real Estate
Solutions LLC, Matrix Bancorp, Inc., and Matrix Asset Management Corporation, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to
Registrant’s report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant with the Commission on September 15, 2004.

Operating Agreement of Matrix Asset Management LLC, dated as of September 10, 2004, filed as Exhibit 10.5
to Registrant’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004, filed by the
Registrant with the Commission.

Contribution Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2004 by and among Bluff Point Associates Corp.,
Mclnerney/Gabriele Family Limited Partnership, R. Clifton D’ Amato, John H. Moody, MSCS Ventures, Inc.,
Matrix Bancorp, Inc., Matrix Capital Bank, Optech Systems, Inc., Let Lee and MG Colorado Holdings, Inc.,
filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant with the Commission on
December 6, 2004,

Amendment No. 1 to Contribution and Sale Agreement, dated as of March 23, 2005 by and among Bluff Point
Associates Corp., Mclnemey/Gabriele Family Limited Partnership, R. Clifion D'Amato, John H. Moody,
MSCS Ventures, Inc., Matrix Bancorp, Inc., Matrix Capital Bank, Optech Systems, Inc., Let Lee and MG
Colorado Holdings, Inc., filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant with
the Commission on March 28, 2005,

Amended and Restated Tendering Stockholders Agreement, dated as of December 2, 2005 by and between
Matrix Bancorp, Inc. and Columbia Management Advisors, LLC, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s report on
Form 8-K filed by the Registrant with the Commission on December 13, 2005, ¢

The Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of December 9, 2005, by and between Matrix Bancorp, Inc.,

Friedman, Billings, Ramsey & Co., Inc. and the other parties thereto, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Registrant’s report
on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant with the Commission on December 13, 2005.

Final Compromise Settlement Agreement and Release, dated as of December 22, 20035, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to
Registrant’s report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant with the Commission on December 27, 2005.
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Severance, Separation and Release Agreement, dated as of November 7, 2005, by and between Matrix
Bancorp, Inc., Matrix Capital Bank, Matrix Bancorp Trading, Inc., First Matrix Investment Services Corp.,
Matrix Financial Services Corporation, MTXC Realty Corp., The Vintage Group, Inc., Sterling Trust Company
and United Western Funding Corp. and Richard V. Schmitz, filed as Exhibit 10.44 to Registrant’s Form 10-K
filed with the Commission on March 15, 2006. e

Severance, Separation and Release Agreement, dated as of November 7, 2005, by and between Matrix
Bancorp, Inc., Matrix Capital Bank, Matrix Bancorp Trading, Inc., First Matrix [nvestment Services Corp.,
ABS School Services, LLC, Matrix Financial Services Corporation, United Western [nsurance Services
Corporation, MTXC Realty Corp., United Western Tower Holdings, LLC, The Vintage Group, Inc., and Equi-
Mor Holdings, Inc. and D. Mark Spencer, filed as Exhibit 10.45 to Registrant’s Form 10-K filed with the
Commission on March 15, 2006. e

Employment Agreement, dated March 15, 2006, and effective as of January 11, 2006, by and between Matrix
Bancorp, Inc. and Scot T. Wetzel, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed with the Commission on
March 20, 2006. «

Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of March 31, 2006, between Matrix Bancorp Trading, Inc., SN Capital
Markets, LLC, Security National Holding Company, LLC, and Security National Master Holding Company,
LLC, filed as Exhibit 2.1 to Registrant’s report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant with the Commission on
April 6, 2006.

Purchase Agreement dated as of May 5, 2006, between SKS Ventures, LLC and Equi-Mor Holdings, Inc., filed
as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant with the Commission on May 10,
2006.

Agreement for Purchase and Sale dated as of August 11, 2006 between Matrix Tower Holdings, LLC and
Grant Management, A.S., filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed with the Commission on
August 25, 2006.

License Agreement dated as of September 29, 2006, between Legent Clearing, LLC and United Western
Bancorp, Inc., filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s Form 8-K with the Commission on October 5, 2006.
Revolving Loan Agrecment dated as of September 29, 2006, between Legent Group, LLC and United Western
Bank, in the amount of $5,000,000, filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed with the Commission
on October 5, 2006.

Form of Office Lease dated as of October 1, 2006, between 700 17" Street Operating, LLC and United
Western Bank, filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed with the Commission on October 5, 2006.
Credit Agreement dates as of June 29, 2007 between United Western Bancorp, Inc. and JPMorgan Chase
Bank, N.A., filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed with the Commission on July 2, 2007.

Subsidiaries of the Registrant.
Consent of McGladrey & Pullen LLP.

Certification by Scot T. Wetze! pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification by William D. Snider pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,

Certification by Benjamin C. Hirsh pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification by D. Scot T. Wetzel pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification by William D. Snider pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification by Benjamin C. Hirsh pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,

sCompensation Agreement
* Filed herewith
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United Western Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Dollars in thousands, except share information)

Assets
Cash and due from banks
Interest-earning deposits
Federal funds sold
Total cash and cash equivalents
Investment securities — available for sale, at estimated fair value
Investment securities — held to maturity, at amortized cost
Community bank loans, net
Wholesale loans, net
FHLBank stock, at cost
Mortgage servicing rights, net
Accrued interest receivable
Other receivables
Premises and equipment, net
Bank owned life insurance
Other assets, net
Deferred income taxes
Foreclosed real estate
Total assets

Liabilities and shareholders® equity
Liabilities:

Deposits

Custodial escrow balances

FHLBank borrowings

Borrowed money
Junior subordinated debentures owed to unconsolidated

subsidiary trusts
Income tax payable
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (Note 16)
Shareholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, par value $0.0001; 5,000,000 shares authorized;
no shares outstanding

Common stock, par wvalue $0.0001; 350,000,000 shares
7,264,224 shares at December 31, 2007 and
7,256,573 shares at December 31, 2006 outstanding

Additional paid-in capital

Retained earnings

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income
Total shareholders’ equity

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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December 31, December 31,
2007 2006
21,650 12,840
3,156 2,914
16,000 8,000
40,806 23,754
87,676 142,146
574,105 696,833
697,732 395,266
557,049 760,455
39,913 42,764
11,971 15,399
10,551 11,385
14,120 17,123
16,949 8,591
24,276 23,342
11,737 11,711
6,113 2,376
3.109 5.403
2,096,110 2,156,548
1,385,481 1,345,681
34,172 40,017
406,129 519,431
97,428 60,000
30,442 56,216
222 116
28.815 27334
1,982,689 2,048,795
1 1
23,724 23,616
92,364 83,970
{2.668) 166
113,421 107,753
2,096,110 2,156,548




United Western Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Income

(Dollars in thousands, except share information)
Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Interest and dividend income:
Community bank loans $ 44,889 3 24743 § 18,293
Wholesale residential loans 27,882 35,223 43,040
Other loans 6,779 11,483 3,973
[nvestment securities 38,847 40,471 19,849
Deposits and dividends 3,162 3,380 1,541
Total interest and dividend income 121,559 115,300 87,096
Interest expense:
Deposits 27,142 22,742 15,883
FHLBank borrowings 17,086 30,275 20,305
Other borrowed money 8,489 6,766 6,278
Total interest expense 52,717 59,783 42,466
Net interest income before provision for credit losses 68,842 55,517 44,630
Provision for ¢redit losses 2,451 2,341 1,490
Net interest income afler provision for credit losses 66,391 53,176 43,140
Noninlerest income:
Custodial and administrative services 8,435 6,833 7,217
Loan administration 6,311 7,749 10,103
Gain on sale of loans and securities 2,222 685 2,002
Gain on sale of assets - 3,100 300
Litigation settlements 155 2,550 764
Other 3,860 8,274 8,203
Total noninterest income 20,983 29,191 28,589
Noninterest expense:
Compensation and employee benefits 27,148 22,309 25,843
Subaccounting fees 22,851 21,013 13,447
Amortization of mortgage servicing rights 3,489 5,810 7,764
Recovery of morigage servicing rights impairment - (276) (1,180)
Occupancy and equipment 2,946 3,781 3,883
Postage and communication 1,237 1,063 1,176
Professional fees 2,584 2,322 2,656
Montgage servicing rights subservicing fees 1,931 2,488 3,073
Redemption of junior subordinated debentures 1,487 176 322
Other general and administrative 10,252 10,175 17,021
Total noninterest expense 73,925 68,861 74,005

Continued
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United Western Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Income (continued)

(Dollars in thousands, except share information)

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2606 2005

Income (loss) from continuing operations before incotne taxes 13,449 13,506 (2,276)
Income tax provision (benefit) 3,308 3,593 (2,414)
Income from continuing operations 10,141 9,913 138
Discontinued operations:
lncome from discontinued operations, net of income

tax provision (benefit} of $0, $1,152, and $(33), respectively - 1,743 1,420
Net Income $ 10,141  § 11,656 $ 1,558

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Income from continuing operations per share — basic 3 140 § 127§ 002
Income from continuing operations per share ~ assuming dilution 5 140 §F 127 % 002
Income from discontinued operations per share — basic $  0.00 $§ 023 § 020
Income from discontinued operations per share — assuming dilution $ 000 $§ 023 § 020
Net income per share - basic $ 140 $§ 15 § 022
Net income per share — assuming ditution $§ 140 § 150 § 022
Weighted average shares — basic 7,247,636 7,791,516 6,943 480
Weighted average shares -- assuming ditution 7,266,887 7,791,516 7,036,128
Dividends declared per share $  0.24 s - s -

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

F-3




‘SIUBWAIDIS JDIoUDULf PaJOPIIoSUOD 0) S3j0u Sudunduooor aag

Appanaadsal (00T PUE '900Z ‘S00T 103 (09%'1)§ PUE 92§ (£9)§ 40 uoistaold (njauaq) xm swodut Jo 13N (7)

(7) xe1 203U JO 19U *SHNLINIAS uo uted Sulpjoy pazijeaiun JaN

awooul 12U wt papnyaul sured Jo WauNsn[pe UENERILISSE|I3) 1S5

L00T “1€ JPGuadad papus 1eak 3y Juump Swsue ued Suploy pazijesmu(y

(£8'T) $

59

(668'7) $
1IZP'ell §  (899°T) 96’6 § vt §0 | § FITPITL

LOL'L $

(t£8'T) (r£8°7) {p£8°2) - - - -

171°01 $ 1ol - Ir1'ot - - -
988 - - 988 - _
- - - - - TEC'9F
66€ - - 66€ - 20¢'81
9 - - 79 - 11L2
asz'D - - (1sz1) - (00Z'09)
7l - - 7! - 00s
(oL - (el - - -
L0 & 991 g 0L6€8 § 919'¢T § 1 $ £LS9STL

F08'11 $

3r1 8F1 | - - - -

959°11 $  959'11 - 9591 [ - - -
¢ - - SLS - -
(£58'¢) - - (€s8') - (000'00¢)
(10¢'6L) - - (105°6L) - (LLT'VRU'D)
8ZL°081 § 81 $ pICZL §  $6£801 0§ I § 0s8'opL1l

osy'l %

(s01) (801) (s01) - - - -

g5s't % 856°1 - 865'[ - - -
£96'98 - - £96'98 - 000°071°¢
1] Fard T S T4 $ 9sL'oL §  TEF'IT § 1 $ 0680299

WIOIU| [TITA (sso[) amoru] sdmuiey 1ende) junowy saIByS

0>_m=vﬂuhn_EeU u_'_m.._u_._o.._a_ﬂuanu paure)xy uj-pied N0} uomwio?)
LU IBUCIPPY

pajE[NUNIIY

awoou] sAIsuayardwo)) pue Annby  SIapjoyaieys JO SJUSWIIEIS pPIlepljosuo)
saueIpisqng pue -ouj ‘diodueg wsop panun

(Spupsnoty} ul Sif1ocy)

HINOWIE UONBIJISSE[2L JO 2INS01ISICT (1)
1007 ‘1 € 13qUIad3(] 1R IoURjReg

awosul aalsuayasduo)y

{7)(1) xe1 swooul Jo 1du ‘S35501 FUIPJOY PIZI[RIIUN 19N

awooul 13N

awmosut salsuayasdino))

asuadxa uonesuadwen paseg-armeys

sjueId ¥o01s pAoLIsSIYy

ugjd aseysund yoos saAodura 0] ¥201s Jo adURNSS]

SICIDALTP 07 HOULS JO JIURNSS]

aseyamdal Y2018

as1219%a uondo 30018

(oreys 1ad p7°0§) pied spuapIAlg

900Z *1€ I2QUISIA( 1B SoUE|Ry

awoout aalsuayasduio))
(z) xe1 swoout jo yau ‘suted Buipjoy pazijeamun 19N
awoaul 1N

1auIooUl JAIsuAyrduo)

asuadxa uonesuadwios paszq-aieys

aseyaandal yoog

13]JO 13pua ], Japun paseyaindas sazeys

00T ‘1€ 12quuada(] 18 aoue[eg

A0UL 3AISUBYBIdWwo)
(7) xe=1 2woaul JO 13U '$as50] SUIP[OY PAZI|BaIUN 19N
WO 19N

12W0IUT AAIsuAyRIdwo))

Buuaggo juswade[d seaud 0y pajejal o015 Jo AdUENSS]

$00T *1 Axenuey e aouejeg




United Western Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
' {Dollars in thousands)
Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005
Cash flows of continuing operating activities
Net income $ 1,141 § 1,65 8 1,558
Income from discontinued operations, net of income tax provision - (1,743) (1,420)
Adjustments to reconcile income to net cash from continuing operating activities:
| Share-based compensation expense 1,036 575 -
! Depreciation and amortization 1,413 2,105 2,446
i Provision for credit losses 2,451 2,341 1,490
Amortization of mortgage servicing rights 3,489 5,810 7,764
Recovery of impaitment on morigage servicing rights - (276) (1,180)
Gain on sale of loans and securities (2,222) {685) (2,002)
| Net loss (gain) on sale of assets, equipment and foreclosed real estate 1 (3,081) (341)
| Changes in assets and liabilities:
Proceeds from the sale and repayment of trading securities ~ 159,580 489,822
Loans originated and purchased for sale (34,635) (217,901) (1,195,994)
Principal payments on, and proceeds from sate of loans held for sale 110,398 337,734 692,634
Originated mongage servicing rights, net {61) (135) (788}
Decrease in other receivables, other assets, deferred income tax asset and
income 1axes receivable 122 13,790 652
Increase {decrease) in other liabilities and income taxes payable 1,587 8,557 (6,817)
Net cash from continning operating activities 93,720 318,327 (§2,176)
Cash flows of continuing investing activities
Loans originated and purchased for investment (705,303) (300,892) (212,032)
Principzal repayments on loans held for investment 505,323 174,425 163,508
I Purchase of available for sale securities - (173,844) (16,979)
Proceeds from sale of available for sale securities 25,600 33,571 97,038
Proceeds from maturity and prepayment of available for sale securities 24,822 24,402 28,425
Purchase of held to maturity securities (4,940) (308,676) {324,365)
Proceeds from the maturity and prepayment of held to maturity securities 125,707 122,137 59,427
Proceeds from sales of loans transferred to loans held for sale 21,430 - -
Redemption (purchase) of FHLBank stock, net 5,000 (7.527) (521)
Purchases of premises ard equipment (5.728) {8,165) (1,392)
Acquisition of mortgage servicing rights - (98) -
Proceeds from sale of foreclosed real estate 5,784 4,034 4,698
Proceeds from sale of mortgage servicing rights - 8 70
Proceeds from the sale of building, equipment and other assets 5 26,931 i8
Net cash from continuing investing activities {6,300) {413,694) (202,305)

Continued
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United Western Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (continued)

{Dollars in thousands)

Cash flows of continuing financing activities

Net increase in deposits

Net decrease in custodial escrow balances

Net change in FHLBank borrowings

Borrowed money — proceeds from repurchase agreements

Net change borrowed money — revolving lines of credit

Borrowed money - advance on term line

Redemption of capital securities of subsidiary trust

Proceeds from issuance of capital securities of subsidiary trusts
Proceeds from issuance of common stock — Empleyee Stock Purchase Plan
Stock option exercise

Redemption of commen stock shares under tender offer

Proceeds from issuance of private placement common stock shares, net
Repurchase of common stock

Dividends paid

Net cash from continuing financing activities

Cash flows of discontinued operations
Operating cash flows
Investing cash flows
Financing cash flows

Net cash from discontinued operations

Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash activity

Loans transferred to forectosed real estate and other assets

Loans securitized and transferred to securities available for sale
Loans securitized and transferred to trading securities

Trading securities transferred to held to maturity securities
Securities available for sale transferred to held to maturity securities
Loans held for sale transferred to loans held for investment

Loans held for investment transferred to loans held for sale

Note receivable received in sale of assets of discontinued operations

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information

Cash paid for interest

Cash paid for income taxes

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
39,800 221,637 4,885
(5.,845) (9,368) (2,213)
(113,302) (95,597 108,910
26,428 50,000 -
5,000 (3,217 (2,784)
6,000 - -
(25,774) (5,136) (8,195)
- - 7,500
311 - -
12 - -
- (79.501) -
- - 86,963
(1,251) (5,853) -
(1,747) - -
(70,368) 72,945 195,066
- 28,242 9,986
_ 66 _
- (16,364) 792
- 11,944 10,778
17,052 (10,478) (8.637)
23,754 34,232 42,869
$ 40,806 § 23754 $ 34202
$ 4651 $ 5855 § 7605
$ - § 11283 8 90,054
$ - $ 149,144 § 468,169
$ — $ 90074 $ -
$ - $ - § 85337
$ - $ 164218 § 5856
$ 21430 $ —§ 4600
$ - $ 2567 § -
$ 53,376 $ 59991 § 43,665
$ 4,589 $ 611§ 3563




United Western Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Organization

United Western Bancorp, Inc. (the “Company™), is a unitary thrift holding company and, through its subsidiaries, a
diversified financial services company headquartered in Denver, Colorado. The Company’s operations are
conducted primarily through United Western Bank (“United Western Bank” or the “Bank™), Sterling Trust
Company (“Sterling”), Matrix Financial Services Corporation (“Matrix Financial”), UWBK Fund Management,
Inc., (“Fund Management™), and First Matrix Investment Services Corp. {“First Matrix™), all of which are wholly
owned subsidiaries of the Company.

Subsidiaries

United Western Bank is a federally chartered savings bank that originates commercial real estate, commercial,
residential and commercial construction and development, multifamily, and consumer loans. Within certain of these
loan types the Bank also originates Small Business Administration loans under the 504 and 7(a) program and loans
through the utilization of New Markets Tax Credits. The Bank also offers personal and business depository banking
as well as trust and treasury services. At December 31, 2007, the Bank has four branches in the metropolitan
Denver marketplace (downtown Denver, Boulder, Cherry Creck and Loveland) and loan production offices in Fort
Collins and Aspen.

Sterling is a non-bank trust company specializing in the custody and administration of self-directed individual
retirement accounts, qualified business retirement plans and personal custodial accounts, as well as corporate
escrow and paying agent services.

The Company’s mortgage banking business is primarily conducted through Matrix Financial, and was established
with the primary objective of originating, acquiring and servicing residential mortgage loans. Matrix Financial has
not originated loans since 2003. All servicing functions previously performed by Matrix Financial have been
performed by a third party sub-servicer since December 2004,

Fund Management is a Colorado corporation formed in June 2007, Fund Management is the manager of and an
investor in UWBK Colorado Fund, LLC. UWBK Colorado Fund, LLC, a fund established to invest in mezzanine
debt and equity equivalents of various companies in which the Bank is the senior credit provider.

First Matrix is registered with the FINRA as a fully disclosed broker-dealer. First Matrix, headquartered in Denver,
Colorado, principally acted as the agent for the Bank on the acquisition, brokering, securitization and sale of Small
Business Administration (“SBA™) loans and SBA securities. First Matrix also sells fixed income securities to
institutional customers, including the Bank.

2, Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its majority-
owned and controlled subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation. The accounting and reporting policies of the Company and its subsidiaries conform to accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Ownership interests of 20% or more in non-controlled affiliates are accounted for by the equity method. Other
investments are recorded at cost. The Company follows the accounting guidance in Financial Accounting Standards
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United Western Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Board Interpretation No. 46 (“FIN 467), “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities”, and the revised FIN 46R for
accounting for the Company’s three variable interest entities (“VIEs™), in the form of its wholly-owned subsidiary
trusts that issued capital securities to third-party investors and to certain direct and indirect interests in investment
partnerships, commonly referred to as Trust Preferred securities, discussed more fully in Note 11. As the Company
is not the primary beneficiary of these VIEs, the accounts of these entities are not included in the Company’s
consolidated financial statements,

UWBK Colorado Fund, LLC is a voting interest entity. Voting interest entities are entities in which the total equity
investment at risk is sufficient to enable the entity to finance itself independently and provides the equity holders
with the obligation to absorb losses, the right to receive residual returns and the right to make decisions about the
entity’s activities. The Company consolidated voting interest entities in which it has all, or at least a majority of, the
voting interest. Fund Management owns 44% of UWBK Colorado Fund LLC, accordingly, this ownership interest
is accounted for under the equity method.

Use of Estimates. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions at the
date of the consolidated financial statements that affect the amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosures of
contingent assets and liabilities, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from these estimates. The Company believes that the allowance for credit losses, the
valuation of loans held for sale and the valuation of mortgage servicing rights are particularly subject to change.

Reclassifications, Certain reclassifications have been made to prior years’ consolidated financial statements and
related notes to conform to the current year presentation. These reclassifications had no impact on shareholders’
equity or net income for the periods.

Cash Flow Reporting. Cash equivalents, for purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows, consist of
nonrestricted cash, federal funds sold and interest-earning deposits with banks with original maturities, when
purchased, of three months or less. Net cash flows are reported for loans held for sale, deposit, including custodial
escrow balance transactions, FHLBank borrowings and borrowed money — revolving lines of credit.

Concentrations and Restrictions on Cash and Cash Equivalents. The Company maintains deposits with other
financial institutions in amounts that exceed federal deposit insurance coverage. Furthermore, federal funds sold are
essentially uncollateralized loans to other financial institutions. Management regularly evaluates the credit risk
associated with the counterparties to these transactions and believes that the Company is not exposed to any
significant credit risks on cash and cash equivalents.

The Bank is required to maintain vault cash or balances with the Federal Reserve Bank of Kansas City based on a
percentage of deposit liabilities. The required reserve balance was $1,818,000 and $4,331,000 at December 31,
2007 and 2006, respectively.

Investment Securities. Securities available for sale include mortgage backed securities and a nominal amount of
Small Business Administration guaranteed pooled securities (“SBA securities™). Securities available for sale are
catried at estimated fair value with the change in unrealized gains and losses reported in other comprehensive
income, net of tax, which is included as a separate component in sharcholders® equity. Realized gains and losses on
the sale of available for sale securities are recognized on trade date and are derived from the amortized cost of the
security sold.
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United Western Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Securities held to maturity include mortgage backed securities and SBA securities. Securities are classified as held
to maturity when management has the positive intent and ability to hold the securities to maturity. Securities held to
maturity are carried at amortized cost.

Interest income includes amortization of purchase premiums and discounts. Declines in the fair value of held to
maturity securities and available for sale securitics below their cost if they are deemed to be other-than-temporary
are reflected in earnings as realized losses. In estimating other-than-temporary impairment losses, management
considers among other things, (i) the length of time and the extent to which the fair value has been less than cost,
(1i) the financial condition and near term prospects of the issuer, and (iii) the intent and ability of the Company to
retain its investment in the issuer for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in fair value.

Until 2006, trading securities included SBA securities. Securities were classified as trading securities when they
were created or bought and held principally for the purpose of selling them in the near term. Trading securities
were carried at estimated fair value with the change in unrealized gains and losses reported in other income. In
2006, the Company reclassified SBA trading securities as held to maturity securities after concluding management
had the positive intent and ability to hold the securities to maturity.

The Company purchased the guaranteed portion of SBA loans from third-party lenders and then securitized these
loans into SBA securities through the use of a fiscal and transfer agent approved by the SBA. The certificates were
then sold directly to institutional investors, achieving legal isolation. The process of securitizing SBA loans into
pools of SBA certificates is prescribed by the SBA and must be followed to maintain the SBA guarantee. This
securitization meets the requirements for sale treatment under SFAS No. 140, “Accounting for Transfers and
Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities,” (“SFAS 140”). An SBA approved fiscal and
transfer agent associated with SBA securitizations issues certificates once all the necessary documents to support the
transaction have been provided by the Company. The SBA guarantees the credit risk with respect to the loans sold.
In accordance with SFAS 140, sales of these securitized loans are removed from the balance sheet and a net gain or
loss is recognized in income at the time of initial sale, and each subsequent sale when the combined net sales
proceeds and, if applicable, retained interests differ from the loans’ allocated carrying amount. Net gains or losses
are recorded in noninterest income.

Loans. Loans are reported at the principal balance outstanding net of unearned discounts and purchase premiums.
Interest income on loans is reported on the level-yield method and includes amortization of deferred loan fees,
purchase premiums and costs over the loan term. Net loan commitment fees or costs for commitments are deferred
and amortized into fee income or other expense on a straight-line basis over the commitment period.

The accrual of interest on loans is discontinued when full payment of principal or interest is in doubt, they are past
due 90 days as to either principal or interest or when in management’s opinion, the borrower may be unable to meet
payment obligations as they become due. After a loan is placed on non-accrual status, any interest previously
accrued but not yet collected is reversed against current income. Generally all subsequent payments are applied to
reduce the principal balance. Loans will not be placed back on accrual status unless back interest and principal
payments are made, and future payments are reasonably assured.

Community Bank Loans. Community bank loans include commercial real estate loans, construction and
development loans, commercial loans, multifamily loans and consumer loans. Within this population are loans
originated by the Bank’s SBA division. The majority of community bank loans are originated as assets held for
investment. We presently intend to hold for the foreseeable future or to maturity all community bank loans except
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United Western Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

SBA 504 loans and the guaranteed portions of SBA 7a loans. We generally sell selected SBA 504 loans and the
guaranteed portions of SBA 7a loans on a routine basis. Certain legacy broker-originated multifamily loans
continue to be classified as assets held for sale. At December 31, 2007 and 2006 community bank loans included
multifamily and SBA originated loans totaling $90,911,000 and $60,041,000, respectively that were classified as
loans held for sale. There was no lower-of-cost-or-market valuation allowance for these loans at either period.

Wholesale Loans. Wholesale loans include legacy purchased residential loans and purchased guaranteed portions of
SBA 7a loans. We expect these loans to decline prospectively from repayments and we may elect to accelerate the
decline of these assets via sales. At December 31, 2007 and 2006 wholesale loans included residential loans
totaling $280,598,000 and $386,610,000, respectively that were classified as loans held for sale. As discussed
below there was a valuation allowance to reduce the residential loans to market at December 31, 2007,

Loans Held for Sale. At December 31, 2007 loans held for sale included $280.6 million of wholesale residential
loans, $39.8 million of multifamily loans, and $51.1 million of SBA originated loans. At December 31, 2006 such
balances were $386.6 million, $52.9 million and $7.2 million, respectively. Loans purchased or originated without
the intent to hold to maturity are classified as held for sale. Classes of loans held for sale are carried at the lower of
aggregate cost, net of discounts or premiums and a valuation allowance, or estimated fair market value. Estimated
fair market value is determined using market prices for similar loans, or forward commitments to sell loans or
mortgage backed securities to permanent investors, or current market rates for loans of similar quality and type. Net
unrealized losses, if any, are recognized in a valuation allowance by charges to operations. At December 31, 2007,
and 2006, the Company had $583,000 and $0, respectively, as a valuation allowance to reduce the carrying value of
residential loans held for sale to market value. SFAS No. 91, “Accounting for Nonrefundable Fees and Costs
Associated with Originating or Acquiring Loans and Initial Direct Costs of Leases,” requires discounts or premiums
on loans held for sale be deferred until the related loan is sold. The Company accretes discounts and amortizes
premiums related to repayment of loan principal on its loans held for sale, which is included in interest income.

Loans are considered sold when the Company surrenders control over the transferred assets to the purchaser, with
standard representations and warranties, and when the risks and rewards inherent in owning the loans have been
transferred to the buyer. At such time, the loan is removed from the general ledger and a gain or loss is recorded on
the sale. Gains and losses on loan sales are determined based on the difference between the allocated cost basis of
the assets sold and the proceeds, which includes the fair value of any assets or liabilities that are newly created as a
result of the transaction. Losses related to recourse provisions are accrued as a liability at the time such additional
losses are determined, and recorded as part of noninterest expense. Losses related to asset quality are recorded
against the allowance for credit losses when the loan is considered uncollectible.

Loans Held for Investment. Loans the Company has the intent and ability to hold for the foreseeable future or until
maturity or payofT are classified as held for investment. These loans include community bank loans {commercial
real estate, commercial, residential and commercial construction and development, SBA originated, multifamily and
consumer loans), as well as SBA purchased loans and residential mortgage loans. At December 31, 2007 and 2006
loans held for investment were $893.7 million and $717.8 million, respectively. At December 31, 2007, the
balances of loans held for investment were $615.3 miilion community bank loans, $116.1 million purchased SBA
loans and $162.3 million wholesale residential loans. In comparison, at December 31, 2006, the balance of loans
held for investment was $341.5 million community bank loans, $154.9 million purchased SBA loans and $221.4
million wholesale residential loans.

Allowance for Credif Losses. The allowance for credit losses is a reserve established through a provision for credit
losses charged to expense, which represents management’s estimate of probable credit losses inherent in the loan
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United Western Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

portfolios. The allowance, in the judgment of management, is necessary to reserve for estimated losses inherent in
the loan portfolios. The allowance for credit losses includes allowance allocations calculated in accordance with
SFAS 5, “Accounting for Contingencies,” and SFAS 114, “Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan,” as
amended by SFAS 118. The level of the allowance reflects management’s continuing evaluation of loan loss
experience, specific credit risks, current loan portfolio quality, industry and loan type concentrations, economic and
regulatory conditions and unidentified losses inherent in the loan portfolios, as well as trends in the foregoing.

The allowance for credit losses consists of four components: pools of homogeneous residential loans with similar
risk characteristics, pools of homogenous commercial loans with similar risk characteristics (e.g., multifamily,
construction and development, commercial real estate and commercial), individual loans that are measured for
impairment, and a component representing an estimate of inherent, probable but undetected losses, which also
contemplates the imprecision in the credit risk models utilized to calculate the allowance.

Pools of homogeneous residential loans with similar risk characteristics are assessed for probable losses based on
loss migration analysis where loss factors are updated regularly based on actual experience. The analysis examines
historical loss experience and the related internal gradings of loans charged off. The loss migration analysis also
considers inherent but undetected losses within the portfolio.

Pools of homogeneous commercial loans with similar risk characteristics (ie. multifamily, construction and
development, commercial real estate and commercial) are assessed for probable losses based on loss migration
analysis where loss factors are updated regularly based on our own loss experience, the collective experience of our
credit risk management team, loss rates at selected peer community banks and industry data. The analysis also
incorporates the related internal gradings of loans charged off and other factors, including our asset quality trends
and national and local economic conditions.

The portion of the allowance established for loans measured for impairment reflects expected losses resulting from
analyses developed through specific allocations for individual loans. The Company considers a loan impaired
when, based on current information and events, it is probable that it will be unable to collect all amounts due
according to the contractual terms of the loan. Estimated fair value is typically measured using the fair value of
collateral, as such loans are usually collateral dependent, but may be measured using either the present value of
expected future cash flows discounted using loan rate, or the market price of the loan. All loans considered
impaired are included in nonperforming loans, The Company generally evaluates its residential loans collectively
due to their homogeneous nature; however, individual residential loans may be considered for impairment based on
the facts and circumstances of the loan. Accordingly, potentially impaired loans of the Company may include
residential loans, commercial loans, real estate construction loans, commercial real estate mortgage loans and
multifamily loans classified as nonperforming loans.

The last component of the allowance for credit losses is a portion which represents the estimated inherent but
undetected probable losses and the imprecision in the credit risk models utilized to calculate the allowance. This
component of the allowance is primarily associated with commercial loans (i.e. multifamily, construction and
development, commercial real estate and commercial). The unallocated portion of the allowance for credit losses
reflects the growing Colorado concentration in commercial real estate, construction and development loans, national
multifamily and certain commercial real estate loans for which the migration analysis does not yet reflect a complete
credit cycle due to the overall seasoning of such loans and ongoing uncertainty with respect to other loans in our
community bank and wholesale lending portfolios.
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United Western Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Portions of the allowance may be allocated for specific credits; however, the entire allowance is available for any
credit that, in management’s judgment should be charged off. Loan losses are charged against the allowance when
management considers the loan uncollectible. While management uses its professional judgment and the
information available, the ultimate adequacy of the allowance is dependent upon a variety of factors beyond the
Company’s control, including the performance of the Company’s loan portfolios, national and Colorado economic
conditions, changes in interest rates and other factors.

FHLBank Stock. As a member of the Federal Home Loan Bank system, United Western Bank is required to own
FHLBank stock. The Company carries FHLBank stock at cost, which is equal to its redemption value. Dividends
are credited to interest and dividend income when declared by the FHL.Bank.

Mortgage Servicing Rights. The Company recognizes morigage servicing rights (“MSRs”) as an asset separate
from the underlying originated mortgage loan at the time of sale. Upon sale of a loan, the Company measures
retained MSRs by allocating the previous carrying amount of the originated mortgage loan between the loan and the
servicing right based on their estimated fair values. Purchased MSRs were initially recorded at cost. MSRs are
carried at the lower of cost (allocated cost for originated MSRs), less accumulated amortization, or estimated fair
value. MSRs are amortized in proportion to and over the period of the estimated future net servicing income.

The estimated fair value of MSRs is determined by reference to the discounted future servicing income, as stratified
in accordance with one or more predominant risk characteristics of the underlying loans. The Company stratifies its
MSRs by product type, interest rate and investor to reflect the predominant risk characteristics. To determine the
estimated fair value of MSRs, the Company uses a valuation model that calculates the present value of discounted
future cash flows. In using this valuation model, the Company incorporates assumptions that market participants
would use in estimating future net servicing income, which includes estimates of the cost of servicing per loan,
including incremental interest cost of servicer advances, foreclosure expenses and losses, the discount rate, float
value, an inflation rate, ancillary income per loan, prepayment speeds and default rates. For purposes of performing
an impairment analysis on MSRs, the Company estimates fair value using the following primary assumptions:
average prepayment speeds from 18.6 CPR, (Constant Prepayment Rate, a prepayment speed measurement) ranging
from 5.3 CPR to 63.5 CPR; an average discount rate of 11.89%; with discount rates ranging from 10.50% to
19.00%; and average delinquency of 7.06%, with default rates ranging from 0% to 100%. At December 31, 2007,
the Company’s residential servicing portfolio consists of seasoned loans with an approximate 9.8 year average age,
an average balance of $50,000, and a weighted average note rate of 7.46%.

MSRs are evaluated for impairment in accordance with SFAS 140. The factors discussed in the paragraph above
are used to determine impairment. 1f temporary impairment exists within a risk stratification tranche, a valuation
allowance is established through a charge to income equal to the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the
fair value. Ifit is later determined that all or a portion of the temporary impairment no longer exists for a particular
tranche, the valuation allowance is reduced through a credit to noninterest expense.

MSRs are also reviewed for other-than-temporary impairment. Other-than-temporary impairment exists when the
recoverability of a recorded valuation allowance is determined to be remote, taking into consideration historical and
projected interest rates and loan pay-off activity. When this situation occurs, the unrecoverable portion of the
valuation allowance is applied as a direct write-down to the carrying value of the MSRs. Unlike a valuation
allowance, a direct write-down permanently reduces the carrying value of the MSRs and the valuation allowance,
preventing subscquent recoveries.
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United Western Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, a valuation allowance of $860,000 and $1,950,000, respectively, was required,
and the fair value of the aggregate MSRs was approximately $11,971,000 and $15,399,000, respectively,

Gain on sale of MSRs is recorded when title to MSRs and the risks and rewards inherent in owning the MSRs have
been transferred to the buyer.

Premises and Eguipment. Land is carried at cost. Buildings, leasehold improvements, office fumiture and
equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization is
computed by the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Useful lives range from two to
five years for software, office furniture and equipment, and five to forty years for buildings and building
improvements. Leaschold improvements are amortized over the term of the related lease or the estimated useful
lives of the improvements, whichever is shorter. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred, while
major improvements are capitalized and amortized to operating expense over their identified useful lives.

Foreclosed Real Estate. Residential or commercial assets acquired through loan foreclosure or deed in lieu of loan
foreclosure are held for sale and are initially recorded at the lower of the recorded investment in the asset or the
estimated fair value, less estimated selling costs when acquired, establishing a new cost basis. Costs after acquisition
are generally expensed. If the fair value of the asset declines, a write-down is recorded through expense. The
valuation of foreclosed assets is subjective in nature and may be adjusted in the future because of changes in
economic conditions.

Bank Owned Life Insurance. Bank owned life insurance represents the cash surrender value of life insurance
policies purchased to insure the lives of certain officers and directors of the Bank. Earnings are credited to the
balance and recorded as part of other income in the consolidated statements of income.

Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. The Company reviews long-lived assets to be held and used for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be
recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an
asset to future net undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be
impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets
exceeds the fair value of the assets.

Repurchase Agreements. The Company has sold certain securities under agreements to repurchase. The
agreements are treated as collateralized financing transactions and the obligations to repurchase securities sold are
reflected as a liability in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Custodial and Administration Services Income. Custodial and administration services income represents fees
earned related to services provided for self-directed individual retirement accounts, qualified benefit plans and
escrow arrangements. Custodial and administration services income is recognized over the contract period in
proportion to when the services are performed.

Loan Administration Income. Loan administration income represents service fees and other income earned from
servicing loans for various investors. Loan administration income includes service fees that are based on a
contractual percentage of the outstanding principal balance plus late fees and other ancillary charges. Service fees
on loans and all other income are recognized when the related payments are received.

New Markets Tax Credits. Monetization of New Markets Tax Credits (“NMTC”) 1s included in other income.
Utilization of New Markets Tax Credits by the Company reduces our income tax expense, NMTC are awarded
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

under a program administered by the Community Development Financial Institutions Fund, a division of the United
States Department of Treasury. NMTC projects promote economic development and contribute to the enhancement
of the communities served by the projects. The NMTC Program permits the Company to claim a credit against
federal income taxes for each qualified equity investment made to a designated community development entity. The
Company receives a 39% tax credit over a seven year period. In 2004, the Bank made a $12.6 million qualifying
equity investment in a 99.99% owned subsidiary, Community Development Funding 1, LLC (“CDF I”). In 2005
and 2006, the Bank made $11 million and $10 million, respectively, qualifying equity investments in a 99.99%
owned subsidiary, Charter Facilities Funding 1V, LLC (“CFF IV”). The financial position and results of operations
of CDF I and CFF 1V are included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. In connection with the
qualified equity investments, the Company claimed net federal income tax credits of $1.1 million, $1.0 million and
$648,000, for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively, which are included as a
component of income tax provision (benefit) in the consolidated income statements.

NMTC may also be monetized via sale to third parties. The Company has established subsidiary LLC entities that
serve as single purpose vehicles to facilitate the funding of NMTC eligible loans to qualified entities. The Company
created Charter Facilities Funding I, LLC, Charter Facilities Funding II, LLC and Charter Facilities Funding V,
LLC, (“CFF I, Il and V*) of which the Company is the 0.01% owner and managing member and an unrelated party
is the 99.99% owner and non-managing member. The Company accounts for CFF I, IT and V under the equity
method of accounting as CFF I, I and V do not meet the criteria under FIN 46R, “Consolidation of Variable
Interest Entities” and do not meet the requirements of EITF 04-05 “Determining Whether a General Partner, ot the
General Partners as a Group, Controls a Limited Partnership or Similar Entity When the Limited Partners Have
Certain Rights.” CFF 1, Il and V are accounted for under the equity method because the non-managing member has
approved the selection and compensation of the managing member, and has certain termination rights. The non-
managing member has the authority to not only approve operating and capital decisions, the non-managing member
has identified and continues to service the sole investment made by the entity. Any and all future investments
require approval from the non-managing member. Finally, profits and losses are allocated to the members in
accordance with their respective percentage ownerships and the managing member does not have the unlimited
liability that a general partner in a limited partnership would incur.

The Company received a structuring fee in connection with the monetization of the NMTC and also receives
ongoing management fees in equal installments over the seven year tax credit period. During the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company recognized structuring fees of $2.2 million and $278,000, respectively,
and ongoing management fees of $94,000, $97,000 and 30, for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. These fees were included in other noninterest income. The Company recognizes the structuring fee as
received as the NMTC transferred to the purchaser has value to the buyer on a standalone basis and there is
objective and reliable evidence of the fair value of the remaining ongoing services to be performed. After the
structuring of the transaction, the ongoing obligation of the Company is to prepare and file tax returns, obtain an
annual audit and maintain the tax qualification of the entity.

Stock-Based Compensation. Prior to January 1, 2006, employee compensation expense under stock option plans
was reported only if options were granted below market price at grant date in accordance with the intrinsic value
method of Accounting Principles Board Opinion (APB) No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and
related interpretations. Because the exercise price of the Company’s employee stock options always equaled the
market price of the underlying stock on the date of grant, no compensation expense was recognized on options
granted. The Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment (Revised 2004)” (“SFAS
123R”), on January 1, 2006. SFAS 123R eliminates the ability to account for stock-based compensation using
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APB 25 and requires that such transactions be recognized as compensation cost in the statements of income based
on their fair values on the measurement date, which, for the Company, is the date of the grant. The Company
transitioned to fair-value based accounting for stock-based compensation using a modified version of prospective
application {the “modified prospective application’). Under the modified prospective application, as it is applicable
to the Company, SFAS 123R applies to new awards and to awards modified, repurchased, or cancelled after
January 1, 2006. As of December 31, 2005, there were 2,000 options outstanding under the stock-based employee
compensation plan, all of which expired January 9, 2006, and all of which were at a strike price that exceeded the
market price of the shares. No compensation expense was recorded for those options.

SFAS No. 123R requires pro forma disclosures of net income and earnings per share for all periods prior to the
adoption of the fair value accounting method for stock-based employee compensation. The pro forma disclosures
presented in Note 14 use the fair value method of SFAS 123 to measure compensation expense for stock-based
employee compensation plans for years prior to 2006,

Subaccounting Fees. Subaccounting fees represent fees paid to a third party to service depository accounts on
behalf of the Bank. Such fees are paid to third parties that provide custodial and institutional deposits to the Bank.

Income From Discontinued Operations, net of Income Taxes. Income from discontinued operations, net of
income taxes for 2005 and 2006 includes the results of Matrix Bancorp Trading, Inc, which is discussed in Note 23.
“Discontinued Operations — Sale of Assets of Matrix Bancorp Trading, Inc.,” and the results of ABS School
Services, LLC, which is discussed in Note 24, “Discontinued Operations — Sale of ABS School Services, LLC.”

Income Taxes. Income tax expense is the total of the current year income tax due or refundable and the change in
deferred tax assets and liabilities (excluding deferred tax assets and liabilities related to components of other
comprehensive income). Deferred tax assets and liabilities are the expected future tax amounts for the temporary
differences between carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities, computed using enacted tax rates. A
valuation allowance, if needed, reduces deferred tax assets to the expected amount most likely to be realized.
Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of a sufficient level of future taxable income and
recoverable taxes paid in prior years. Although realization is not assured, management believes it is more likely
than not that all of the deferred tax assets will be realized.

The Company and its subsidiaries file consolidated federal and state income tax returns. The subsidiaries are
charged for the taxes applicable to their profits calculated on the basis of filing separate income tax returns. The
Bank qualifies as a savings and loan association for income tax purposes.

Income Per Common Share. Basic income per common share from continuing operations is computed by dividing
income from continuing operations by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period.
Net income per common share assuming dilution is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding for the year and the effect of potentially dilutive securities. Potentially
dilutive securities include stock options and non-vested stock awards granted using the treasury stock method. Basic
and diluted income per common share from discontinued operations is computed by dividing income from
discontinued operations by the weighted average number of common shares for the year, and the effect of
potentially dilutive securities. A reconciliation of the weighted-average shares used in calculating basic eamings
per common share and the weighted average shares used in calculating diluted earnings per common share for the
reported periods is provided in Note 3.
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Comprehensive Income. Comprehensive income includes all changes in sharcholders’ equity during a period,
except those resulting from transactions with sharcholders. Besides net income, other components of the
Company’s comprehensive income includes after tax effect of change in net unrealized gains and losses on
securities available-for-sale. Comprehensive income is reported as a separate component of shareholders’ equity on
the consolidated balance sheet and in the statements of changes in shareholders’ equity.

Derivative Financial Instruments. The Company’s hedging policies permit the use of various derivative financial
instruments to manage interest rate risk or to hedge specified assets and liabilities. At December 31, 2007 and 2006,
there were no stand alone derivative financial instruments and no instruments that required bifurcation from the
underlying host contract, which would have required reporting such instruments at fair value on the Company’s
balance sheet. The Company may be required to recognize certain contracts and commitments as derivatives when
the characteristics of those contracts and commitments meet the definition of a derivative.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments. Fair values of financial instruments are estimated using relevant market
information and other assumptions. Fair value estimates involve uncertaintics and matters of significant judgment
regarding interest rates, credit risk, prepayments, and other factors, especially in the absence of broad markets for
particular items. Changes in assumptions or in market conditions could significantly affect the estimates.

3. Net Income Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic net income per share and net income per share, assuming
dilution:

Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005
(Dollars in thousands)

Numerator:

Income from continuing operations, net of tax 3 10,141 § 9213 $ 138

Income from discontinued operations, net of tax - 1,743 h 1,420

Net income $ 10,141 § 11656 § 1,558
Denominator;

Weighted average shares outstanding 7,247,636 1,791,516 6,943,480
Effect of dilutive securities:

Common stock options and non-vested stock awards 19,251 - 92,648
Denominator for net income per share, assuming dilution 7,266,887 7,791,516 7,036,128
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4, Investment Securities

Investment securities available for sale were as follows:

December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006
Gross Gross Estimated Gross Gross Estimated Fair
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Value
Cost Gains Losses Value Cost Gains Losses
(Dollars in thousands)

Mortgage-backed

securities — agency 5 3272 513 b (35) $ 3250 § 5044 $ 14 5 (39) § 5019
Mortgage-backed

securities — private 47,413 - (4,160) 43,253 47436 203 - 47,639
Collateralized morigage

obligations — private 40,601 184 (53) 40,732 88,827 107 (56) 88,878
SBA securities 442 — (1) 441 607 3 - 610
Total $ 91,728 $ 197 $ (4,249 $ 87,676 3 141,914 § 327 $ (95 § 142,146

Realized gains (losses) on the sale of securities available for sale, included in gain on sale of loans and securities in

the consolidated statements of income, as determined by specific identification, were approximately $98,000,
$274,000 and $(122,000} for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2003, respectively.

Investrnent securities held to maturity were as follows:

December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006
Gross Gross Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated Amoprtized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Valne Cost Gains Losses Fair Yalue
(Dollars in thousands)
Mortgage-backed
securities — private $ 187922 $ 819 $ (1,286) $ 187455 $ 228,060 $ 345 § (1,263) § 227,142
Collateralized morigage
obligations — private 323,316 598 {3,742) 320,172 384,279 143 4,612) 379810
SBA securities 62,867 - {2,185) 60,682 84,494 51 {78) 84,467
Tatal § 574,105 § 1417 $ (7.213) § 568,309 $ 696,833 $ 539 $ (5953 $ 691419
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The amortized cost and estimated fair value of investment securities by contractual maturity at December 31, 2007
are as follows:

Available for Sale Held to Maturity
Amortized Cost Estimated Fair Value Amortized Cost Estimated Fair Value
(Dollars in thousands)
Within 1 year $ - 3 - $ - 5 -
Over | year through 5 years - - - -
After 5 years through 10 years - - 6,387 6,170
Qver 10 years 442 441 56,480 54,512
SBA securities 442 441 62,867 60,682
Mortgage-backed securities 91,286 87,235 511,238 507,627
Total $ 91,728 $ 87,676 3 574,105 $ 568,309

At September 30, 2006, the Company transferred SBA securities with a carrying value of $90,074,000 from trading
securities to investment securities held to maturity.

The net (loss) gain on trading securities, included in gain on sale of loans and securities in the consolidated
statements of income was approximately $0, $(441,000), and $613,000 for the years ended December 31, 2007,
2006 and 2005, respectively.

The Company expects to receive payments on investment securities over periods that are considerably shorter than
the contractual maturities of the securities, which range up to 30 years, due to prepayments.

At December 31, 2007, the Company owned mortgage-backed securities from 18 issuers, excluding U.S. Treasury
and federal agency debentures and other U.S. Government sponsored agency securities. There were 13 of these 18
issuers in which the Company owned securities with an unpaid principal balance in excess of 10% of its equity
capital. These securities are approximately 99.3% AAA or AA rated with the remainder in A rated CRA securities.
The mortgage-backed portfolio is comprised of approximately 13% underlying Alt-A collateral, the remaining 87%
is A collateral. As of December 31, 2007, none of the securities owned by the Company have been downgraded by
one of the credit rating agencies.

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, mortgage-backed securities with a carrying value of $3,545,000 and $1,911,000,
respectively, were pledged to secure public deposits and for other purposes required or permitted by law,

The following table presents information pertaining to securities available for sale and held to maturity with gross

unrealized losses aggregated by investment category and length of time that individual securities have been in
continuous loss position as follows:
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December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006
Less than 12 Months 12 Months or More 1.ess than 12 Months 12 Months or More
Estimated Unrealized Estimated  Unrealized Estimated Unrealized Estimated Unrealized
Fair Value Losses Fair Yalue Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Laosses

(Dollars in thousands)
Mortgage-backed
securities — agency,

available for sale $ 653 $ N § 1939 5 (28) $ 1,135 § A3 $ 2337 5 (26

Mortgage-backed

securities — private,

available for sale 43,253 {4,160) - - - - -
Collateralized

mortgage

obligations —

private, available

for sale 7,272 (36) 7,619 17) 44,766 (56) -
SBA securities,

available for sale 261 (1) - - - - -
Mortgage-backed

securities — private,

held to maturity 36,789 (396) 70,130 (850) 77,081 (436) 85,266 (827)

Collateralized
mortgage
obligations —
private, held to

maturity 85,011 (290) 128,717 (3,452) 107,288 (400) 201,777 (4,212)

SBA securities,
held to maturity 43,613 {1,391} 17,069 (794) 68,331 (78) -

Total $216,852 $ (6,081) $225.474  $ (5,181) $ 298,601 $ (983) $289380 8§ (5,065)

Management evaluates securities for other-than-temporary impairment at least on a quarterly basis, and more
frequently when economic or market conditions warrant such evaluation. In estimating other-than-temporary
impairments losses, management considers, among other things, (i) the length of time and the extent to which the
fair value has been less than cost, (it) the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer, and (iii} the
intent and ability of the Company to retain its investment in the issuer for a period of time sufficient to allow for any
anticipated recovery in fair value.

Management has the intent and ability to hold the securities classified as held to maturity until they mature, at which
time the Company will receive full value for the securities. Furthermore, at December 31, 2007, management also
had the intent and ability to hold the securities classified as available for sale for a period of time sufficient for a
recovery of cost. The unrealized losses are largely due to increases in market interest rates over the yield available
at the time when the underlying securities were purchased. The fair value is expected to recover as the bonds
approach their maturity date, or repricing date or if market yield for such investments decline. Management does
not believe any of the securities are impaired due to reasons of credit quality. Accordingly, at December 31, 2007,
based on management’s belief that the impairments detailed in the table above are temporary, no impairment loss
has been recognized in the Company’s consolidated statement of income.
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5. Loans

Community Bank Loans

Community bank loans consist of the following:
December 31,

2007 2006
(Dollars in thousands)
Commercial real estate $ 305,590 $ 225483
Construction and development 256,542 87,308
Commercial 88,126 24 897
SBA originated, guaranteed portions 5,602 7,171
Multifamily 48,381 54,464
Consumer 3,822 2,845
Premium, net 709 463
Unearned fees (2,527) (1,149)
706,245 401,482
Less: altowance for credit losses 8,513 6,216
Community bank loans, net $ 697,732 $ 395266

Activity in the allowance for credit losses on community bank loans is summarized as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
(Dollars in thousands)
Balance at beginning of year $ 6216 % 4730 3 4,877
Provision for credit losses 2,406 2,782 1,256
Charge-offs (348) (1,669) (1,503)
Recoveries 239 373 100
Balance at end of year $ 8,513 3 6,216 $ 4,730

Community bank loans on nonaccrual were $1,709,000 and $1,961,000 at December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively. Guaranteed portions of SBA loans included in those totals were $557,000 and $1,017,000 at
December 31, 2007 and 2006.

Included in nonaccrual loans were impaired loans, as defined under SFAS No. 114, “Accounting by Creditors for
Impairment of a Loan,” totaling $0 and $265,000 at December 31, 2007 and 2006 respectively, all of which have a
specific valuation allocated to the loan. The majority of the loans deemed impaired were evaluated using the fair
value of the collateral as the measurement method. The related allowance allocated to impaired loans for 2007 and
2006 was 30 and $166,000, respectively. There was no interest recognized in 2007 or 2006 on loans while they
were considered impaired.
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Wholesale Loans

Wholesale loans consist of the following:

December 31,
2007 2006
{Dollars in thousands)

Residential _ 3 441954 5 604,691
Premium, net 1,518 1,996
Fair value adjustment (583) -
SBA purchased, guaranteed portions 106,721 143,617
Premium on SBA purchased, guaranteed portions 9,364 12,697
558,974 763,001

Less: allowance for credit losses .1,925 2,546
Wholesale loans, net $ 557,049 $ 760455

Activity in the allowance for credit losses on wholesale loans is summarized as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005

(Dollars in thousands)

Balance at beginning of year $ 2,546 $ 5,267 3 6,295
Provision for credit losses 45 (441) 409
Charge-offs (673) (527) (1,549)
Transfer - school financing allowance sold - (1,791) -
Recoveries 7 38 112
Balance at end of year $ 1,925 5 2.546 $ 5,267

Transfer - school financing allowance sold for the year ended December 31, 2006 includes the allowance included
int the sale of assets of ABS Schoaol Services, LLC, discussed further in Note 24 below.

The following lists information related to nonperforming wholesale loans:

December 31,

2007 2006

{Dollars in thousands)
Residential loans 3 7873 &% 5,859
SBA guaranteed purchased loans 893 578
Total nonperforming wholesale loans b} 8766 % 6,437

The Company continues to accrue interest on government-sponsored loans such as Federal Housing Administration
(“FHA") insured and Department of Veterans’ Affairs (“VA") guaranteed loans which are past due 90 or more
days, as the majority of the interest on these loans is insured or guaranteed by the federal government. The
aggregate unpaid principal balance of government-sponsored accruing loans that were past due 90 or more days was
$5.356,000 and $9,083,000 as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Interest income that would have been recorded for all nonaccrual loans was approximately $483,000, $700,000 and
$875,000 for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 respectively.
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Concentrations of Credit. The Bank’s residential loans are located throughout the 50 states with concentrations
above 5.0% at December 31, 2007 in California, Illinois, Georgia, and Florida of approximately 36.7%, 8.0%,
71.3%, and 5.3%, respectively, based on aggregate outstanding unpaid principal balances of the loans. Loans in
which real estate is the primary source of collateral total $1.156 billion, or 91%, of the total loan portfolio. Most of
the Company’s ongoing lending activity occurs within the State of Colorado, including principally the Colorado
Front Range and selected mountain communities. At December 31, 2007, loans originated with Colorado collateral
totaled approximately $516 million, or 41%, of the total loan portfolio. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, there were
no concentrations of loans related to any single industry in excess of 109% of total loans.

6. Premises and Equipment

Premises and equipment consist of the following:
December 31,

2007 2006

(Dollars in thousands)
Land $ 3480 % 1,305
Buildings 7.818 3,269
Leasehold improvements 1,143 808
Office furniture and equipment 12,062 10,224

24,503 15,606
Less accumulated depreciation 7,554 7,015
Premises and equipment, net 3 16,949 $ 8,591

Included in occupancy and equipment expense is depreciation expense of premises and equipment of approximately
$1,365,000, $2,003,000 and $2,065,000 for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2003, respectively.

7. Mortgage Servicing Rights

The activity in the mortgage servicing rights (*“MSRs”) is summarized as follows:
Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005

{Dollars in thousands)

Mortgage servicing rights

Balance at beginning of year $ 17,349 $ 22,934 $ 29980

Purchases - 98 -

Originations 61 135 788

Amortization (3,489) (5,810) (7.764)
Sales - (8) (70)
Application of valuation allowance to write down

permanently impaired MSRs {1,090) - ~
Balance before valuation allowance at end of year 12,831 17,349 22,934

Valuation allowance for impairment of mortgage
servicing rights

Balance at beginning of year (1,950) (2,226) (3,406)
Additions - - {(230)
Application of valuation allowance to write down
permanently impaired MSRs 1,080 - -
Recovery - 276 1,410
Balance at end of year (860) (1,950) (2,226)
Mortgage servicing rights, net $ 1197t $ 15399 $ 20,708
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The estimated aggregate amortization of the Company’s MSR’s for each of the next five years ending December 31,
2008, 2009, 2010, 201, and 2012 is $3,388,000, $2,785,000, $2,274,000, $1,865,000 and $1,534,000, respectively.
The estimated amortization is based on several assumptions as of December 31, 2007, with the most significant
being the anticipated prepayment speeds of the underlying mortgages. The actual prepayment speeds of the
underlying mortgage loans may differ materially from the estimated prepayment speed, so that the actual
amortization may be significantly different than the amounts estimated.

The Company’s servicing portfolio (excluding subserviced loans) is comprised of the following:

December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006
Principal Principal
Number Balance Number Balance

of Loans Outstanding of Loans  Qutstanding
(Dollars in thousands)

Freddie Mac 2209 % 71,231 2,903 $ 98555
Fannie Mae 7,091 359,799 8,732 443,719
Ginnie Mae 5,607 298,533 6,716 367,712
VA, FHA, conventional and other

loans 3,969 325,555 5,115 403,078
Total servicing portfolio 18,876  § 1,061,118 23466 $ 1,313,064

The Company’s servicing activity is diversified throughout 50 states with concentrations at December 31, 2007, in
Missouri, Texas, New Mexico, Illinois, and California of approximately 15%, 14%, 12%, 11%, and 8%
respectively, based on aggregate outstanding unpaid principal balances of the mortgage loans serviced. As of
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, the Company subserviced loans for others of approximately $5,942,000,
$7,059,000 and $11,373,000, respectively.

The Company’s custodial escrow balances shown in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets at
December 31, 2007 and 2006 pertain to payments held in escrow in respect of taxes and insurance and the float on
principal and interest payments on loans serviced and owned by the Company. The custodial accounts are
maintained at the Bank in noninterest-bearing accounts. The balance of the custodial accounts fluctuates from
month to month based on the pass-through of the principal and interest payments to the ultimate investors and the
timing of taxes and insurance payments.
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8. Deposits
Depaosit account balances are summarized as follows:
December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006
Percent of Weighted Percent of Weighted
Total Average Total Average
Amount  Deposits Rate Amount  Deposits Rate
{Dollars in thousands)
Savings accounts $ 148 0.01% 1.04% $ 115 0.01% 1.28%
NOW and DDA accounts 686,867 49.58 0.47 604,821 44.95 0.63
Money market accounts 668,483 48.25 2.19 705,371 52.41 2.78.
Subtotal 1,355,498 97.84 1.32 1,310,307 97.37 1.79
Certificate accounts 29,983 2.16 4.21 35,374 2.63 3.87
Total Deposits 51,385,481  100.00% 1.05% $1,345,681  100.00% 1.84%

Included in NOW and DDA accounis are noninterest-bearing DDA accounts of $225,837,000 and $190,193,000 at
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Included in certificate accounts are approximately $13,025,000 and $25,708,000 of brokered deposits as of
December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively.

Contractual maturities of certificate accounts as of December 31, 2007 are as follows:

Under 12 months 12 to 36 months 36 to 60 months Total
{Dollars in thousands)
3.00-3.99% $ 15,115 3 50 $ - $ 15,165
4.00-4.95% 5,561 2,395 53 8,009
5.00-5.99% 6,167 191 - 6,358
6.00-6.99% 451 - — 451

§ 27294 3 2,636 $ 53§ 29983

The following table presents concentrations of deposits at the Bank for the periods presented:

December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006
(Dollars in thousands)
Sterling Trust Company $ 404,615 $ 372,716
" Matrix Financial Solutions, Inc. 236,435 195,249
Legent Clearing LLC 163,527 118,844
Other Deposit Concentrations 478,575 573,850

Sterling Trust Company ~ represents fiduciary assets under administration by Sterling, a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company; that are in NOW, demand and money market accounts. Included in this balance at Sterling is a
series of accounts for one life settlement agent for special asset acquisitions and administration with a balance of
$103,830,000 and $54,356,000 at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively, Management has
clected to restructure this relationship and terminate certain elements of business with respect to this large life
settlement agent account. If Sterling cannot replace this business with deposits from other clients the aggregate
deposits directed to the Bank by Sterling could decline materially in 2008,

Matrix Financial Solutions, Inc. (“MFSI”) — represents customer assets under administration by MFSI that are in
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NOW and money market accounts, The Company owns an approximate 7% interest in MFSI, which is accounted
for using the cost method. The Bank provided three lending facilities to MFSI, an overdraft line, term note, and
revolving line of credit, in the amounts of $10 million, $2 million and $2,552,000, respectively. At December 31,
2007, there was $1,009,000 outstanding on the term note and no amounts outstanding on the other two lines.

Legent Clearing, LLC - represents institutional deposits received through Legent Clearing, LLC, that are in NOW
and money market accounts. The Company’s Chairman of the Board holds an indirect minority interest in Legent
Clearing, LLC.

Other Deposit Concentrations — represents deposit funds from three and six institutional relationships maintained by
the Bank as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Included in other deposit concentrations is one
institutional relationship with balances of $455,862,000 and $46l,643_,000 at December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively.

Interest expense on deposits is summarized as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005
(Dollars in thousands)
Savings accounts 3 2 3 3 $ 5
NOW accounts 4621 3,238 1,169
Money market accounts 21,138 17,112 10,621
Certificate accounts 1,381 2,389 4,088
Interest expense on deposits $ 27,142 % 2277142 % 15,883

The aggregate amount of certificate accounts with a batance greater than $100,000 (excluding brokered deposits)
was approximately $12,006,000 and $6,553,000 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

9. Borrowed Money

Borrowed money is summarized as follows:
December 31,
2007 2006
{Dollars in thousands)

One year advancing line converting to an amortizing term note payable to
a third party financial institution, with annual equal principal payments
beginning June 29, 2008 through June 29, 2012, collateralized by the
common stock of the Bank; interest at 30 day LIBOR plus 1.25% (6.27%
at December 31, 2007), $14,000,000 available at December 31, 2007
$ 6000 % -
Revolving line of credit to a third party financial institution, through June
29, 2008, renewable annually, collateralized by the common stock of the
Bank; interest at 30 day LIBOR plus 1.25%; (6.27% at December 31,
2007), $0 available at December 31, 2007 5,000 -
Subordinated debt securities, interest payments due quarterly at three-
month LIBOR plus 2.75% (7.73% at December 31, 2007), maturing

February 13, 2014 10,000 10,000
Assets sold under agreements to repurchase:
Company structured repurchase agreements 75,000 50,000
Customer repurchase agreements 1,428 -
Total $ 97428 § 60,000
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The first item above is a $20 million advancing line facility that converts 10 an amortizing term loan on June 29,
2008. The second item above is a $5 million companion revolving line of credit facility. Both facilities are
collateralized by all of the outstanding stock of the Bank. The Company must comply with certain financial and
other covenants related to the foregoing credit agreement including, among other things, the maintenance by the
Bank of specific asset quality ratios, and “well capitalized” regulatory capital ratios. Also, the credit agreement
limits the Company’s ability to incur additional debt above specified levels. At December 31, 2007, the Company
was in compliance with all such covenants.

Assets sold under agreements to repurchase are agreements in which the Company acquires funds by selling
securities to another party under a simultanecus agreement to repurchase the same securities at a specified price and
date. The Company’s structured repurchase agreements each contain an option that is held by the counterparty to
terminate the agreement on the call date or quarterly thereafter. The Company enters into repurchase agreements
and also offers a demand deposit account product to customers that sweeps their balances in excess of an agreed
upon target amount into overnight repurchase agreements.

The Company structured repurchase agreements at December 31, 2007 are as follows:

Counterparty JP Morgan JP Morgan Citigroup
Principal Balance 5 25,000,000 $ 25,000,000 $ 25,000,000
Base interest rate 4.70% 4.76% 4.49%
Stated maturity date ~ September 28, 2011 November 21, 2011  February 21, 2012
Call date September 28, 2008 November 21, 2008 November 21, 2008

The two structured repurchase agreements with JP Morgan Chase Bank, NA contain embedded floor options,
These options result in a cost of this debt for the first two years of the lesser of the base interest rate of the
borrowing, or the base interest rate of the borrowing minus the amount, if any, by which 3 month LIBOR is less
than the strike price set forth in the agreements; however, the rate may not fall below zero. At December 31, 2007,
CMO securities with a current balance of $83.1 million were pledged to collateralize these repurchase agreements.

As of December 31, 2007, the maturities of borrowed money are as follows:

(Dollars in thousands)

2008 $ 6428
2011 50,000
2012 31,000
Thereafter 10,000

$ 97428

10. FHLBank Borrowings

United Western Bank obtains FHLBank borrowings from FHLBank of Topeka, which is the FHLBank that serves
Denver, Colorado, and utilizes FHLBank of Topeka as its primary correspondent bank. Prior to the Bank’s change
of domicile in 2002, borrowings were obtained from FHLBank of Dallas. Certain long-term borrowings that
existed at that time with FHLBank of Dallas are still outstanding under their original terms.

F-28




United Western Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

The balances of FHLBank borrowings are as follows:
December 31,

2007 2006
{Dollars in thousands)
FHLBank of Topeka borrowings $ 379300 $ 492,500
FHLBank of Dallas borrowings 26,829 26,931

$ 406,129 § 519431

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, borrowings of $199,300,000 and $362,500,000 had maturities of one week or less
at FHLBank of Topeka. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, borrowings of $186,000,000 and $146,000,000 were
borrowed under Convertible Advance (CA) and Short Option Advance (SOA)} agreements with the FHLBank.
Borrowings of $20,000,000 and $10,000,000 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, were under fixed rate agreements.
The CA and SOA borrowings require the payment of interest monthly and principal at maturity. These CA and
SOA borrowings have a term of up to ten years, but are callable quarterly at the option of the FHLBank beginning
after a six month to three year lockout period depending on the particular CA and SOA borrowing. If the FHLBank
exercises its call option on a CA or SOA borrowing, the FHLBank is required to offer replacement funding to
United Western Bank at a market rate of interest for the remaining term of the CA or SOA borrowing. If United
Western Bank elected to prepay a callable CA and SOA borrowing prior to the final maturity date FHL.Bank would
charge a fee at its discretion for this prepayment, which generally makes the election cost prohibitive. At December
31, 2007, the possible call dates varied from March 12, 2008 to November 16, 2009. At December 31, 2007 and
2006, Community Investrnent advances of $829,000 and $931,000, respectively, were borrowed under a fixed term
and rate and mature June 2, 2014. All advances are secured by first lien mortgage loans, pledged mortgage backed
and SBA pooled securities, the FHLBank stock owned by United Western Bank and any funds on deposit with the
FHIL.Bank.

As of December 31, 2007, the maturities of FHLBank borrowings are as follows:

{Dollars in thousands)

2008 $ 375,300
2009 30,000
2010 -
2011 _
2012 -
Thereafter 829

$ 406,129

The Bank is on blanket collateral status at FHLB - Topeka, which requires the Bank to identify yet maintain in its
possession loan collateral pledged at FHLB - Topeka. As of December 31, 2007, first lien residential mortgages of
$359,050,000 were pledged to FHLB - Topeka. Mortgage-backed and SBA pooled securities in the custody of
FHLE - Topeka with a current balance of $497,638,000 were also pledged for borrowings. Tatal FHLB - Topeka
borrowings at December 31, 2007 were $379,300,000, and the Bank had available unused borrowing capacity from
FHLB - Topeka of approximately $309,223,000. The Bank is on full custody status at FHLB - Dallas, which
requires the Bank to place loan collateral at the FHLB - Dallas. As of December 31, 2007, first lien residential
mortgages of $44,126,000 were pledged for $26,829,000 outstanding FHLB - Dallas borrowings.
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11. Junior Subordinated Debentures Owed te Unconsolidated Subsidiary Trusts and Corporation-Obligated
Mandatorily Redeemable Capital Securities of Subsidiary Trusts Holding Solely Debentures of the Company

On June 8, 2007, the Company redeemed $5.2 million of junior subordinated debentures issued by Matrix Bancorp
Capital Trust IV due December 8, 2031, As a result of this redemption, the Company incurred a $131,000 expense
during the second quarter of 2007 related to the write-off of the unamortized debt issuance costs. Concurrently, $5
million of trust preferred securities were redeemed.

On July 25, 2007, the Company redeemed $15.5 million of junior subordinated debentures issued by Matrix
Bancorp Capital Trust III, due July 25, 2031 and redeemed the $5.2 million of junior subordinated debentures,
issued by Matrix Bancorp Capital Trust V, due January 25, 2032, As a result of these two redemptions, the
Company incurred $1,356,000 in expense during the third quarter of 2007 related to a prepayment penalty on Trust
I, and the write-off of the unamortized debt issuance costs on both debentures. Concurrently, $20 million of trust
preferred securities were also redeemed.

At December 31, 2007 the Company has three remaining trusts, Matrix Bancorp Capital Trust II, Matrix Bancorp
Capttal Trust VI and Matrix Bancorp Capital Trust VIIL, of which 100% of the common equity is owned by the
Company. The trusts were formed for the purpose of issuing corporation-obligated mandatorily redeemable capital
securities (the “capital securities”) to third-party investors and investing the proceeds from the sale of such capital
securities solely in junior subordinated debt securities of the Company (the “debentures™). The debentures held by
each trust are the sole assets of that trust. Distributions on the capital securities issued by each trust are payable
semiannually or quarterly at a rate per annum equal to the interest rate being earned by the trust on the debentures
held by that trust. The capital securities are subject to mandatory redemption, in whole or in part, upon repayment of
the debentures. The Company has entered into agreements which, taken collectively, fully and unconditionally
guarantee the capital securities subject to the terms of each of the guarantees. The debentures held by the trusts are
redeemable as noted below. Junior Subordinated Debentures Owed to Unconsolidated Subsidiary Trusts and
Corporation-Obligated Mandatorily Redeemable Capital Securities of Subsidiary Trusts Helding Solely Debentures
of the Company are summarized as follows:

December 31,
2007 2006

(Dollars in thousands)

Junior Subordinated Debentures Owed to Unconsolidated Subsidiary Trusts
Junior subordinated debentures owed to Matrix Bancorp Capital Trust 11, 10.18% junior
subordinated debentures payable semi-annually, unsecured and maturing June 8,2031  § 12,400 3 12,400
Junior subordinated debentures owed to Matrix Bancorp Capital Trust II1, 10.25% junior
subordinated debentures payable semi-annually, redeemed July 25, 2007 - 15,464
Junior subordinated debentures owed to Matrix Bancorp Capital Trust IV, six-month
LIBOR plus 3.75% junior subordinated debentures payable semi-annually, redeemed
June 8, 2007
Junior subordinated debentures owed to Matrix Bancorp Capital Trust V, six-month
LIBOR plus 3.625% junior subordinated debentures payable semi-annually, redeemed )
July 25, 2007 - 5,155
Junior subordinated debentures owed to Matrix Bancorp Capital Trust VI, interest fixed at
6.425% through October 2009, then three-month LIBOR plus 2.50%, junior
subordinated debentures payable quarterly, unsecured and maturing October 18, 2034 10,310 10,310
Junior subordinated debentures owed to Matrix Bancorp Capital Trust VIII, interest fixed
at 5.86% through July 2010, then three-month LIBOR plus 1.69%, junior subordinated
debentures payable quarterly, unsecured and maturing July 7, 2035 7,732 7,732
Total $ 30442 $ 56216

5,155
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On March 28, 2001, Matrix Bancorp Capital Trust II (“Trust 1I”), a Delaware business trust formed by the
Company, completed the sale of $12,000,000 of 10.18% preferred securities. Trust II also issued common
securities to the Company and used the net proceeds from the offering to purchase $12,400,000 in principal amount
of 10.18% junior subordinated debentures of the Company due June 8, 2031. The preferred securities accrue and
pay distributions semi-annually at an annual rate of 10.18% of the stated liquidation amount of $1,000 per preferred
security. The Company has fully and unconditionally guaranteed all of the obligations of Trust Il under the
preferred securities. The guarantee covers the semi-annual distributions and payments on liquidation or redemption
of the preferred securities, but only to the extent of funds held by Trust II. The preferred securities are mandatorily
redeemable upon the maturity of the junior subordinated debentures or upon earlier redemption as provided in the
indenture. The Company has the right to redeem the junior subordinated debentures, in whole or in part, on or after
June 8, 2011, at a redemption price specified in the indenture plus any accrued but unpaid interest to the redemption
date.

On August 30, 2004, Matrix Bancorp Capital Trust VI (“Trust VI”), a Delaware business trust formed by the
Company, completed the sale of $10,000,000 of preferred securities bearing a fixed rate (6.425%) until the interest
payment date in October 2009, and then a floating rate (three-month LIBOR plus 2.50%.) Trust VI also issued
common securities to the Company and used the net procceds from the offering to purchase $10,310,000 in
principal amount junior subordinated debentures bearing a fixed rate (6.425%) through the interest payment date in
October 2009 and then a floating rate (threec-month LIBOR plus 2.50%), junior subordinated debentures of the
Company due October 18, 2034. The preferred securities accrue and pay distributions quarterly at the rate as
described above of the stated liquidation amount of $1,000 per preferred security. The Company has fully and
unconditionally guaranteed all of the obligations of Trust VI under the preferred securities, The guarantee covers
the quarterly distributions and payments on liquidation or redemption of the preferred securities, but only to the
extent of funds held by Trust VI. The preferred securities are mandatorily redeemable upon the maturity of the
junior subordinated debentures or upon carlier redemption as provided in the indenture. The Company bas the right
to redeem the junior subordinated debentures, in whole or in part, on or after October 18, 2009, at a redemption
price specified in the indenture plus any accrued but unpaid interest to the redemption date.

On June 30, 2005, Matrix Bancorp Capital Trust VIII (“Trust VIII), a Delaware business trust formed by the
Company, completed the sale of $7,500,000 of preferred securities bearing a fixed rate (5.86%) through the interest
payment date in July 2010, and then a floating rate (three-month LIBOR plus 1.69%.) Trust VI also issued
common securities to the Company and used the net proceeds from the offering to purchase $7,732,000 in principal
amount of fixed rate (5.86%) through the interest payment date in July 2010, then a floating rate (three-month
LIBOR plus 1.69%) junior subordinated debentures of the Company due July 7, 2035. The preferred securities
accrue and pay distributions quarterly at the rate as described above of the stated liquidation amount of $1,000 per
preferred security. The Company has fully and unconditionally guaranteed all of the obligations of Trust VIII under
the preferred securities, The guarantee covers the quarterly distributions and payments on liquidation or redemption
of the preferred securities, but only to the extent of funds held by Trust VIII. The preferred securities are
mandatorily redeemable upon the maturity of the junior subordinated debentures or upon earlier redemption as
provided in the indenture. The Company has the right to redeem the junior subordinated debentures, in whole or in
part, on or after July 7, 2010, at a redemption price specified in the indenture plus any accrued but unpaid interest to
the redemption date. '

All of the junior subordinated debentures owed to unconsolidated subsidiary trusts mature in periods greater than 5
years from December 31, 2007.
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12. Income Taxes
The income tax provision (benefit) consists of the following:

Years ended December 31,
2007 2006 © 2005

{Dollars in thousands)

Current:
Federal $ 3,68 $ 5,800 g (1,538)
State 792 1,069 (177)
Deferred:
Federal (1,065) (1,944) {670)
State {99) (180) (62)
Provision (benefit) $ 3,308 $ 4,745 b (2,447)

A reconciliation of the provision (benefit) for income taxes with the expected income taxes based on the statutory
federal income tax rate follows:

Years ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005
(Dollars in thousands)
Expected income tax provision (benefit) 3 4707 % 5,740 5 (302)
State income tax provision {benefit), net

of federal benefit 457 578 (29)
Tax-exempt interest income (339) (459 (1,030)
New Markets Tax Credits (1,117 (1,037 (729)
Reselution of uncertain tax position (474) (198)

Utilization of State net operating loss

carry-forwards - - (140)
Other 74 121 2i7)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 3 3,308 5 4,745 $ (2,447)

The actual tax provision (benefit) differs from the expected tax expense (computed by applying the applicable
United States Federal corporate tax rate of 35% (34% for 2005) and the composite state tax rates, which range from
4.5% to 8.0%) to the income before taxes for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005. The difference
from the expected tax expense is principally due to the recognition of tax credits under the New Markets Tax
Credits Program, tax-exempt interest income earned on bank owned life insurance and other tax-exempt instruments
and resolution of uncertain tax positions. Also, in 2005 we realized a remaining state net operating loss carry-
forward. Partially offsetting these reductions are items that are not deductible for tax purposes, including portions
of donations and certain meal and entertainment expenses.

During 2004, the Company acquired $12,600,000 of New Markets Tax Credits allocation. Under the program, the
Company funded qualifying loans and the Company receives Federal income tax credits that will be recognized
over seven years, with 2004 being the first year for this allocation. In 2004, the Company received an additional
$50,000,000 allocation of New Market Tax Credits. In the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company utilized
$11,000,000 of this allocation. In the fourth quarter of 2006, the Company utilized approximately $10 million of
this allocation. The remaining $29,000,000 of the allocation was monetized through unaffiliated third party
investors. The tax credit recognized under the allocations was $1,117,000, $1,037,000 and $729,000 for the years
ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities result from the tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amount
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes shown below.
December 31,

2007 2006

{Dollars in thousands)

Deferred tax assets:

Allowance for loan and valuation losses $ 5,655 $ 4,833
Deferred fees’ : 1,859 1,307
State operating loss carry-forwards - 50
Gain on sale of building 4,109 4,508
Stock based compensation _ 590 69
Unrealized loss on available for sale securities 1,373 -
Other : 304 400
Subtotal 13,890 11,167
Valuation allowances - (50)
Total deferred tax assets 13,890 11,117

Deferred tax liabilities:

Mortgage servicing rights 5 (2249 5 (329D
New Markets Tax Credits (2,025) {1,335)
Installment gain on sale of interest in subsidiary (223) (1,122)
FHLB Dividends 2,712) (2,606)
Other (573) (387)
Total deferred tax liabilities (7,771 (8,741}
Net deferred tax asset b 6,113 $ 2,376

A valuation allowance is recorded when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets
will not be realized. The ultimate realization of the deferred tax assets depends on the ability of the Company to
generate sufficient taxable income of the appropriate character in the future and in the appropriate taxing
jurisdictions. The Company considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable
income, and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. The Company has provided a valuation allowance
for state operating loss carry-forwards in 2006 related to the state of Arizona, these carryforwards expired unused in
2007. No other valuation allowances for deferred tax assets are considered necessary at December 31, 2007 or 2006.

The Company or one of its subsidiaries files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, and various states
and local jurisdictions. The material income tax returns the Company files are the U.S. federal income tax return
which has a three year statute of limitations, and the Colorado state income tax return, which has a four year statute
of limitations. Accordingly, The U.S, federal return for tax years ended on or after December 31, 2004 and the
Colorado return for tax years ended on or after December 31, 2003 are subject to examination by the relevant taxing
authority.

The Company adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes,
(“FIN 48™) on January 1, 2007. As a result of the implementation of FIN 48, the Company reclassified
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unrecognized tax benefits of $1.2 million to other liabilities in the balance sheet that were previously included in
deferred income tax liabilities.

The Company has three tax positions that give rise to unrecognized tax benefits. One of the items relates to a
position where only the timing of a deduction is in question and the only effect on the Company’s statement of
income relates to interest accrued on this matter. The second item relates to the difference in book and tax basis of
an asset that was sold in 2004 for which management believes the tax basis was greater than reflected in the tax
records of the Company. The third item relates to various fees paid to third parties which management is uncertain
as to the deductibility of such fees.

During 2007 and 2006, the Company realized $474,000 and $198,000, respectively, of unrecognized tax benefits as
a result of the lapse of the applicable statute of limitations, which was related to portions of the third item discussed
above that arose in 2003 and 2002, respectively. At December 31, 2007, there are $726,000 of unrecognized tax
benefits for which the statute of limitations expires over the next two years.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits in other expense. At
December 31, 2007, the Company accrued a liability for unrecognized benefits of approximately $200,000, which is
included in other liabilities on the balance sheet.

13. Regulatory

The Company. The Company is a unitary thrift holding company and, as such, is subject to the regulation,
examination and supervision of the Office of Thrift Supervision (“OTS"),

United Western Bank. The Bank is subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the OTS.
Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can initiate certain mandatory, and possibly additional discretionary
actions by regulators that, if undertaken, could have a direct material effect on the Bank’s and the Company’s
consolidated financial statements. Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory framework for prompt
corrective action, the Bank must meet specific capital guidelines that involve quantitative measures of the Bank’s
assets, liabilities and certain off-balance sheet commitments as calculated under regulatory accounting practices.
The Bank’s capital amounts and classification are also subject to qualitative judgments by the regulators about
components, risk weightings and other factors.

Quantitative measures established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy require the Bank to maintain minimum
amounts and ratios (set forth in the following table) of total and Tier I capital (as defined in the regulations) to risk-
weighted assets (as defined in the regulations), and of Tier I capital (as defined in the regulations) to total assets (as
defined in the regulations). Management believes, as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Bank met all applicable
capital adequacy requirements.

As of December 31, 2007, the most recent notification from the OTS categorized the Bank as well capitalized under
the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action provisions. To be categorized as well capitalized, the Bank
must maintain minimum total risk-based, Tier I risk-based and Tier I leverage ratios as set forth in the table.
Management believes that there have been no conditions or events since the OTS notification that have changed this
categorization.
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To Be Well Capitalized
Under Prompt
For Capital Corrective Action
Actual Adequacy Purposes Provisions
Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio
(Dollars in thousands)
As of December 31, 2007

Total Capital

(to Risk Weighted Assets)  $ 159,887 13.1% $97,574 8.0% $ 121,967 10.0%
Core Capital

(to Adjusted Tangible Assets) 150,865 7.3 83,278 4.0 104,098 50
Tier I Capital

(to Risk Weighted Assets) 150,865 12.3 N/A N/A 73,180 6.0

As of December 31, 2006

Total Capital

(to Risk Weighted Assets)  $ 153,520 157% $ 78,249 8.0% $97.811 10.0%
Core Capital

(to Adjusted Tangible Assets) 145,805 6.8 85,574 4.0 106,967 5.0
Tier I Capital

(to Risk Weighted Assets) 145,805 14.9 N/A N/A 58,687 6.0

The various federal banking statutes to which the Bank is subject include limitations regarding the nature of the
transactions in which it can engage or assets it may hold or liabilities it may incur.

Matrix Financial. As a wholly owned subsidiary of the Bank, Matrix Financial is also subject to OTS regulation.
In addition, Matrix Financial is also subject to examination by various regulatory agencies involved in the mortgage
banking industry. Each regulatory agency requires the maintenance of a certain amount of net worth, the most
restrictive of which required Matrix Financial to maintain a net worth of $957,000 at December 31, 2007 and
$1,133,000 at December 31, 2006. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, Matrix Financial was in compliance with these
regulatory requirements.

First Matrix. First Matrix, headquartered in Denver, Colorado, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, is a
broker-dealer registered with the SEC under Securities Exchange Act Rule 15¢3-3(k)(2)(ii). First Matrix is subject
to the SEC’s Net Capital Rule that requires the maintenance of minimum net capital and requires that the ratio of
aggregate indebtedness to net capital, both as defined by the regulations, shall not exceed 15 to 1. At December 31,
2007, First Matrix had net capital of $580,000, which was $575,000 in excess of its required net capital of $5,000.
First Matrix’s aggregate indebtedness to net capital ratio was 0.07 to 1.

Sterling Trust. As a Texas trust company, Sterling Trust is generally required to maintain minimum restricted
capital of at least $1,000,000, and may be required to maintain additional capital if the Texas Banking
Commissioner determines that it is necessary to protect the safety and soundness of Sterling. At December 31,
2007, Sterling was in compliance with capital requirements under Texas law.

14. Shareholders’ Equity
Stock Option Plans

The Company has three equity incentive plans, the 2007 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2007 Plan™) the 2006 Special
Stock Option Plan (2006 Plan™) and the 1996 Amended and Restated Stock Option Plan (“1996 Stock Option
Plan™), which are administered by the compensation committee of the board of directors {the “Compensation
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Committee”™). The 2007 Plan provides a variety of long-term equity based incentives to officers, directors,
employees and other persons providing services to the Company. While the 1996 Stock Option Plan provides only
for grant of stock options, the 2007 Plan authorizes the Compensation Committee to grant other forms of equity
based incentive compensation, such as restricted stock awards, stock appreciation rights, performance units and
supplemental cash payments, in addition to stock option grants. In light of the approval of the 2007 Plan by the
Company’s shareholders on May 17, 2007, the Company does not intend to grant any additional stock options under
the Company's 1996 Stock Option Plan. At December 31, 2007, grants of 100,855 options, 46,332 restricted stock
units and 2,711 shares to outside directors have been issued under the 2007 Plan, net of forfeitures. Thus the
Company considers there are 850,102 shares available for future grants.

The 2006 Plan was adopted by the board of directors and approved by the shareholders in order to grant stock
options to two members of executive management in amounts greater than the 100,000 maximum amount of shares
which could be granted to any one person in a year under the Company’s 1996 Stock Option Plan. Under the 2006
Plan 107,143 options were granted, which have substantially similar terms as those options granted under the
Company’s 1996 Stock Option Plan. There are no further shares reserved for issuance under the 2006 Plan.

The options granted under the 1996 Stock Option Plan and the 2006 Plan provide that in most instances, an option
must be exercised by the optionee within 30 days after the termination of employment, if and to the extent such
option was exercisable on the date of such termination. Under the 2007 Plan, in most instances, an option must be
exercised by the optionee no later than the date of termination of employment, if and to the extent such option was
exercisable on the date of such termination.

Except for 12,500 options granted to independent members of our board of directors, which vested over a one-year
period, and 5,000 consultant options that vested over the consulting agreement period, all options governed by the
Company’s equity incentive plans that are outstanding as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, are nonqualified options
that vest ratably over a five year term and have a 10-year life. Each award from all plans is evidenced by an award
agreement that specifies the option price, the duration of the option, the number of shares to which each the option
pertains, and such other provisions as the Compensation Committee determines. The option price for each grant s
at least equal to the fair market value of a share of United Western Bancorp, Inc. common stock on the date of grant.
Upen a change in control of the Company, as defined in the Plans, the Compensation Committee is authorized to
accelerate vesting or modify other terms of exercise that in its sole discretion it deems equitably warranted.

The Company has granted 46,332 restricted stock units at December 31, 2007. These awards vest 20% annually on
the anniversary date of the grant over a five year period.
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A summary of the Company s stock option activity and related information is as follows:

Non-Vested Stock Awards

Outstanding Stock Options Qutstanding
Weighted
Shares Average Grant - Weighted
Available for Number Date of Fair Number Average
Grant of Shares Value of Shares  Exercise Price
Outstanding at Januwary 1, 2005 640,125 - - 440,550 $ 10.94
Granted (53,000} - - 53,000 12.87
Exercised - - — - -
Forfeited or cancelled 491,550 - - (491,550) 11.08
Outstanding at December 31, 2005 1,078,675 - - 2,000 26.50
Shares authorized —

2006 Special Stock Option Plan 107,143 - - - -
Granted (734,924) - - 734,924 20.09
Exercised - - - - -
Forfeited or cancelled 6,250 - - (6,250) 23.95
Outstanding at December 31, 2006 457,144 - - 730,674 20.07
Shares authorized —

2007 Equity Incentive Plan 1,000,000 - - - -
Granted {233,087} 47035 % 15.48 186,052 21.40
Director shares (2,711) - - - -
Exercised - - - (500) 22,75
Forfeited or cancelled 17,346 (703) 15.49 (16,643) 22.18
Outstanding at December 31, 2007 1,238,692 46,332 3 15.48 899,583 b 20.31

Other information regarding options outstanding at December 31, 2007 is as follows:

Options Qutstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Average Weighted
Weighted Remaining Average
Number of Average Contractual Life in Number of Exercise
Shares Exercise Price years Shares Price
Exercise Price Range:
$  19.00- 20.00 491,747 % 19.01 8.04 102349 % 19.05
20.0!1 -21.00 132,228 20.26 9.17 10,590 20.16
21.01 - 22.00 60,575 21.30 9.76 - -
22.01 -23.00 138,653 22.83 8.27 32,531 22.87
23.01 -24.01 76,380 23.36 8.92 12,387 23.19
899,583 3 20.31 8.43 157,857 3 20.24

Proceeds from stock option exercises totaled $12,000 in 2007 and $0 in 2006 and 2005. Shares issued were from
available authorized shares. There were 157,857 options exercisable at December 31, 2007, including those granted
to the Company’s board of directors and consultants. The total intrinsic value of outstanding in-the-money stock
options and outstanding in-the-money exercisable stock options were $485,000 and $97,000, respectively, at
December 31, 2007.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

Stock-based compensation expense totaled $1,036,000 in 2007 and $575,000 in 2006. Stock-based compensation
expense is recognized ratably over the requisite service period for all awards. Stock-based compensation expense
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for 2007 was incurred as follows: $772,000 for stock options, $114,000 for non-vested stock awards, $62,000 for
shares issued to the independent members of our board of directors, and $88,000 in connection with the Company’s
Employee Stock Purchase Plan. For 2006, stock-based compensation expense was incurred solely for stock options.
The total income tax benefit recognized in the accompanying consolidated statements of income related to stock-
based compensation was $396,000 in 2007 and $220,000 in 2006, Unrecognized stock-based compensation related
to stock options totaled $2.6 million at December 31, 2007. At such date, the weighted-average period over which
this unrecognized expense was expected to be recognized was 3.3 years. Unrecognized stock-based compensation
expense related to non-vested stock awards was $604,000 at December 31, 2007. At such date, the weighted-
average period over which this unrecognized expense was expected to be recognized was 4.2 years.

Valuation of Stock-Based Compensation

The fair value of the Company’s stock options granted is estimated on the measurement date, which, for the
Company, is the date of grant. Prior to 2006 the fair value of stock options was estimated using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model. The fair value for options for 2005 was estimated with the following weighted-average
assumptions: risk-free interest rate of 4.3%; a dividend yield of zero percent; volatility factors of the expected
market price of the Company’s common stock of 24%; and a weighted-average expected life of the option of four
years. The Company estimated the expected market price volatility and expected term of the options based on
historical data and other factors.

The Black-Scholes option valuation model is used to estimate the fair value of traded options which have no vesting
restrictions and are fully transferable. Like other option valuation models Black-Scholes requires the input of
highly subjective assumptions, including the expected stock price volatility. Because the Company’s employee
stock options have characteristics significantly different from those of traded options, and because changes in the
subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, in management’s opinion, that model did
not necessarily provide the most reliable single measure of the fair value of its employee stock options.

For the reasons discussed above, beginning in 2006, the Company estimates the fair value of stock options granted
using a trinomial lattice-based valuation model rather than the Black-Scholes model. The trinomial lattice-based
model takes into account certain dynamic assumptions about interest rates, expected volatility, expected dividends,
employee exercise patterns and other factors. Accordingly, management believes the trinomial lattice-based model
provides a better fair value estimate.

The weighted-average fair value of stock options granted during 2007 and 2006, estimated using a trinomial lattice-
based valuation model was $4.48 and $4.38, respectively. The assumptions used to determine the fair value of
options granted during 2007 and 2006 are detailed in the table below:

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006
Expected Volatility 25.70% — 27.40% 26.30% - 271.710%
Expected dividend yield 0.93% - 1.19% 0.00%
Risk-free interest rate 4.12% -4.77% 4.56% - 5.22%
Expected term (in years) 5.50 - 7.00 439-7.72
WA grant date Fair Value $3.13-$5.51 $3.44 - 59.41
Options granted 186,052 734,924
Options forfeited (16,643) {6,250}
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Expected volatility is based primarily on historical volatility {estimated using a rolling five-year weekly average) of
the closing price of the Company’s common stock, and other factors. In estimating the expected dividend yield, for
2007 the Company commenced the payment of a regular quarterly dividend in the first quarter of 2007, which is
considered in the option valuation. The Company paid no dividends in 2006, and thus excluded dividends from the
determination of the fair value of options in that period. The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S, Treasury
yield curve in effect at the date of grant with term equal to the life of the option. In estimating the fair value of
stock options under the trinomial lattice-based valuation model, separate groups of employees that have similar
historical exercise behavior are considered separately. The expected term of options granted is derived using the
lattice model and represents the period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding. The range of
expected term and estimated forfeitures (employee exit rate) results from certain groups of employees exhibiting
different behavior. Options forfeited impact the amount of compensation expense recognized in the consolidated
income statements. Share-based compensation expense is based on awards that are ultimately expected to vest;
accordingly, share-based compensation expense may be impacted if actual forfeitures differ from estimated
forfeitures.

Emplovyee Stock Purchase Plan

In 1996, the board of directors adopted and the shareholders approved an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“Purchase
Plan”) and authorized, as amended, 400,000 shares of common stock (“ESPP Shares™) for issuance thereunder. The
price at which ESPP Shares are sold under the Purchase Plan is 85% of the lower of the fair market value per share
of common stock on the enrollment date or the purchase date. During the year ended December 31, 2007, the
Company issued 18,308 ESPP Shares to participants in the plan compared to O shares for 2006 and 2005. Included
in stock-based compensation the Company incurred $88,000 of expense in 2007 associated with the Purchase Plan.
As of December 31, 2007, there were 171,639 ESPP Shares available for future issuance.

Proforma Earnings for under FAS 123

Had compensation cost for the Company’s stock-based plans been determined consistent with SFAS No, 123, the
Company’s net income and income per share would not have been impacted by this statement.

Stock Repurchase Plan

On August 2, 2007, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to 5% of the outstanding
shares of the Company’s common stock, which represented a total of 361,289 shares. During 2007, the Company
repurchased 60,200 of its commoan shares for $1.25 million. During 2006, the Company repurchased, pursuant to a
prior Board authorization, 300,000 shares of its common stock for approximately $5.85 million. Based on the
corporate authorizations as of December 31, 2007, the Company may repurchase up to 378,918 of its currently
issued and outstanding common' shares. Repurchases of outstanding shares of common stock are part of the
Company’s capital management plan and strategy. In accordance with Colorado law, all repurchased shares are
retired. '

15. Defined Contribution Plan

The Company has a 401(k) defined contribution plan (“Plan”) covering all employees twenty-one years of age and
older who have elected to participate in the Plan. Each participant may make pretax contributions to the Plan up to
the lesser-of the amount allowed by the Internal Revenue Code or 100% of such participant’s earnings, The
Company matches 50% of participant contributions on the first 6% of compensation deferred, not to exceed 3% of
the participant’s compensation. The Plan was amended in 2007 to provide for vesting of matching contributions
over a three year period; 20% after one year, 40% after two years and 100% after three years. In prior years the
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Plan provided for vesting of matching contributions ratably over a five year period. The Company contributed
approximately $313,000, $366,000 and $427,000 during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005,
respectively, which were recorded in compensation and employee benefits expense in the consolidated statements of
income.

16. Commitments, Contingencies, Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements and Related Party Transactions

Sale-leaseback of United Western Financial Center

On September 29, 2006, the Company sold the United Western Financial Center, a high rise office tower located in
downtown Denver, Colorado. The Company sold the building for $27.3 million and received net proceeds of $26.5
million net of commissions and costs. The Company’s basis in the building was $14.8 million, resulting in a gross
deferred economic gain of $12.1 million. In connection with the sale, the Company and the Bank agreed to lease
back approximately 62,487 square feet of office space in the building for a term of 10 years. In addition, the
Company guaranteed certain third-party lease obligations on approximately 23,171 square feet of office space for
10 years (such third parties being former subsidiaries of the Company). Management estimated and accrued an
obligation of $840,000 for the third party space based on the existing lease terms and other factors related to those
leases and the Company’s guarantee. This guarantee was recorded pursuant to the provisions of FIN45, which
requires proceeds from the sale of assets to be allocated between the guarantee and proceeds from the sale, thus
impacting the gain on the transaction. Changes in the guarantee will be recognized currently in earnings as changes
in the value of the guarantee occur. After its guarantee obligation, the Company has a net deferred economic gain
of approximately $11.2 million. Due to the requirements of SFAS No. 98, which provides accounting guidance for
sale leaseback transactions, the Company will recognize the gain at a rate of approximately $1.1 million annually,
pre-tax, as a reduction in lease expense over the 10-year term of the lease. In the year ended December 31, 2007, the
Company recognized $1.1 million as a reduction in lease expense, which is included in occupancy and equipment
expense on the statements of income. The table below provides information regarding the lease as follows:

Cash Accrual Deferred Deferred Net Rent
Rent (1) Rent (2) Rent (3} Gain (4) Expense (5)
(Dollars in thousands)
2008 § 1,229 $ 1,367 $ 138 8 1123 $ 244
2009 1,271 1,367 96 1,123 244
2010 1,314 1,367 53 1,123 244
2011 1,357 1,367 10 1,123 244
2012 1,399 1,367 (32) 1,123 244
Thereafter 5,623 5,129 {494) 4,209 920
Total $ 12,193  § 11,964 § (229) $ 9824 % 2,140

(1) The cash rent reflects the future minimum lease payments required to be paid under the terms of the lease.

(2) GAAP requires when a lease has an escalation clause the rent must be accrued on a straight line basis over
the lease term or expected life of the lease. ‘

(3) The deferred rent represents the difference between columns (1) and (2). Deferred rent accumulates in the
first half of the lease and then reverses over the later part of the lease.
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(4) The deferred gain represents the recognition of the remaining $9.8 million economic gain over the life of
the lease.

(5) The prospective effect of the reduction in the Company’s net rent expense from realization of the annual
deferred gain amortization will be substantially offset by the rental income that was previously eamed by
Matrix Tower Holdings, LLC.

. Leases

The Company leases other office space and certain equipment under noncancelable operating leases. Annual
amounts due under the office and equipment leases as of December 31, 2007 are approximately as follows:

{Dollars in thousands)

2008 $ 897
2009 897
2010 746
2011 439
2012 217
Thereafter 756

$ 3,952

Total rent expense aggregated approximately $1,271,000, $978,000 and $736,000 for the years ended December 31,
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and is recorded in occupancy and equipment expense.

Total rental income for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 aggregated approximately $2,105,000, and
$2,150,000, respectively.

Financial Instruments with Off-Balance-Sheet Risk

In the normal course of business the Company enters into various transactions, which in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles in the United States, are not included in its consolidated balance sheets. The
Company cnters into these transactions to meet the financing needs of its customers. These transactions include
commitments to extend credit and standby letters of credit, which involve elements of credit risk and interest rate
risk in excess of the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements. The Company minimizes its
exposure to loss under these commitments by subjecting them to credit approval and monitoring procedures.

Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to, or provide a credit guarantee for, a customer as long as
there is no violation of any condition established in the contract. The Company enters into contractual
commitments to exterd credit, generally with fixed expiration dates or termination clauses, at specified rates and for
specific purposes. These commitments generally require the payment of a fee. Because many of these instruments

are expected to expire without being drawn upon, the total commitment amounts do not necessarily represent future
cash requirements. Commitments to extend credit totaled $341 million and $240 million at December 31, 2007 and
2006.

Standby letters of credit are conditional commitments issued to guarantee the performance of a customer to a third
party. Standby letters of credit generally are contingent upon the failure of the customer to perform according to the
terms of the underlying contract with the third party. Standby letters of credit totaled $2.4 million and $791,000 at
December 31, 2007 and 2006.
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Contingencies - Liabilities and Guarantees

The Bank has entered into an agreement that totals approximately $1.25 million to purchase land for a future
community bank in the Colorado Front Range. The purchase is conditional on either municipal approvals or the
completion of due diligence.

In the period between 2000 and 2003, Matrix Financial originated and sold approximately $8.9 billion of residential
mortgage loans. The Bank continues to be involved periodically in the subsequent sale of residential mortgage
loans. These loans were and are sold to investors in the normal course of business. These agreements usually
require certain representations and warranties concerning credit information, loan documentation, collateral, and
insurability. On occasion, investors have requested the Bank or Matrix Financial to repurchase loans or to
indemnify them against losses on certain loans which the investors believe do not comply with applicable
representations. Upon completion of its own investigation regarding the investor claims, the Bank and Matrix
Financial generally repurchase or provide indemnification on certain loans, as appropriate.

The Company maintains a liability for estimated losses on loans expected to be repurchased or on which
indemnification is expected to be provided and regularly evaluates the adequacy of this repurchase liability based on
trends in repurchase and indemnification requests, actual loss experience, and other relevant factors including
economic conditions. Total loans repurchased during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 were
$1,037,000, $1,185,000, and $2,019,000, respectively. Loans indemnified that remain outstanding at December 31,
2007 totaled $7,929,000, of which $2,780,000 are guaranteed as to principal by FHA. Losses charged against the
liability for estimated losses on repurchase and indemnification were $97,000, $342,000, and $2,140,000 for 2007,
2006 and 2005, respectively. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the liability for estimated losses on repurchase and
indemnification was $1,650,000, $2,093,000, respectively, and was included in other liabilities on the consolidated
balance sheets.

In connection with the sale of ABS School Services, LLC, as discussed in Note 24, the Company’s recourse
obligation for certain loans, which was $5,400,000 at March 31, 2006, was transferred to the purchaser. Pursuant to
the sales agreement, the Company guarantees, for a five year period, the repayment of the loans sold to the
purchaser up to an aggregate amount of $1,650,000, which created a new recourse obligation for the Company.
Included in other general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2006 is a charge of
$950,000 to reflect in the Company’s consolidated financial statements the estimated liability related to this recourse
obligation. This charge was included in other noninterest expense. At December 31, 2007, and 2006, the liability
for estimated recourse obligations was $935,000, and was included in other liabilities on the consclidated balance
sheet.

Contingencies — Legal

The Company and its subsidiaries are from time to time party to various litigation matters, in most cases involving
ordinary and routine claims incidental to its business. The Company accrues liabilities when it is probable that the
future costs will be incurred and such costs can be reasonably estimated. Such accruals are based upon
developments to date, the Company’s estimates of the outcome of these matters and its experience in contesting,
litigating and settling other matters. Because the outcome of most litigation matters is inherently uncertain, the
Company will generally only accrue a loss for a pending litigation matter if, for example, the parties to the matter
have entered into definitive settlement agreements or a final judgment adverse to the Company has been entered.
Based on evaluation of the Company’s litigation matters and discussions with internal and external legal counsel,
management believes than an adverse outcome on one or more of the matters set forth below, against which no
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accrual for loss has been made at December 31, 2007 unless otherwise noted, is reasonably possible but not
probable, and that the outcome with respect to one or more of these matters, if adverse, is reasonably likely to have
a material adverse impact on the consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows of the Company.

United Western Bancorp, Inc. United Heritage Financial Group, Inc. and United Heritage Life Insurance
Company v. First Matrix Investment Services et al, On October 27, 2006, a complaint was filed against the
Company and First Matrix, along with Brian Curd and Kent Snodgrass, former employees of First Matrix, in ldaho
State District Court alleging violations of state securities laws, the Idaho Consumer Protection Act and fraud arising
the sale of an approximately $1.7 million mortgage backed bond from First Matrix to one of the plaintiffs. The
case, which was subsequently removed to the U.S. District Court in Idaho on December 12, 2006, is based on the
plaintiffs’ claims that First Matrix should have made certain disclosures regarding the risk of the withdrawal of a
USDA government guarantee of the bond, which withdrawal subsequently occurred and the bond went into default.
In June of 2007, the court dismissed the underwriter, Duncan Williams, from the lawsuit based on lack of personal
jurisdiction. The Company and First Matrix may seek indemnification for the claims made against them in this case
from the underwriter or from other potentially responsible partics. While the defendants” liability, if any, to the
plaintiffs in this case is uncertain at this time, the Company believes that the defendants have meritorious defenses
to the plaintiffs’ claims.

United Western Bank. Ward Enterprises, LLC v. Daniel E McCabe et. al. including United Western Bank. In
February 2008, the plaintiff filed a complaint in Colorade District Court for the City and County of Denver secking
damages from the holders of an institutional account at the Bank, the Bank, and a former employee of the Bank, for
breach of fiduciary duties due to the plaintiff and aiding and abetting the conversion of approximately $1.84 million
of plaintiff’s funds by the holder of the institutional account maintained at the Bank. While the defendants’ liability,
if any, to the plaintiff in this case is uncertain at this time, the Company believes that the defendants have
meritorious defenses to the plaintiff’s claims.

The Company and the Bank have also been named as defendants in the Munoz matter described below,

Sterling. Douglas Wheeler, et al. v. Pacific Air Transport, et al.; Paul C. Jared, et al. v. South Mountain Resort
and Spa, Inc., et al.; Lawrence Rehrig, et al. v. Caffe Diva, et al.; Merrill B. Christman, et al. v. Millennium 2100,
Inc., et al.; David M. Veneziale, et al. v. Sun Broadcasting Systems, Inc., et al.; and Don Glazer, ef al. v. Technical
Support Servs., Inc,, et al. Sterling was named a defendant in several putative class action lawsuits (the “IRA
Suits”) filed in November 2000 in the U. S. District Court for the Western District of Pennsylvania alleging that
Sterling breached fiduciary duties and was negligent in administrating each plaintift’s self-directed individual
retirement account holding a nine-month promissory note. On April 26, 2001, the court transferred all the IRA
Suits to the Western District of Texas, where they were subsequently referred to binding arbitration. The arbitration
of the IRA Suits has been abated, however, pending the outcome of the Munoz case described below. Sterling
believes it has meritorious defenses and is defending the matters vigorously. While Sterling’s liability, if any, to the
plaintiffs in these arbitrations is uncertain at this time, the Company believes that it has meritorious defenses to the
plaintiff’s claims.

Heraclio A. Munoz, et al. v. Sterling Trust Company, et. al. pending in Superior Court of the State of California
(“Munoz”). In this complaint filed in December 2001, plaintiffs sought class action status for their claims alleging
negligent misrepresentation, breach of fiduciary duty and breach of written contract by Sterling. The Company and
the Bank, along with other unrelated parties, have also been named as defendants. In the fourth quarter of 2005,
Sterling was granted summary judgment as to all claims against it by the plaintiffs. After the order granting
summary judgment was formally entered in April 2006, the plaintiffs filed an appeal in September 2006. The
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pending appeal has been briefed but oral arguments have not yet been scheduled. Since it is possible that the
decision in favor of Sterling could be overturned on appeal, the liability of the Company, if any, for the claims made
in this case is uncertain, though the Company believes that Sterling, the Company and the Bank will still have
meritorious defenses to those claims.

Related Party Transactions

On September 29, 2006, the Company entered into a co-location license agreement (the “Agreement”) with Legent
Clearing, LLC (“LC”) to share office space with LC located in Thornton, Colorado. The company uses the office as
a business continuity site. The Agreement was renewed in 2007 and currently matures April 30, 2010 at $3,000 per
month. The Bank also extended a $5 million line of credit (the “Loan”) to Legent Group, LLC (“LG”)." LC is a
wholly owned subsidiary of LG. Because Guy Gibson, the Company’s Chairman of the Board and largest
shareholder, founded LC in 2001, is currently an indirect 7% shareholder of LG and serves on LG’s Board of
Directors, the Company’s Audit Committee (which is responsible for reviewing and approving all related party
transactions) reviewed both the Agreement and the Loan. The Audit Committec determined that the monthly
payments to LC pursuant to the Agreement were at market rates for the space to be used and, accordingly, that the
terms of the Agreement are as fair as would have been obtained from an unaffiliated third party. The Audit
Committee also determined that the Loan was fair and equitable and in the best interest of the Company. Based on
these determinations, the Committee approved both transactions and waived any potential violations of the
provisions of the Company’s Business Conduct and Ethics.

In connection with the private placement and tender offer discussed in Note 22, the Company paid a total of
$1,859,000 to G2 Holding Corp. for recruitment fees and expense reimbursements, which were directly charged
against the proceeds raised from the private placement and tender offer. Guy A. Gibson, Chairman of the Company,
is the Chairman of G2 Holding Corp., and Michael J. McCloskey, Chief Operating Officer of the Company, was the
Executive Vice President of G2 Holding Corp prior to accepting his position with the Company. In addition,
associated with the private placement, the Company paid a $300,000 financial advisory services fee to Milestone
Advisors, LLC, an affiliate of Milestone Merchant Partners, LLC. Michael J. McCloskey is a managing director of
Milestone Merchant Partners, LLC.

Risk Management Activities for MSRs

Ownership of MSRs exposes the Company to impairment of the value of MSRs in certain interest rate
environments. The incidence of prepayment of a mortgage loan generally increases during periods of declining
interest rates as the homeowner seeks to refinance the loan to a lower interest rate. If the level of prepayment on
segments of the Company’s mortgage servicing portfolio achieves a level higher than projected by the Company for
an extended period of time, then impairment in the associated basis in the MSRs may occur.
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17. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts and estimated fair value of financial instruments are as follows:

December 31,
2007 2006
Estimated Estimated
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value
(Dollars in thousands)
Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 40806 3 40806 $ 23754 $ 23,754
Investment securities — available for sale 87,676 87,676 142,146 142,146
Investment securities — held to maturity 574,105 568,309 696,833 691,419
Loans, net 1,254,781 1,257,318 1,155,721 1,161,192
FHLBank stock 30,913 39,913 42,764 42,764
Accrued interest receivable 10,551 10,551 11,385 11,385
Derivative assets - - - -
Financial liabilities:
Deposits $ 1,385,481 $1,385483 § 1,345681 $1,345,298
Custodial escrow balances 34,172 34,172 40,017 40,017
FHLBank borrowings 406,129 410,552 519,431 518,277
Borrowed money and junior subordinated debentures 127,870 97,688 116,216 85,701
Accrued interest payable 2018 2018 2,592 2,592

Derivative liabilities - - _ _

The following methods and assumptions were used by the Company in estimating the fair value of the financial
instroments:

The estimated fair value approximates carrying value for cash and cash equivalents, FHLBank stock, and accrued
interest.

The estimated fair value of investment securities is based on quoted market prices, if available, If a quoted market
price is not available, fair value is estimated using quoted market prices for similar instruments.

The estimated fair value of community bank loans approximates carrying value for variable-rate loans that reprice
frequently and with no material change in credit risk since origination. The fair value of fixed-rate and variable-rate
community bank loans which may not reprice or reprice infrequently is estimated by discounting future cash flows
using the current interest rates at which similar loans with similar terms would be made to borrowers with similar
credit quality. Fair values for impaired loans are estimated using the fair value of the underlying collateral value.
Fair values of loans held for sale are based on quoted market prices where available or outstanding commitments
from reputable investors. If quoted market prices are not available, fair values are based on quoted market prices of
similar ]oans sold in securitization transactions, adjusted for differences in loan characteristics.

The value of dertvative financial instruments are based on changes in fair values of the underlying commitments
and contracts to which they relate as determined by available market prices.

The estimated fair value approximates carrying value for demand deposits {e.g., interest and noninterest checking,
savings and money market accounts) are, by definition, equal to the amount payable on demand at the reporting date
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(i.e., their carrying amounts). The estimated fair values for fixed-rate certificates of deposit are estimated using a
discounted cash flow calculation that applies interest rates currently being offered on certificates to a schedule of
aggregated expected periodic maturities on time deposits.

The fair value disclosed for FHLBank borrowings and borrowed money and junior subordinated debentures is
estimated using a discounted cash flow calculation that applies interest rates currently being offered on FHLBank
borrowings and borrowed money and junior subordinated debentures.

The Company’s lending commitments are predominately variable-rate and have clauses that if the customer’s credit
quality deteriorates, we are not obligated to fund the commitment. Accordingly, the fair values of these items are
not material and are not included in the table above.

18. Parent Company Condensed Financial Information
Condensed financial information of United Western Bancorp, Inc. (“Parent”) is as follows:

December 31,
2007 2006

{Dollars in thousands)

Condensed Balance Sheets

Assets:
Cash $ 1,532 ) 16,669
Other receivables 23 70
Premises and equipment, net 347 362
Other assets 5,814 4,009
Investment in and advances to subsidiaries 162,315 158,732
Total assets $ 170,031 $ 179,842

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity:

Total debt (a) $ 51442 $ 66216

Other liabilities 5,168 5,873
Total liabilities 56,610 72,089
Shareholders’ equity:

Common stock 1 1

Additional paid-in capital 23,724 23,616

Retained earnings 92,364 83,970

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income (2,668) 166
Total shareholders’ equity 113,421 107,753
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 170,031 $ 179,842

(a) The Parent’s debt is set forth in a table following the condensed statements of cash flows. See Note 9 and
Note |1 for additional information regarding debt.
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‘ Years ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005

Condensed Statements of Income {Dollars in thousands)
Income:

Interest income $ 29 % 124 % 232

Other ' 88 54 72
Total income 117 178 304
Expenses:

Compensation and employee benefits 4,941 4,730 11,372

Interest on borrowed money 4,953 6,244 6,151

QOccupancy and equipment 667 667 599

Professional fees 543 485 44]

Redemption of junior subordinated debentures 1,487 176 322

Other general and administrative (368) (161) (537)
Total expenses 12,223 12,141 18,348
Loss before income taxes and equity

income of subsidiaries (12,106) (11,963} (18,044)
Income taxes (b) - - -
Loss before equity income of subsidiaries (12,106) (11,963} (18,044)
Equity income of subsidiaries 22,247 23,619 19,602
Net income ‘ S 10,141 % 11,656 § 1,558

(b) The Company’s tax sharing agreement requires each entity to calculate its income taxes on a stand alone
basis. Generally subsidiaries pay the Parent an amount equal to its individual current income tax provision
calculated on the basis of the subsidiary filing a separate return. The Parent, as it carries debt for the benefit
of all subsidiaries incurs net operating losses.

Years ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Condensed Statements of Cash Flows (Dollars in thousands)
Operating activities:
Net income $ 10,141 3 11,656 3 1,558
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
from operating activities: _
Equity income of subsidiaries (22,247) (23,619) (19,602)
Dividends from subsidiaries 9,966 21,610 2,066
Share based compensation expense 1,036 575 -
Loss on disposal of assets - 30 -
Depreciation and amortization 827 688 770
Unrealized (loss) gain on securities available
for sale (2,834) 148 (108)
Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Decrease) increase in other liabilities (705) 1,825 (959)
(Increase) decrease in other receivables
and other assets (2,371) 176 (885)
Net cash from operating activities (6,187) 13,089 (17,160}
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Years ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005
Condensed Statements of Cash Flows (Dollars in thousands)
Investing activities:
Purchases of premises and equipment (199) (248) (193)
Return of investment in and advances to
subsidiaries, net 8,698 3,728 13,859
Net cash provided by investing activities 8,499 3,480 13,666
Financing activities:
Net change in borrowed money — revolving lines
of credit 5,000 3,217 (1,071
Borrowed money — advance on term line 6,000 - -
Redemption of capital securities of subsidiary
trust (25,774) (5,156) (8,195)
Proceeds from issuance of capital securities of
subsidiary trust - - 7.500
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net 311 - 86,963
Stock option exercise 12 - -
Redemption of common stock shares under tender
offer - (79,501) -
Repurchase of common stock (1,251) (5,853} -
Dividends paid (1,747 - -
Net cash from financing activities (17,449 (93,727) 85,197
(Decrease) increase in cash (15,137 (77,158) 81,703
Cash at beginning of year 16,669 93,827 12,124
Cash at end of year 1,532 16,669 $ 93,827
Parent Company Debt is set forth below:
December 31,
2007 2006
{Dollars in thousands)
Subordinated debt $ 10,000 $ 10,000
Borrowed money - advancing and revolving lines 11,000 -
Total term notes 21,000 10,000
Junior subordinated debentures owed to unconsolidated subsidiary trusts 30,442 56,216
Total debt $ 51442 $ 66,216

As of December 31, 2007, the maturities of debt are as follows:

2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
Thereafter
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19. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Fourth Third Second First
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
{Dollars in thousands, except share data)

2007
Operations:
Net interest income before provision

for credit losses $ 18368 3% 1785 $ 16,721 $ 15,897
Provision for credit losses 1,174 352 567 358
Noninterest income 4,656 6,296 4,689 5,343
Noninterest expense 17,623 20,642 17,827 17,834
Income from continuing operaticns

before income taxes 4,227 3,158 3016 3,048
Income tax provision 1,244 495 774 795
Net income % 2983 % 2,663 § 2242 $ 2,253
Net income per share data:
Basic $§ 041 3 0.37 $ 0.31 $ 0.31
Difuted $ 041 3 0.37 b 0.31 $ 0.31
2006
Operations:
Net interest income before provision

for credit losses $ 15096 $ 13,504 3 13449 § 13,469
Provision for credit losses 32 232 1,0Mm 957
Noeninterest income 7,149 7,392 5,373 9,277
Noninterest expense 17,346 17,670 17,649 16,195
Income before income taxes 4,817 2,994 102 5,594
Income tax provision (benefit) 1,072 906 (102} 1,715
Income from continuing operations 3,745 2,088 204 3,879
Discontinued operations:
Income from discontinued operations,

net of income taxes — - 103 1,638
Net income $ 3,745 $ 2,088 $ 307 $ 5,517
Net income per share data:
Basic $ 050 $ 0.28 $ 004 3 Q.64
Diluted $ 050 $ 0.27 $ 004 § 0.64

20. Segments of the Company and Related Information

The Company has four reportable segments under SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures About Segments of an Enterprise
and Related Information™: a thrift subsidiary, a custodial and administrative services subsidiary, a mortgage banking
subsidiary, and a broker dealer subsidiary. - The thrift is the Bank, our community banking subsidiary that provides
lending and deposit services to its customers. As disclosed in the footnotes above, management is transitioning the
focus of the Bank from its legacy wholesale business activities via the implementation of our community bank
business plan. There are no discrete financial statements prepared and reviewed by management related to either
activity on a stand alone basis; accordingly, the Bank is presented as a segment. The custodial and administrative
services subsidiary, Sterling, provides services for only self-directed IRA, pension, profit sharing accounts and
escrow arrangements. The mortgage banking subsidiary, Matrix Financial, owns residential MSRs and services the
mortgage loans underlying those MSRs. The broker dealer, First Matrix, was not as active in 2007 as in prior years
due to our withdrawal from the SBA pooling business. The remaining subsidiaries are included in the “all other”
category for purposes of SFAS 131 disclosures and consists primarily of the parent company operations,
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The Company evaluates performance and allocates resources based on operating profit or loss before income taxes.
Accordingly, the information presented in this table is from continuing operations, which excludes the financial
results of Matrix Bancorp Trading, Inc, as discussed in Note 23, and excludes the financial results of ABS School
Services, LLC, as discussed in Note 24. The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those
described in the summary of significant accounting policies. Transactions between affiliates, the resulting revenues
of which are shown in the intersegment revenue category, are conducted at market prices (i.e., prices that would be
paid if the companies were not affiliates).

For the years ended December 31:

Custodial and
Community  Advisory Mortgage Broker
Banking Services Banking Dealer All Others Total
(Dollars in thousands)
2007
Revenues from external customers:
Interest income $ 119608 $§ - $ 1,573 § 29 $ 349 § 121,559
Noninterest income 5,108 8,566 5,866 181 1,262 20,983
Intersegment revenues 771 1,767 1,471 - (243) 3,764
Interest expense 47,722 - 42 - 4,953 52,117
Depreciation/amortization 951 226 3,326 5 394 4,902
Segment income (loss) from
continuing operations before
income taxes 21,873 1,514 618 (209) (10,347) 13,449
Segment assets (a) 2,119,178 - 6,240 46,355 637 122,931 2,295,341
2006
Revenues from external customers:
Interest income $ 113429 3§ - 3 1267 % 43 3 561 § 115,300
Noninterest income . 4,224 6,842 8,742 417 8,966 29,191
Intersegment revenues 704 1,587 1,943 211 387 4,832
Interest expense 53,485 - 53 - 6,245 59,783
Depreciation/amortization 582 257 5,701 8 1,367 7915
Segment income (loss) from-
continuing operations before
income taxes 20,734 373 (718) (336) (6,547) 13,506
Segment assets (a) 2,192,349 4,765 49,813 865 163,616 2,411,408
2005
Revenues from external customers:
Interest income $ 84084 - $ 1238 % 29 $ 1,745 $ 87,096
Noninterest income 6,756 6,147 9,841 1,313 4,532 28,589
Intersegment revenues 1,395 1,451 1,773 510 (208) 4921
Interest expense 36,187 - 25 - 6,254 42,466
Depreciation/amortization 583 239 7,695 14 1,679 10,210
Segment income (loss) from
continuing operations before
income taxes 20,082 (2,690) (5,017 62 (14,713) (2,276)
Segment assets (a) 2,066,720 3,994 50,344 1,584 298 406 2,421,048

(a) See reconciliation to total consolidated assets in the following table.
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2007 2006 2005
{Dollars in thousands)

Revenues for year ended December 31:
Interest income for reportable segments $ 121,210  § 114,739 % 85,351
Noninterest income for reportable segments 19,721 20,225 24,057
Intersegment revenues for reportable segments 4,009 4,445 5,129
Other revenues 1,366 9914 6,069
Elimination of intersegment revenues (3,764) (4,832) {4,921)
Total consolidated revenues $ 142542 % 144,491 $ 115,685
Income (loss) for year ended December 31: )
Total income for reportable segments $ 23796 % 20,053 % 12,437
Other (loss) income (11,523) (201) (14,395)
Elimination of intersegment (loss) 1,176 {6,346) (318)
Income (loss) before income taxes $ 13,449 % 13,506 $ (2,276)
Assets as of December 31:
Total assets for reportable segments $ 2172410 § 2247792 $ 2,122,642
Other assets 122,931 163,616 298,406
Elimination of intersegment receivables (43,479 (22,524) (232,535)
Other intersegment eliminations (155,752) (232,336) (109,125)
Total consolidated assets $ 2096110 $ 2,156,548 $ 2,079,388
Other Significant Items for the year ended

December 31;
Depreciation/amortization expense:

Segment totals $ 4508 $ 6,548 % 8,531

Other and intersegment adjustments 394 1,367 1,679
Consolidated totals 5 4902 § 7915 % 10,210
Interest expense:

Segment totals $ 47,764 § 53,538 % 36,212

Other and intersegment adjustments 4,953 6,245 6,254
Consolidated totals $ 52,717 % 59,783 § 42,466

21. New Accounting Standards

Statements of Financial Accounting Standards

SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements”. SFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring
fair value, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements, It clarifies that fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants in the
market in which the reporting entity transacts. SFAS 157 does not require any new fair value measurements: rather,
it provides enhanced guidance to other pronouncements that require or permit assets or liabilities to be measured at

fair value. SFAS 157 is effective for the Company January 1, 2008 and management does not expect that the
adoption of this Statement will have a material impact on its financial position, results of operation or cash flows,
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SFAS 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities — Including an amendment of
FASB Siatement No. 115”. SFAS 159 provides all entities, with an option to report selected financial assets and
liabilities at fair value at specified clection dates. Unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair valve
option has been elected are reported in earnings at each subsequent reporting date. The fair value option (i) may be
applied instrument by instrument, with certain exceptions, (ii) is irrevocable (unless a new election date occurs) and
(iii) is applied only to entire instruments and not to portions of instruments. SFAS 159 is effective for the Company
on January 1, 2008 and is not expected to have a material impact on its financial position, results of operation and
cash flows,

SFAS 160, “Noncontrolling Interest in Consolidated Financial Statements, an amendment of ARB Statement
Ne 51,7 SFAS 160 amends Accounting Research Bulletin (“ARB”} No. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements,”
to establish accounting and reporting standards for the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the
deconsolidation of a subsidiary. SFAS 160 clarifies that a noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary, which is
sometimes referred to as minority interest, is an ownership interest in the consolidated entity that should be reported
as a component of equity in the consolidated financial statements. Among other requirements, SFAS 160 requires
consolidated net income to be reported at amounts that include the amounts attributable to both the parent and the
noncontrolling interest. It also requires disclosure, on the face of the consolidated income statement, of the amounts
of consolidated net income attributable to the parent and to the noncontrolling interest. SFAS 160 is effective for
the Company on January 1, 2009 and is not expected to have a significant impact on its financial position, results of
operation and cash flows.

SFAS 141R, “Business Combination {Revised 2007).” SFAS 141R replaces SFAS 141, “Business Combinations,”
and applies to all transactions and other events in which one entity obtains control over one or more other
businesses. SFAS 14IR requires an acquirer, upon initially obtaining control of another entity, to recognize the
assets, liabilities and any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree at fair value as of the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration is required 1o be recognized and measured at fair value on the date of acquisition rather than at a later
date when the amount of that consideration may be determinable beyond a reasonable doubt. This fair value
approach replaces the cost-atlocation process required under SFAS 141, whereby the cost of an acquisition was
allocated to the individual assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair value. SFAS 141R
requires acquirers to expense acquisition-related costs as incurred rather than allocating such costs of the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed, as was previously the case under SFAS 141. SFAS 141R also identifies related
disclosure requirements for business combinations. This Statement is effective for business combinations closing
on or after Jannary 1, 2009.

Emerging Issues Tax Force Issues

EITF Issue 06-4, “Accounting for Deferred Compensation and Postretirement Benefit Aspects of Endorsement
Split-Dollar Life Insurance Arrangements.” EITF 06-4 requires recognition of a liability and related compensation
costs for endorsement split-dollar life insurance arrangements that provide a benefit to an employee that extends to
post-retirement periods. Under EITF 06-4, life insurance policies purchased for the purpose of providing such
benefits do not effectively settle an entity’s obligation to the employee. Accordingly, the entity must recognize a
liability and related compensation expense during the employee’s active service period based on the future cost of
insurance to be incurred during the employee’s retirement. If the entity has agreed to provide the employee with a
death benefit, then the liability for the future death befit should be recognized by following the guidance in SFAS
106, “Employer’s Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions.” The Bank owns endorsement split
dollar life insurance that is subject to this EITF consensus. The Company will adopt EITF 06-4 on January 1, 2008
as a change in accounting principle through a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings. The amount of the
adjustment is not expected to have a significant impact on its financial position, results of operation and cash flows.
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22, Private Placement and Tender Offer

On December 9, 2005, the Company completed a private offering of 5,120,000 shares of common stock, $0.0001
par value per share. The common stock was sold at $19.00 per share, except shares sold to an affiliate of the
Company’s placement agent, which purchased shares at the offering price less the placement agent fee, or $17.67
per share. In the private offering, the Company raised an aggregate of $97.0 million, less a placement agent fee and
certain other costs of the offering charged against the proceeds, which totaled $10.0 million. The net funds raised in
the private placement were used to conduct an issuer tender offer to purchase shares of the Company’s common
stock at $19.00 per share. On January 23, 2006, the Company completed the tender offer, where 4,184,277
common shares were tendered for an aggregate purchase of $79.5 million. After the completion of the issuer tender
offer, the Company had 7,556,573 shares of common stock outstanding. The purpose of the issuer tender offer was
to reduce the insider ownership and ultimately increase the market float of the Company’s common stock. In
addition to the costs of the offering noted, in 2005, the Company incurred expenses for severance, option buy-outs
and other compensation related costs that totaled approximately $7.9 million.

23. Discontinued Operations - Sale of Assets of Matrix Bancorp Trading, Inc.

Effective March 31, 20006, the Company sold certain assets and operations of one of its two brokerage subsidiaries,
Matrix Bancorp Trading, Inc., pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement (“Purchase Agreement™) to a third party.
The third party hired the former employees and officers of Matrix Bancorp Trading, Inc. upon the closing of the
sale. After the sale, the Company’s continuing brokerage operations consist only of those brokerage activities
conducted through First Matrix. Under the terms of the Purchase Agreement, the Company received a total of
$4,000,000, consisting of $1,200,000 in cash and $2,800,000 in the form of a promissory note guaranteed by the
ultimate parent of the third party. The promissory note is for a term of two years, and bears interest at the current
prime rate. The balance of the note receivable of $583,000 is included in other receivables at December 31, 2007,

As a result, the Company recorded an after tax gain on the sale of approximately $2,424,000, which is included in
discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2006. The operating results of the discontinued brokerage
activities of Matrix Bancorp Trading are reflected as discontinued operations beginning January 1, 2005, and the
consolidated financial statements have been restated to reflect the brokerage operations of Matrix Bancorp Trading
as a discontinued operation. The operating resuits of Matrix Bancorp Trading, Inc., previously included in the
Company’s brokerage segment, and now included in income from discontinued operations, net of income taxes
were as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005
(Dollars in thousands, except share information)
Noninterest income $ 1,346 $ 8,125
Noninterest expense 1,333 6,995
Operating income before taxes from
discontinued operations 13 1,130
Income tax provision 5 432
Operating income from discontinued operations 8 698
Gain on sale of certain assets and operations of Matrix Bancorp Trading,
Inc., net of income tax provision of $1,435, 30, respectively 2.424 —
Income from discontinued operations, net of
income taxes $ 2432 5 698
Income from discontinued operations of Matrix
Bancorp Trading, Inc. per share — basic $ 0.31 3 0.10
Income from discontinued operations of Matrix
Bancorp Trading, Inc. per share — assuming dilution $ 0.31 3 0.10
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24, Discontinued Operations — Sale of ABS School Services, LLC

On May 5, 2006, the Company sold its school services subsidiary, ABS School Services, LLC (*ABS”), to SKS
Ventures, LLC (“SKS™), a Colorado limited liability company owned by former executive officers of the Company.
SKS acquired 100% of the outstanding limited liability company interests of ABS for a purchase price of
$7.370,000. The Bank committed to a $4,000,000 loan to SKS and its principals, pursuant to which the
membership interests of ABS and the membership interests of SKS were pledged. This commitment was renewed
in the second quarter of 2007 and matures on April 30, 2008. At December 31, 2007, there is no amount
outstanding on this facility. Prior to the sale, ABS distributed its outstanding interest in Charter Facilities Funding,
LLC and New Century Academy Property Management Group, LLC to Equi-Mor Holdings, Inc. (“Equi-Mor”), a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. ABS also distributed certain other assets to Equi-Mor and to the
Company as well as outstanding deferred and current income tax balances related to ABS. Based on the purchase
price, a $1,000,000 pre-tax charge was included in discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2006,
to reflect the net realized value of the ABS interests upon the sale.

In connection with the transaction, the Company’s recourse obligation for certain loans was transferred to SKS.
Pursuant to the sales agreement, Equi-Mor and the Company guarantee, for a five year period, the repayment of the
loans sold to SKS up to an aggregate amount of $1,650,000, which created a new recourse obligation for the
Company. Included in other general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2006 is a charge
recorded by Equi-Mor of $950,000 to reflect the estimated liability related to this recourse obligation.

As a result of this sale, the Company has presented the operations of ABS School Services, LLC as discontinued
operations beginning with January 1, 2005, and the consolidated financial statements have been restated to reflect
the operations of ABS School Services, LLC as a discontinued operation. The operating results of the ABS School
Services, previously included in “all other” in segment reporting, and now included in income from discontinued
operations, net of income taxes were as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005
(Dollars in thousands, except share information)

Net interest income after provision for credit losses $ 580 5 1918
Noninterest income 550 1,690
Noninterest expense 2,107 3,351
Operating (loss) income before taxes from

discontinued operations 977) 257
Income tax (benefit) (288) (465)
{Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of

income taxes 3 (689) $ 722

{Loss) income from discontinued operations of

ABS School Services, LLC per share — basic 3 (0.08) 3 0.10
{Loss) income from discontinued operations of

ABS School Services, LLC per share — assuming

dilution 3 (0.08) $ 0.10
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EXHIBIT 21

United Western Bancorp, Inc. (d/b/a United Western Bancorp)

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

1. United Western Bank - Organized Pursuant to a Federal Savings and Loan Charter
2. Matrix Tower Holdings, LLC — Formed in Delaware
3 Matrix Financial Services Corporation (d/bfa Matrix Home Loan Center, Matrix Capital Mortgage

and Matrix Capital Mortgage Corporation) - Incorporated in Arizona

4, Matrix Insurance Services Corporation — Incorporated in Arizona

5. The Vintage Group, Inc. - Incorporated in Texas

6. Vintage Delaware Holdings, Inc. - Incorporated in Delaware

7. Sterling Trust Company - Incorporated in Texas

8. MSCS Ventures, Inc. - Incorporated in Colorado

9. UW Asset Corp. — Incorporated in Colorado

10. Matrix Bancorp Trading, Inc. — Incorporated in Colorado

11, First Matrix Investment Services Corp. (d/b/a First Matrix Investment Services) — Incorporated in
Texas

12. First Matrix, LLC —~ Organized in Colorado

13. Matrix Funding Corp. — Incorporated in Colorado

14. Equi-Mor Holdings, Inc. — Incorporated in Nevada

15. New Century Academy Property Management Group, LLC — Organized in Arizona
16. Charter Facilities Funding, LLC - Organized in Minnesota

17. Charter Facilities Funding IV, LLC — Organized in Colorado

18. Community Development Funding I, LLC — Organized in Minnesota
19, UWBK Fund Management, Inc, — Incorporated in Colorado

20. Matrix Bancorp Capital Trust II - Organized Under Delaware Law
21. Matrix Bancorp Capital Trust VI - Organized Under Delaware Law

22. Matrix Bancorp Capital Trust VII1 — Organized Under Delaware Law




Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement (Nos. 333-143096, 333-135570,
333-135568, and 333-135567) on Forms S-8 and Registration Statement (No. 333-130550) on Form S-3
of United Western Bancorp, Inc. of our reports dated March 6, 2008 relating to our audits of the
consolidated financial statements and internal control over financial reporting, which appear in the Annual
Report to Shareholders, which is incorporated in this Annuat Report on Form 10-K of United Western
Bancorp, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2007.

/s/ McGLADREY & PULLEN, LLP

Denver, Colorado
March 6, 2008




Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION

I, Scot T. Wetzel, President and Chief Executive Officer of United Western Bancorp, Inc, (the “Registrant™), certify

that:

1. Ihave reviewed this report on Form 10-K of United Western Bancorp, Inc;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading as with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officers and [ are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e}) for the Registrant and

have:

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to
the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report in being prepared,;

designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of
the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

1. The Registrant’s other certifying officers and 1 have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
Registrant’s Board of Directors:

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the Registrant’s internal conirols over financial reporting.

/s/ Scot T. Wetzel
Scot T. Wetzel
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
March 6, 2008




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION

I, William D. Snider, Chief Financial Officer of United Western Bancorp, Inc. (the “Registrant™), certify that:
1. Thave reviewed this report on Form 10-K of United Western Bancorp, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading as with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4, The Registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e} and 15d-15(e)) for the Registrant and
have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to
the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report in being prepared;

b. designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of
the end of the peried covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that has matensally affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the audit commitiee of the
Registrant’s Board of Directors:

a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the Registrant’s internal controls over financial reporting.

/s/ William D, Snider
William D. Snider
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
March 6, 2008




Exhibit 31.3
CERTIFICATION

I, Benjamin C. Hirsh, Chief Accounting Officer of United Western Bancorp, Inc. (the “Registrant™), certify that:

1.

1 have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of United Western Bancorp, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading as with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The Registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the Registrant and

have:

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, 1o ensure that matenial information relating 10
the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report in being prepared;

designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controts and procedures, as of
the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The Registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
Registrant’s Board of Directors:

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

any fraud, whether or not matenal, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the Registrant’s internal controls over financial reporting.

/s/ Benjamin C. Hirsh
Benjamin C. Hirsh
Chief Accounting Officer
{(Principal Accounting Officer)
March 6, 2008




Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of United Western Bancorp, Inc. (the “Company”) on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), I, Scot T. Wetzel, President and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The report fully complies with the requiréments of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities and Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the report fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: March 6, 2008
s/ Scot T, Wetzel
Name: Scot T. Wetzel
Title: President and
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of United Western Bancorp, Inc. (the “Company”) on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, William D. Snider, Chief Financial Officer of
the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.5.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities and Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the report fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: March 6, 2008
/s/ William D. Snider
Name: William D. Snider
Title: Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




.

Exhibit 32,3
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of United Western Bancorp, Inc. (the “Company™) on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Benjamin C. Hirsh, Chief Accounting Officer of
the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities and Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the report fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: March 6, 2008
/s/ Benjamin C. Hirsh
Name: Benjamin C. Hirsh
Title: Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)
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A copy of the Company’s Anaual
Report to the Securities and
Computershare Trust Company, Inc.  Exchange Commission on Form 10-K
350 Indizna Srreet is available without charge wpon

Stock Transfer Agent and

Registrar

Suite 800 wrilten fequest to:
Golden, Colorada 80401
303-262-0600 United Wescern Bancorp, Inc.

Artention: Lnvestor Relations
700 Seventeenth Street

Suite 2100

Denver, Colorado 80202

and can be downloaded ac:
www.uwbancorp.com

Forward-looking Statements

Cerrain statements included in this annueal reporr contain “forward-locking statements”
within the meaning of the Private Securitics Litigation Reform Act of 1995 thar are subject
to significant risks and uncerrainties. Forward-looking statements include informarion con-
cerning our future results, interest rates, loan and deposit growth, aperations, community
bank implementation and business strazegy. These statements often include cerminology such
as “may,” "will.” "expecs,” “anticipate,” “predict,” "believe,” “plan,” “estimatc” or "continue” or
the negative thereof or other variations thereon or comparable terminology. As you consider
forward-looking statements, you should understand thart these statements are not guarantees
of performance or results. They involve risks, uncerraincics and assumptions chat could cause
acrual resules to differ materially from these in the forward-looking statements. These fac-
tors include but are not limiced to: che suceessful implementarion of our community banking
straregies, the riming of regufacory approvals or consents for new branches or other contem-
plated actions: the availability of suitable and desirable locations for additional branches: the
continuing strength of our existing business, which may be affected by various factors,
including bur not limired to interest rate fluceuations, level of delinguencies, defaults and
prepayments, general economic condirions, competition, legal and regularory developments,
and the risks and uncertainties discussed clsewhere and/or set forch from rime ro time in our

other periodic reperts filings, and public statements.
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